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Possible Package (based on May agreement)

Putting arms beyond use

IRA to re-engage actively with [ICD with a view to agreeing an
acceptable scheme for putting arms beyond use. 1ICD to issue
positive reports on progress on resolving the issue of armswitw

o {t)s" el 5
Inclusivity

David Trimble to respond positively to call by two Governments on the
operation of the North-South Council.

Policing
Two Governments announce that they will be working intensively

to achieve broad agreement on the new policing arrangements, in
keeping with Patten, at the earliest possible date.

OTRs

[This issue to be addressed en-ba S48

Demilitarisation

ihkagud) )
[ sures/fo be implemented
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Jonathan Powell
1 March 2001

PRIME MINISTER ( (a fe > - John Sawers
: Bill Jeffrey

NORTHERN IRELAND

Dermot Gallagher will meet Adams tomorrow evening in Dublin. He will put to
him the attached package plus the implementation committee if they still want
that. He will make it clear we are heading towards a round table meeting on
Tuesday with the aim of achieving the mini deal. wants to talk to
you tomorrow evening.

We saw the two Davids today and John Reid is seeing David Trimble tomorrow
(I attach Bill’s note). In essence any deal is better than none for Trimble. He is
less worried about a rebellion in the UUP now than about electoral disaster. They
claim to have been told by Seamus Mallon that the SDLP can now sign up for
policing, and there is other collateral for that belief. John will try to establish
whether that is true in his meetings in Belfast tomorrow.

Tuesday is our last chance before the election to get an agreement on NI. If we
fail we need a fallback plan to get Trimble through the elections - putting the
agreement into review etc.

WL

JONATHAN POWELL

- CONFIDENTIAL - PERSONAL
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®

ossible Package (based on May agreement

Putting arms beyond use

IRA to re-engage actively with [ICD with a view to agreeing an
acceptable scheme for putting arms beyond use. IICD to issue
positive reports on progress on resolving the issue of arms within
a few weeks.

[nclusivity

David Trimble to respond positively to call by two Governments on the
operation of the North-South Council.

Palicing

Two Governments announce that they will be working intensively
to achieve broad agreement on the new policing arrangements, in
keeping with Patten, at the earliest possible date.

OTRs

This issue to be addressed.

Demilitarisation

Initial measures, to be agreed, to be Implemented within weeks. [In
addition, the British Government would, subject to its assessment of
the level of threat at the time, on which it will continue to consult
regularly with the Irish Government, take further substantial
normalisation measures in the period ahead.)
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Context for package on previous page

Decommissioning
The two Governments, as part of a statement announcing overall agreement

on a package, would call on all paramilitary groups to engage fully and
actively with the IICD. They would state that this will, as a first step, make it

possible for the IICD to consider whether, as envisaged in their May
statement, "there are any further proposals for decommissioning schemes

which offer the Commission greater scope to proceed in more effective and
satisfactory ways with the discharge of its basic mandate”. The Governments
would further state that they expect an early report from the [ICD on this
matter, with a view to further rapid progress being made on the issue of arms

thereafter. @u how anes ool le ot (g0 03 1= f\,:"{u—:::!’j

A responding and strong IRA statement would announcg that organisation's
active re-engagement with the [ICD in ordert the commitment
made by the IRA leadership on 6 May 2000 "to resolving the issue of arms” in
a way that will "ensure maximum public confidence".

Wil & w wels
The IICD to issue two positive reports in fairly quick successiory (a) on IRA
re-engagement with a view to agreeing a scheme for putting arms beyond use
and (b) ' i i ' jafogue wi

organisation rejon- Tk Sobshetnl [Py s bo law wede oo Tt Ty el eyreh
Eoblatand > fo Le mated Lo fmelon

Lifting of Ban on Sinn Féin
The two Governments in their statement would, as well as calling for quality

re-engagement by the IRA with the IICD, request that the current restrictions
on the operation of the North-South Ministerial Council be lifted.

David Trimble, in a statement, would respond positively to the Governments'
call,
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BILL JEFFREY
Political Director
1 March 2001
BJ/MR/730L)

PS/SECRETARY OF STATE(L&B) PS/Mr Ingram(L&B)
PS/Mr Howarth(L&B)
Mr Pilling
Mr Watkins
Mr Fittall

Mr Kelly
Ms Bharucha
Mr Powell No.10-FAX €738 °I0

MEETING WITH DAVID CAMPBELL AND DAVID LAVERY

Jonathan Powell and I met David Campbell and David Lavery for about an hour
earlier today. We gave them a pretty frank account of yesterday’s meeting with the

Taoiseach, including the likely best outcome on decommissioning.

2. Campbell reacted non-committally. He would want to talk things over with
Trimble. He did, however, say that in Trimble’s view the real crunch point was June,
when the two Governments had indicated they expected the Agreement to be fully
implemented. Unionists would not be willing to tolerate a further extension of

de Chastelain’s mandate beyond then if there had been no actual decommissioning.
Trimble also had a real problem with our handling of Sinn Féin. Although the Prime
Minister had talked of Sinn Féin bearing a heavy price if they did not deliver, it

seemed to be all carrots and no stick.

3. We asked how Trimble proposed to handle the AGM on 24 March. Was there a
chance that, if nothing happened on decommissioning, Donaldson and his friends
would, even at this late stage, try to use the event to get UUP Ministers out of the
Executive? Campbell said that he was not sure how Trimble would handle the event
itself. He would be surprised if there was any significant challenge ahead of the
Election. The crunch would, as he had said, come later. A lot would depend on how
the Election went. Whatever happened, the UUP were likely to lose West Tyrone,

East Londonderry and South Belfast, which might at least remove some of the thorns

= ekt
CONFIDENTIAL and PERSONAL
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‘ in Trimble’s side. But there were other seats to which they could aspire, including

McCartney’s.

4.  On policing, we explained where we thought the Irish Government were coming
from. Campbell said that they were hearing that the SDLP were ready to sign up.
Mallon had told Reg Empey as much. It would help Trimble a great deal if we could

get the SDLP to support policing and put pressure on Sinn Féin.

5. We asked about local elections. I said that some lower level UUP contacts were
telling us that it would do them no good to synchronise the local elections and the
General Election, since people would be confused by the two systems. We were also
hearing from Chief Executives that it would create great problems in practice. Was it
really important to Trimble? Campbell said it was. He discounted the signals we had
had from others. Although Trimble had not mentioned the matter to the Prime

Minister recently, it remained high on his priorities.

6. Campbell and Lavery agreed to brief Trimble in advance of the meeting which
he is due to have with the Secretary of State tomorrow, for which I will provide a

separate brief.

Comment

7. The strong — and interesting — signal from this discussion is that, rightly or
wrongly, those close to Trimble believe that the party is now under control until after
the Election, but that the crunch will come in June. Whether this analysis holds if
Trimble has to withdraw his North/South sanction for an imperfect benefit is less
clear. My guess is that Trimble’s own strategy may be to get through the Election in
as good a shape as he can, and only then — in order to stave off the inevitable
challenge to his leadership — to harden his position distinctly, using the June

“deadline” as his justification.

[Signed]

BILLJEFFREY
11 Millbank @& 6447

-2-
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From the Private Secretary 28 February 2001
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NORTHERN IRELAND: THE PRIME MINISTER'S DINNER WITH THE
TAOISEACH

The Prime Minister gave the Taoiseach dinner this evening at Downing
Street. The usual Irish contingent were present — Gallagher, Mansergh,
O’Cealliath, Dalton, Barrington. Jonathan Powell, Bill Jeffrey and I were also
there.

The Irish side reported gloomily on their recent exchanges with Sinn Fein.
Adams’ approach seemed to be that re-engaging with de Chastelain might just be
achievable as long as there was no deadline for agreeing modalities. Trimble had
told the Taoiseach that re-engagement without progress in resolving the weapons
issue was no use to him. But it would be useful to have de Chastelain report that
a process was in train on modalities.

The Prime Minister expressed concern about Trimble’s prospects in any
election against the DUP. He faced being wiped out. Given that the big deal we
had been going for now seemed unachievable, a mini-deal comprising changes on
Patten agreed with the SDLP, with Sinn Fein agreeing not to cause trouble over
them, might be enough. He drew a parallel with the Sinn Fein position when the
Good Friday Agreement was signed - not supportive but not hostile either. But
such a minideal would also have to include re-engagement with de Chastelain,
even if there were no early decommissioning.

The Taoiseach agreed that a big deal was not achievable. Nor was it
possible to drag negotiations out until the other side of the marching season. The
mini-deal was the only possible outcome and the time available to agree it was
very limited.

CONFIDENTIAL
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The Prime Minister’s main concern was that Sinn Fein might agree to a
mini-deal on their side but would demand in return what we had been prepared to
offer for a big deal. The Taoiseach made clear that he was not asking for that.
But Tim Dalton was equally clear that that was what Sinn Fein would demand.
All agreed that unless Sinn Fein saw circumstances in which they could be
isolated then they would exercise a veto, and that they should not be given that
opportunity. It was essential that they be put under pressure and forced to face
the prospect of the SDLP, the Irish Government and the Catholic Church signing
up to a deal without them taking part. The Irish side warned of the risks of doing
that, including the possibility that the whole policing package might be lost
forever if policing became an election issue between Sinn Fein and the SDLP.
The Prime Minister concluded that what he wanted was pressure on Sinn Fein;
the goal was a deal in which they stayed a few steps behind the SDLP and did not
sign up but nor did they criticise.

After lengthy discussion of the prospects, with the Irish side arguing hard
for the whole policing issue to be put back to the other side of the election and
the Prime Minister setting out the risks of that for Trimble, it was agreed that:

(i)  the Taoiseach should talk to the SDLP in the next 24 hours to
determine whether they would be prepared to buy into a policing
deal now along the lines the Prime Minister sketched out;

the Prime Minister would talk to Trimble on what his preferences
were including on whether he would be willing to put back a
policing deal until after the election and settle for a “mini-deal”
consisting of Sinn Fein re-engaging with de Chastelain in return for
limited normalisation.

Martin Mansergh said the SDLP were considering their options on this and there
were arguments both ways. He did not think the Irish Government could call the
issue on their behalf but they would support the SDLP whichever way they
jumped. The Taoiseach confirmed that, adding that Mallon was as strong as
anyone on the need to avoid giving Sinn Fein a veto.

The Prime Minister said it was important to make sure that Adams and
McGuinness were forced to go back to their supporters and show them that they
were paying a price for turning down the deal that had been on offer. He
believed that, with pressure, Sinn Fein could be brought to a view that they
should acquiesce in a policing deal. He later conceded that it might be possible
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to leave policing until after the election, but only on the basis that Sinn Fein had
to recognise that we would return to the issue straight after any Spring election
(on which he emphasised that no decisions had been made). He confirmed to the
Irish that he had no interest at all in pulling out of the institutions: nor did he
think that Trimble would want to do that either. Trimble was in philosophical

mode, recognising that he was going down but not minded to pull out of the
institutions in an effort to save himself.,

The Taoiseach brought in the demilitarisation issue: what would HMG be
able to do in return for a mini-deal with Sinn Fein? He knew we could not
answer that yet until we knew what Sinn Fein were willing to offer and he had
told Adams as much. He added that the increased level of army patrolling in
border areas was proving a sure vote winner for Sinn Fein.

The Taoiseach also raised the SDLP demand for enquiries into the Hamill,
Finucane and Nelson cases. Agreement to that might be enough to bring the
SDLP on board on policing: it was worth a try. Bill Jeffrey said we had offered
warmer words on the issue without making a firm commitment. The Prime
Minister said he would be mad to agree to this, given his experience with other
public inquiries. But he would reflect.

In conclusion, the Prime Minister said that he would want to put the
options to Trimble. It was a very high priority not to lose him in any
forthcoming election because we (and Sinn Fein) would lose our peace process
interlocutor on the Unionist side. But he was concerned Trimble might prove
willing to postpone policing as the concessions already offered by the British
Government would be very hard for Trimble to sell to his own party. But in the
the Prime Minister’s view, Trimble was making a mistake and might well not
survive an election with no progress beforehand. The Taoiseach said that
whatever happened now, the policing issue had to be resolved before the first
new Catholic recruits joined the force on 1 September. We all knew, he
commented darkly, what would happen if policing were not resolved by then.
Bill Jeffrey cautioned that even September was too late, as we would not have
time to set up a new Policing Board, agree on a new badge and produce them by
then.

On timescales the Taoiseach said he would be leaving for Japan next
Thursday, 8 March, and would not be back until after St Patrick’s Day. The
Prime Minister said we should aim for a mini-deal before the Taoiseach left,
though the options for a roundtable with the parties were limited because of his
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commitment with the budget on 7 March, and the environment speech on 6
March. The best day for a round table, if one were called, might be next
Monday.
Comment
All pretty gloomy.
But the Prime Minister is determined to have one more push for a

minideal next week.

I am copying this letter to Richard Abel (Cabinet Office), Ivor Roberts
(Dublin), Christopher Meyer (Washington) and Stephen Lander (Security

Service).
; {70 wh et ‘

[

JOHN SAWERS

Paul Priestly
NIO
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PRIME MINKSTER

MEETING WITH THE TAOISEACH TONIGHT

Where we are now

Last weekend, we sent the attached note to the Irish with the elements of a limited
deal. Brian Cowen met Martin McGuinness on Saturday, and seems to have given
him a strong message. Trimble was in serious trouble. The current Sinn Féin
approach would lead to chaos. They were in effect now being offered Patten. They
should offer “enhanced re-engagement” with de Chastelain. If the nationalist

consensus broke up, it would be Sinn Féin’s fault.

2 Yesterday, Irish officials met Adams and a few colleagues (but not
McGuinness). They took him through what they meant by “enhanced engagement”,
with at least two positive reports from de Chastelain before Easter, the second of
which would report agreement on a scheme for putting weapons beyond use.
Adams rejected it out of hand. There was no point in him going back to the IRA.

He was also very negative on policing. He would talk to McGuinness overnight.

3. Since then, I gather Jonathan has heard from Gallagher that McGuinness
was more upbeat. Adams plans to have a long discussion with him tomorrow, and
will telephone the Taoiseach before he sets off for London. My guess is that this is

a device to ensure that Bertie is not conveying a definite “no” tonight.

4. Trimble seems uncannily relaxed. He told me on Friday that anything short
of actual decommissioning before the Election would do him more harm than good.

I doubt if he means that, but he fears coming under pressure to drop his

North /South sanction for very little in return. At the moment, it is all he’s got. A

o~
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more authentic signal from Reg Empey is that parking the process over the Election

would be disastrous, because there would be nothing to come back to.

Our objectives seem to me to be:

to manage the situation in such a way as to minimise the electoral

damage to Trimble;

to keep the institutions in being if we can, because it would be next to

impossible to restore them after an Election in which Trimble seems

bound to lose some ground,;

to advance the policing reforms in an orderly way, with the SDLP on

board if possible.

7. If Bertie tells you that Sinn Féin are still in play for “enhanced engagement”

(option A), the key judgement will be whether there is a sufficient chance of them

signing up for it for it to be sensible to bring things to a head on Friday. You will
need to take Bertie’s advice on that. My guess is that Adams will ask for more time
for consultation, and that, within limits, it will be sensible to allow this. If the
message is that a mini-deal is on, but only if we offer more, you will want to

consider any specific proposals on their merits. But bear in mind that anything we

do for Sinn Féin impacts also on the unionists. To take the most obvious example,

a public statement on OTRs would be seen as evidence that we were giving too

much ground to Sinn Féin for an uncertain return.

8. If Bertie’s message is that he believes he has taken things as far as he can

with Sinn Féin and we should now plan for a soft landing (option B), how should

you react?

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE

CONFIDENTIAL AND PERSONAL
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9. Getting the SDLP on the Policing Board would not in itself do Trimble a great
deal of good, but their holding back is doing him disproportionate harm. I therefore

think your first reaction should be to encourage Bertie to lean harder on the SDLP
to rise to the occasion. It will not be easy for them, particularly if they know that

the wider crisis is not going to be resolved. But they should be put to the choice,

and made to feel that the Irish Government really want them to jump.

10. The more difficult question is over public handling. There is now a strong

expectation of a round table meeting of all the parties on Friday. If that doesn’t

happen, it will be seen as evidence of crisis, and things could quickly get out of
control. On the other hand, we don’t want a crash landing. The UUC AGM is still
over 3 weeks away, and there is plenty of time for Trimble’s opponents to mount an
argument that in these circumstances it would be better to fight the Election from

outside.

11. My advice would be that, before going any further, we should have a serious
discussion with Trimble about how best to handle things in his interests. If it can
be done without raising expectations to the point where there is either success or
failure and nothing in between, I can see some advantage in having a round table
on Friday which Brian Cowen and I could take. The alternative would be yet
another series of discussions with individual parties next week, which we could

announce now to take some of the steam out of the situation.

12.  Slightly longer term, I think we may be heading for a formal review over the

Election period. It might help Trimble if he were seen to call for one and the two

Governments agreed. You could mention this to Bertie.

Policing
13. We are rapidly reaching the point where we will have to make known our
intentions about the Policing Board. The Irish may be under the impression that

we are considering running the d’Hondt formula even if the SDLP are unwilling.

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE
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There is no harm in keeping them in a state of uncertainty about this, since it
might encourage them to work harder on the SDLP. In fact, if we knew for sure
that running the formula would create a unionist dominated Board, I would not

want to do it. We would keep the existing Police Authority on for a few weeks for

want of any alternative, and might then put in interim commissioners. The main

point to get across tonight is that time is running out, and the SDLP will need to

declare themselves by next week.

Suspension
14. Adams has been complaining about press reports to the effect that we are
planning to suspend the institutions unilaterally as Peter did a year ago. You can

assure Bertie that this is not our intention, but that, if the unionists walk away

from the institutions, our first responsibility will be to provide stable government in

Northern Ireland, which would probably mean the resumption of direct rule.

North South Ministerial Council
15. The Irish seem reconciled to postponing Friday’s meeting, even if there is no

round table.

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE
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Elements of a way forward before the Election

IRA to engage positively with the IICD for the purpose of agreeing how

weapons will be put beyond use in accordance with the earlier

commitment. IICD to be in a position to report early in March that
constructive discussions are going on, and [by Easter] that agreement on

modalities has been reached.

Confidence building measure by the British Government in recognition of

the significance of the IRA move.

Trimble to lift ban on nominating Sinn Féin Ministers to NSMC.

British Government to announce review of policing legislation after 12
months experience of the new arrangements in practice, and to publish
revised Patten implementation plan taking account of concerns raised by
the parties. Statement on murder cases in which there have been calls

for independent inquiries.

SDLP to nominate political members of the Policing Board, with the

support of the Irish Government.

BJ/MR/718a(L)-23.2.2001
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Fm: Ashley Ray (HME, Dublin) cc PS/Secretary of State( L&B)
PS/Mr Ingram ( L&B)
PS/Mr Howarth ( L&B)
PS/PUS ( L&B)
Mr Jeffrey
Mr Maccabe
Mr Fittall
Mr Kelly
Ms Bharucha
Mr Waterworth
Mr Brett EUD,B
To: HMA -—>M: Tatham No 10 via EUD, B

TAOISEACH’ S QUESTIONS( 28 FEBRUARY)

Summary

1. Taoiseach to convey views of Diil to the Prime Minister that British agreement to
public inquiries on the Nelson, Finucane and Hamill would help unlock present
impasse. Ahern not hopeful about progress from the talks.

Detail

L. At Taoiseach’s questions in the Dail today, Ahemn was pressed by Ruairi Quinn,
Labour Party leader, to encourage the British to make a commitment to public
inquiries on the Nelson, Hamill and Finucane cases. Quinn argued that this would
help remove obstacles to progress, isolate Sinn Féin and force them out from hiding.
While making a point of acknowledging the excellent work being undertaken by
Colin Port (which had also been acknowledged by Rosemary Nelson’s family in
recent contact with him), Ahern agreed to press the point with the Prime Minister
tonight.

. Ahemn also said that while the talks had made very considerable progress, he did not
believe that a breakthrough was in sight. Pressed by Michael Noonan, Fine Gael
leader, on Adams’ statement that a deal was still possible, Ahern simply said that the
parties needed to clarify their positions and to indicate what movement might be
possible.

~

Comment

3. Inprivate, Ahern told me that this last point was directed at Sinn Féin who had not
offered any possible movement in their discussions with him. He had said to them
that he was not prepared to press any of their points unless they indicated what they
could and would deliver.

Ashley Ray
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From the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff 27 Febmary 2001

'Pa e
NORTHERN IRELAND ORAL PQs WEDNESDAY 28 FEBRUARY

Thank you for your letter of 27 February. We are content with the lines
proposed for Northern Ireland Oral PQs set out in the attachment to your letter.

Ohy
L

JONATHAN POWELL

Sarah Todd
Northern Ireland Office
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SECRETARY OF STATE
FOR
NORTHERN IRELAND

Prime Minister
DRUMCREE - MEETING WITH TRIMBLE

We met with David Trimble last week to discuss the current peace deal. During the
discussions Trimble raised the issue of Drumcree, suggesting that Currin had lost
the confidence of the Orange and that the Parades Commission had failed to deliver

on promises made. You asked for a note which would explain the position.

| met Brian Currin recently to discuss his initiative with him. I was conscious that
he had delivered to the Grand Lodge a legal opinion on the implications of the
Human Rights legislation on the parades issue and I was anxious to discover from
him how he now viewed his relationship with the Orange. Needless to say, he takes
an entirely opposite view from Trimble, and, more importantly, is keen to continue
o try to break the logjam. Unless it becomes apparent that his position has
become untenable, or intelligence indicates a serious deterioration in the security

picture leading up to Drumcree, my inclination is to continue to support his efforts.

Trimble mentioned that promises made to Currin by the Parades Commission have
not been met. This refers back to the ‘route map’ which the Commissicn published
last summer. Currin encouraged the Orange to seek clarification of the map from
the Commission. This would enable the Orange to see what they had to do to
secure a positive outcome. I know the Trimble camp suggested you should meet
Harold Gracey (in October) to encourage him to support the ‘route map’.

David Campbell, Trimble’s adviser, wrote to Jonathan Powell, setting out his
interpretation of the map. I gather Jonathan shared this with Holland in November,

who pointed out essential differences. Trimble has since met with Currin and,

CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL
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SECRETARY OF STATE
FOR
NORTHERN IRELAND

separately, with Holland, and I am sure this route map and their respective
interpretations would have been discussed at one or other of those meetings. The
essential difference between the two interpretations is that the Commission see the
map as indicating a change in the conduct of the Orange, not just simply a “ticking

of boxes”. Direct dialogue is, therefore, realistically the only way forward.

Matters have moved on since last autumn and Currin is still in play. He continues
to mediate to secure direct dialogue between the two groups. He has yet to achieve
the breakthrough we all wish, but in my view we must continue to support him. We
have learnt, to our cost, that to intervene affords both sides an easy opportunity of

walking away from the process.

That said, if the situation deteriorates, then I will have no hesitation in intervening,

but I do not judge that we are at that point now.

JO REID

.7 FEBRUARY 2001
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FOR
NORTHERN IRELAND

Prime Minister

DRUMCREE - MEETING WITH TRIMBLE

We met with David Trimble last week to discuss the current peace deal. During the
discussions Trimble raised the issue of Drumcree, suggesting that Currin had lost
the confidence of the Orange and that the Parades Commission had failed to deliver

on promises made. You asked for a note which would explain the position.

I met Brian Currin recently to discuss his initiative with him. I was conscious that
he had delivered to the Grand Lodge a legal opinion on the implications of the
Human Rights legislation on the parades issue and I was anxious to discover from
him how he now viewed his relationship with the Orange. Needless to say, he takes
an entirely opposite view from Trimble, and, more importantly, is keen to continue
to try to break the logjam. Unless it becomes apparent that his position has
becormie untenable, or intelligence indicates a serious deterioration in the security

picture leading up to Drumcree, my inclination is to continue to support his efforts.

Trimble mentioned that promises made to Currin by the Parades Commission have
not been met. This refers back to the ‘route map’ which the Commission published
last summer. Currin encouraged the Orange to seek clarification of the map from
the Commission. This would enable the Orange to see what they had to do to
secure a positive outcome. I know the Trimble camp suggested you should meet
Harold Gracey (in October) to encourage him to support the ‘route map’.

David Campbell, Trimble’s adviser, wrote to Jonathan Powell, setting out his

interpretation of the map. I gather Jonathan shared this with Holland in November,

who pointed out essential differences. Trimble has since met with Currin and,
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separately, with Holland, and I am sure this route map and their respective

interpretations would have been discussed at one or other of those meetings. The

essential difference between the two interpretations is that the Commission see the
map as indicating a change in the conduct of the Orange, not just simply a “ticking

of boxes”. Direct dialogue is, therefore, realistically the only way forward.

Matters have moved on since last autumn and Currin is still in play. He continues
to mediate to secure direct dialogue between the two groups. He has yet to achieve
the breakthrough we all wish, but in my view we must continue to support him. We
have learnt, to our cost, that to intervene affords both sides an easy opportunity of

walking away from the process.

That said, if the situation deteriorates, then I will have no hesitation in intervening,

but I do not judge that we are at that point now.

JO REID

o] FEBRUARY 2001
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February 2001

LORW IREIAND ORAL PQ’S WEDJESDAY 28 FEBRUARY ;

X ’I‘here 1s growmg speculatxon in: Northem Ireland that the Government may be _
?onmdemg comblmng the- dates of the district a.nd general council eIectlons in the :
event ofa May general election.: There must be some risk that Paxsley, McCrea or
Fgobmson will seek to raise the matter dunng Northern Ireland oral questxons onl
Wednesday ¢ ' ' ;

’i‘he ane Mlmster 1s stdl consldermg the recent mmutes Whlch my Secretary of .
State has sent hxm on the subjeet but, in the meanttme, I should be grateful for
; oonﬁzmatxon that you are content w1th the attached lines to take ‘which we have
K _ Qrepared The Secretary of State also owes a reply to Dr McCrea, who wrote as
Chair of the Assembly Enwronment Commxttee at a time when there was -
\@ecu‘tatlon that the dzstnct council electxons might be postponed altogether. The
Secretazy of State’ would prefer to get this lctter to Dr McCrea before Wednesday
temoon in order to'forestall cnt1C1sm over the lack of reply. I attach a copy of the it e

tter whzch the Secretary of State mtends to send unless you see “ dlfﬁculty

. ¢
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\ \Q‘ uestions and Answers

1

* Q. Isthe Government preparing to synchronise the district council and general
clections if they are both in May?

°

I have heard the same rumours as the Honourable Gentleman but I am not

going to comment on them because the Government does not speculate about
the date of the General Election.

Has the Government consulted the Chief Electoral Officer about the possibility
of a combined poll? Can the Secretary of State confirm that the Chief Electoral
Officer has advised against such a move?

If the Government were to consider changing the law then it would certainly
want to check the practicality of any proposals with the Chief Electoral Officer
- before bringing them before Parliament. But we have no proposals to bring

before Parliament so there is nothing more to be said.

Unless the Government makes the position clear soon. won'’t it be unfair to the
parties to change the district council election date at the last minute?

The position is entirely straightforward. Everyone, including the political
parties, is proceeding with preparations for elections scheduled for 16 May.
That date could not be changed without the agreement of both House of
Parliament. The sort of arguments that the Honourable Gentleman mentions

would be for Parliament to consider at the time.

V?ouldn’t it be massively confusing for voters to have a PR election and a first
part of the post-election on the same day?

I believe there have now been some examples of elections elsewhere in the
country where two ballots have been held on the same day using different
systems, but clearly this is something which the Government and Parliament

would want to consider very carefully before deciding on any change.
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Can the Government confirm that the district council elections will go ahead in
May and that there is no question of postponement?

-~

I think the Honourable Gentleman may be referring to earlier speculation that
the elections might have been postponed on account of the proposed review of

public administration and local government. I can confirm that the

government has no plans to postpone the May elections.

L)

RVESTOV IN FeOrLE
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The Rev Dr Williamm McCrea MP MLA

Chairman Environment Committee
Northern Ireland Assembly
Parliament Buildings

BELFAST

BT4 3XX

February 2001

The Clerk to the Environment Committee wrote to my office on 9 February to convey
the Committee’s congratulations on my appointment and to pursue a letter which
was sent to my predecessor in November about this year’s district council elections.

My predecessor’s Private Secretary had sent a holding reply on 30 November.

\Your Sommittee wanted to know whether the district council elections would
g proceed‘or whether there was a possibility that the proposed review of public
administration would lead to their postponement. The position is that under
Section 11 of the Electoral Law Act (NI) 1962 as amended by the Electoral Law (NI)
1972, Local Government Elections have to be held every four years.

I can confirm that the Government has no plans to postpone the holding of the

elections.

JOHN REID
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PS/Mr Howarth(L.&B)
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Mr Watkins
Mr Fittall

Mr Kelly

Mr Maccabe

Mr Alston

Ms Bharucha

Mr Powell No.10-FAX
Sir Ivor Roberts HMA(D)

C ONVFRSATION WITH DAITHI O’CEALLAIGH: FURTHER DELAY IN
DISCUSSIONS BETWEEN IRISH AND SINN FEIN

Daithi O’ Ceallaigh told me this morning that the meeting which he and Gallagher had
planned to have with Sinn Féin in Dundalk at 1pm was not now to take place, because
of the heavy snow. The airports were closed and the M1 was closed between
Bannbridge and Newry. The meeting would take place as soon as weather conditions
allowed.

2 He also mentioned that Dermot Gallagher had decided that it would be better not
to give Sinn Féin a piece of paper with the proposals we had been discussing. Instead,
he would talk them through them, sticking to the lines O’Ceallaigh had discussed with
me yesterday. Isaid that these lines were acceptable to us, subject to the point | had
made yesterday about OTRs, and to our assessment that anything less than positive re-
engagement followed by two de Chastelain reports. the second of which reported
agreement on modalities before Easter, would be no use for Trimble. O’Ceallaigh
said that he quite understood that. The Irish themselves would be insisting on that

model of re-engagement.

BILL JEFFREY
11 Millbank @& 6447

CONFIDENTIAL
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PS/SECRETARY OF STATE(L&B) PS/Mr Ingram(L&B)
PS/Mr Howarth(L&B)
Mr Pilling

Mr Watkins
Mr Fittall

Mr Kelly

Mr Maccabe

Ms Bharucha

Mr Crawford

Mr Powell No.10-FAX
Sir Ivor Roberts, Dublin

CONVERSATION WITH SIR REG EMPEY

I'took a call from Reg Empey this afternoon. He rings me occasionally when things
are at a low ebb as they are now, mainly to communicate his frustration with the two

Governments. It was a friendly enough exchange.

2. Empey said that he had been speaking to people within his own party and the
SDLP, including Mallon. None of them had any appetite for parking the major issues
over the election period. He had been dismayed to read in this morning’s papers that
the Taoiseach was thinking in terms of parking. If we did that, there would be
nothing to come back to after the Election. The two Governments were letting Sinn
Féin off the hook. They were having it all ways. If the SDLP signed up to the

Policing Board, within a few months Sinn Féin would be trying to extract concessions

from us which the SDLP had failed to get. They were probably saving a

decommissioning gesture for the Irish elections. He understood the SDLP’s reasons

for not jumping alone, but what this meant in practice was a veto for Sinn Féin.

3. Isaid that parking was a long way from being our favoured option. There were

still intensive discussions going on. The Irish — and in particular Cowen — were more

HEE
CONFIDENTIAL
BI/MR/727(L)-27.2.2001
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CONFIDENTIAL

. engaged than [ had seen them, and were putting a good deal of private pressure on

Sinn Féin.

4. Empey came back with more of the same. It was partly up to the UUP and the
SDLP to find a solution, but parking over the Election would be a dereliction of duty
by the two Governments. Sooner or later someone was going to point out that the
Governments had dropped the ball. There were lunatics out there, and one day
someone would get lucky. There were echoes of 1974, and no chance that if we lost
things as we did last year they could be restored so quickly. Mallon was totally
opposed to parking. He was still pushing for a round-table. The UUP were prepared
to join in, provided it was only for a day and there was some chance of success. Were

we thinking of having a round-table on Friday, as the press were speculating?

5. I'said that this was still not clear. The Irish were working away in the
background, and the Prime Minister was meeting the Taoiseach tomorrow evening.
They would need to consider then whether there was any point in bringing the parties
together at the end of the week. But Empey could be assured that we were still trying

hard and had not given up.

6.  Empey asked what would happen to Friday’s planned meeting of the NSMC if
there were political talks. I said that the talks would presumably take precedence, but
that I had assumed that there might be a problem over nominations for the NSMC in
any event. Empey confirmed that there would. With the BIC virtually defunct, there
was no way the UUP could go to Dublin for a North/South meeting.

7. As we finished, I remarked to Empey that his message had been, as ever,
admirably clear. If Trimble agreed with it, it would be no bad thing if he made the
same point to Ministers. In some recent contacts he seemed to be saying that, unless
we could actually deliver decommissioning before the Election, anything short of that
would be positively counter-productive. I did not take that to be Empey’s view.

Empey agreed, and noted the point.

<10
CONFIDENTIAL
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‘ Comment

8.  Perhaps the most interesting aspect of this conversation is that — even if Trimble

is not doing so — Empey is evidently sharing his concerns about the present situation
with SDLP colleagues. As ever, once one gets below the level of Trimble and
Mallon, there is a good deal of shared appreciation of the common problems which

the two centre parties face.

[5;3@]

BILL JEFFREY
11 Millbank & 6447
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Jonathan Powell Esq MP e
10 Downing Street =
LONDON
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26 February 2001

Deor Fonoian ,

STATE OF OPINION WITHIN THE ULSTER UNIONIST PARTY

Our Political Affairs Branch have been working their UUP contacts hard over the
past few weeks to gauge opinion, particularly among pro-Agreement Trimble

supporters.

Though it does not make for encouraging reading, the Secretary of State thought
that the Prime Minister ought to see the attached summary note, particularly as
context for David Trimble’s reluctance to become involved in a “diluted deal” which
would tie his hands, while leaving him open to the accusation that he has again

been “sold a pup”.

Yown LIV SN

Pl

= e A

PAUL PRIESTLY
Private Secretary




CURRENT STATE OF OPINION WITHIN ULSTER UNIONIST PARTY

1. Publicly the UUP Executive presented a united front after their meeting on

Saturday 10 February. Trimble seems to have said enough in private to keep the
hard liners happy. He is also now reported to have issued instructions to his
supporters that they are to work for every UUP candidate irrespective of their

personal views on the Agreement.

2. Those who have backed Trimble thus far are feeling very down. According to
Sir Reg Empey’s special adviser, Empey and McGimpsey, both stalwart supporters
of the Agreement, feel battered and bruised: “If Adams would not accept or could
not sell this deal they could only lie down and wait for a steamroller to finish the
job, they had nothing left to give.” Jim Wilson, the UUP Assembly chief whip and

another strong supporter of the Agreement, has spoken in similar terms.

3. Part of the problem is that expectations were raised so high by press stories
about the big deal which, at one point, appeared to be within grasp. According to
Wilson, SDLP movement on policing would now be no more than a good news story;
what the UUP needs is movement on actual decommissioning. None of our contacts

believes that mere re-engagement with de Chastelain would do any good.

Maintaining the present sanction on Sinn Féin Ministers is popular in the UUP;
lifting it would be seen as yet another concession unless re-engagement led very

quickly to decommissioning.

4. This attitude was summed up by another pro-Agreement counsellor from
Castlereagh: “Attitudes have become hardened within the UUP and not even
Trimble can perform another Houdini this time unless of course Sinn Féin/PIRA
move immediately and without prevarication on the arms issue. The time for fudge

i1s over.” Two pro-Agreement councillors recently commented that they felt “badly




let down by the ‘Blair Government” and emphasised that it was the “Blair
Government”, they meant, since “its actions made it unsuitable to be called a

‘British Government’.”

5. There is corroboration for the general mood from contacts within the
community. A Church of Ireland Minister in Fermanagh told George Howarth on
Tuesday that his congregation had voted overwhelmingly for the Good Friday
Agreement but, if it were re-run now, probably 70-80% would vote against.
Another Church of Ireland Minister has said to a UUP Assembly member: “You

cannot go on, we have had enough.”

6. The debate over the general and district council elections is not over whether
the UUP will lose seats but how many. Of the nine taken at the last election only
East Antrim (Roy Beggs) and Lagan Valley (Jeffrey Donaldson) look absolutely
safe. Trimble should hold on at Upper Bann, though he is likely to face a stiff

challenge. All six other seats, including South Antrim which has already fallen to

k——‘—i
the DUP in a by election, are vulnerable to varying degrees. In West Tyrone they

look set to lose to Pat Doherty of Sinn Féin — although we have now heard that

Brid Rodgers of the SDLP has decided to stand in the constituency, which could
divide the nationalist vote and give the seat to the UUP. Elsewhere the main
enemy 1s the DUP. In the one seat which the UUP might have hoped to gain —
North Down from Bob McCartney — selection squabbles may yet prove terminal. In
selection contests more generally, pro-Agreement candidates have been in retreat.
Burnside fought off a pro-Agreement challenger at South Antrim, Martin Smyth
easily saw off Michael McGimpsey in South Belfast and the pro-Agreement James
Cooper won the nomination to succeed Ken Maginnis in Fermanagh and South
Tyrone by an unexpectedly narrow margin. The replacement for John Taylor in
Strangford has yet to be selected and will face a fierce DUP fight from Peter

Robinson’s wife, Iris.




7. The UUP knows that it has to present a more united front to minimise DUP

gains. Trimble’s preference is still probably to toughen his stance without bringing

the institutions down and thereby admitting, in effect, that he had been wrong to

s it sl
trust Sinn Féin. Since the UUC meeting on 28 October he has managed to walk

this tightrope. His problem now is that an increasing number of his supporters
within the party no longer think the price of staying within Government with Sinn
Féin is worth paying. More ominously still, the prevailing view is that whether or
not Trimble manages to keep the institutions in place until the general and district
council elections the party will do so badly that he will be forced to resign as leader

very soon thereafter.
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Mr Billy Armstrong, an MLA and member of the Ulster Unionist Party, has written
to the Prime Minister criticising the current state of the peace process in Northern

Ireland.

Mr Armstrong is on the Executive Committee of the UUP, but he would align
himself with the anti-Agreement side of the party. He is a member of both the
Orange Order and the Royal Black Preceptory and has served as a part-time RUC
Reserve Constable for 14 years. He has of late becc;_:e('r\;lz);gv‘:)?:icf;;oﬁs\,?n his
condemnation of the Belfast Agreement and he last wrote to the Prime Minister on
19th December at which time he also criticised the lack of decommissioning by the
IRA. At that time he also reminded the Prime Minister of the British and Irish
Governments’ joint statement of S May 2000 which outlined the steps needed to

ensure the full implementation of the Good Friday Agreement including

decommissioning.

[ attach a self-explanatory draft reply for the Prime Minister’s consideration and

signature.




Billy Armstrong Esq MLA
Room 378

Parliament Buildings
Stormont Estate
BELFAST

BT4 3XX

DRAFT LETTER FOR CONSIDERATION AND SIGNATURE BY THE PRIME
MINISTER

Thank you for your letter of 21 February 2001 in which you expressed a number of

concerns you had relating to the peace process in Northern Ireland.

As I mentioned in my letter of 22 January 2000 to you I believe it is vital that we
make progress on decommissioning in order to build confidence across the board in
Northern Ireland. To that end I have been working intensively with the Taoiseach,

the Secretary of State and the political parties in Northern Ireland.

Many people throughout the United Kingdom expressed their concerns about the
early release of prisoners, but the Good Friday Agreement contained difficult
elements for all sides and has to be viewed as a package. The Sentences Act
provides for the recall to prison of any prisoner who breaches the terms of the
licence under which he benefits from the early release scheme. The Government
has not hesitated to apply these provisions when it has been appropriate to do so,

and a number of prisoners have been returned to prison as a result.

I repeat what I said before. The Agreement is founded on the principle of consent.
This means that Northern Ireland will remain part of the United Kingdom for as
long as the majority of people in Northern Ireland wish. The Irish Government
amended the Irish Constitution accordingly. The Agreement swept away the Anglo
Irish Agreement, replacing it with a new British /Irish treaty which strengthened the

ties between Ireland and the United Kingdom.




We all want to see Northern Ireland finally rid itself of the vestiges of 30 years of

violence and terrorist activity. The Secretary of State is in regular contact with the

Chief Constable who is responsible for advising on the level of threat and what is
required to meet it. The Government will do nothing to jeopardise the security of

the people of Northern Ireland.
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hat Trimble’s main need was for substantive
JLP failed to sign up for policing, it would harm him, bu
not in itself have the same positive benefit as substa
This led O’Ceallaigh to embark on a line of «
1e thought 1 April was more of an immutable deadls
is there no way in which we could defer establishing 1
yuple of months? Couldn’t some interim arrangeimnc
aid that all our planning had been based on a transit
angements on 1 April. The Jegisiation providec
n Féin were willing to nominate to the Policing
T'he first would be to run the d"Hondt mechanis:
n Féin to the choice, rather as Mallon had «
t in 1999 by running d’Hondt and in effect ¢
xecutive. If this tactic failed, it would lead
cians, which was obviously not what we
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“no”. McGuinness had reacted roughlv. He had talked

been promised Patten in full
he process could not stand still and Sin

e was no guarantee that even “enhanced re-engag

sout timing. O’Ceallaigh said that he was
wen. There would probably be a meeting between Irish off
Jublin today, at which a text would be handed over,

hursday, and efforts were being made for him to hav
nister on Friday in London, in the hope that the Sinn
lear. I said that all this s ed on the slow side
spicious that we were just trying to spin things out. [ also

me a sight of any paper which the Irish gave to Sim

O’Ceallaigh again yesterday. By that stage he
inute of Friday on next steps, which the Secreta
evening and Jonathan Powell in America late
that our text was entirely consistent with I1

h the same thing. The Irish would not be drafting somsthing to give

this morning. The meeting was unlikelv to be until early this

should speak again during the course of today

- wait and see how the Irish get on with
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.From: PS/Secretary of State
26 February 2001

See Copy Distribution List

Mr Jeffrey - O

MEETING WITH DAVID TRIMBLE, 23 FEBRUARY

Summary

Trimble deeply sceptical about SDLP proposal for roundtable talks.

Concern that the proposal is more about letting Sinn Fein off the hook and

relieving pressure on the SDLP than a genuine attempt to resolve the issues.

Trimble does not refuse to participate, but wants any process to be short and

focused on a clear outcome.

Detail

2. The Secretary of State met David Trimble in Hillsborough Castle on
23 February to discuss the latest political developments. David Trimble was
accompanied by David Lavery and David Campbell. Mr Fittall and I were also

present.

< The Secretary of State provided an update on the latest developments. Sinn

Fein did not want to move on decommissioning nor to join the Policing Board. He
had seen Adams and McGuinness that morning and had told them that
decommissioning was the key to unlock the whole situation. The SDLP had
suggested roundtable negotiations involving all of the pro-Agreement parties to
resolve the outstanding issues. They saw this as a means of putting pressure on
Sinn Fein and creating a political context which would enable the SDLP to come on
board on policing. The Prime Minister had sought an assurance from the SDLP

that in such talks they would not allow Sinn Fein to exercise a veto over progress.
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CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL

Q‘he two Governments were currently talking stock. HMG saw some merit in the

SDLP’s proposal provided the process was short and sharp, carefully focused and
involved movement on decommissioning to help the UUP. However, we were being
asked constantly whether David Trimble planned to collapse the devolved

institutions. We had said that we did not believe this was his intention.

4.  The Secretary of State said he had made clear to Sinn Fein that the UUP
needed movement on decommissioning. Sinn Fein were saying they could not

achieve decommissioning on the proposed timescale, but that it might be possible
to achieve IRA re-engagement with de Chastelain. John Hume had suggested it
might be possible to achieve re-engagement, progress on agreeing modalities and
positive reports from the Decommissioning Commission. The two Governments

were due to touch base later in the day. The Secretary of State said he intended to

propose a short process, out of the media spotlight, focused on an outcome which
would help David Trimble. In the meantime, the issues which had been discussed
with Sinn Fein were off the table since the big deal was no longer achievable. HMG
would make a proportionate response to any moves by the IRA on

decommissioning.

S. David Trimble said the proposal on decommissioning made to him by

John Hume was “worthless”. Hume had proposed that the IRA should agree to
allow de Chastelain to examine the dumps which had already been inspected by
Ahtisaari and Ramaphosa. This was a lot less than the proposal which had been
put to Sinn Fein by the two Governments. It reinforced his opinion that the whole

exercise was “camouflage” designed by John Hume to waste time.

6. David Trimble said his own analysis was that there was no prospect of a

substantive move by the Provisionals on decommissioning before the General
Election. A deal on decommissioning which involved something less than had been
proposed by the two Governments would be worse for the UUP and he would prefer
that it was not done. He would like to see the original proposal put to him by the
Prime Minister implemented. A half measure would do more harm than good
because it would look like no progress on decommissioning was possible. He
believed it should be possible to get the SDLP to move on policing. This would have
CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL
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.some benefit for the UUP because they could say that a prize had been achieved in

return for the pain of change in policing. Nationalists would also for the first time
be shouldering part of the burden on policing. On the other hand, Sinn Fein
coming on board on policing at this stage would do more harm than good. He
remained very sceptical about whether Hume and Mallon had the bottle to move on
policing. He believed they would use roundtable negotiations to “kick for the long

grass”. There were no indications that the SDLP would go into talks to make a
genuine effort to achieve movement.

e The Secretary of State said our assessment was that the SDLP intended to

use the proposed talks to put pressure on Sinn Fein and obtain movement from
them on decommissioning; to create a context for the SDLP to come on board on
policing; and to obtain a guarantee that the UUP would not collapse the devolved
institutions. He did not believe their intention was to waste time. We had been
talking about a day and a half of talks at the longest. The real business would have
to be done between the three main pro-Agreement parties. If we could not achieve a
deal, we would be into crisis management — but the UUP would know in short order

whether and what type of deal was possible. David Trimble said he saw no evidence

for any of the assumptions the Government was making about the SDLP’s
intentions. The indications available to him did not support HMG’s assessment.
Seamus Mallon had refused to meet with the UUP earlier in the day to discuss the
SDLP’s proposal. In any case, such talks would be a high risk strategy for the UUP.
Sinn Fein could refuse to move. The SDLP would be provided with an excuse for
not coming on board on policing by claiming that the political situation was
unstable. In these circumstances, the UUP would have no choice but to toughen
their position. They would therefore be worse off. The only alternative would be for
the Prime Minister to live up to his promise to extract a heavy price from Sinn Fein
if they failed to move on decommissioning. He could not see any way in which the
UUP would be better off by following the course of action advocated by the Secretary
of State. To do so would simply let the SDLP off the hook if Sinn Fein refused to

move.

8. The Secretary of State continued to try and persuade David Trimble about the

merits of the proposed talks. Putting pressure on the SDLP would no longer
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succeed in getting the party to join the Policing Board. The nationalist consensus
was divided on the issue of roundtable talks — neither Sinn Fein nor the Irish were
enthusiastic. Sinn Fein would not refuse because to do so would risk isolation -
but they were not keen. The SDLP had therefore broken ranks. This left the Irish
in a difficult position. If the UUP refused to proceed, Sinn Fein and the Irish would
be let off the hook. William Fittall pointed out that the UUP would be in a worse

position if it emerged that all of the other parties-had been prepared to enter talks

and the UUP had not. David Trimble reiterated that he saw no point in entering

such talks. Progress on actual decommissioning was not on offer. Anything short
of a timescale for actual decommissioning would not be enough. A bad deal would
be worse for the UUP and would let all of the other parties off the hook. Even the
big deal would have caused him a problem in bridging the gap between IRA re-

engagement with de Chastelain and the start of actual decommissioning.

0. The Secretary of State asked how David Trimble believed we should seek to

move forward. He said we should continue to press the SDLP to move on policing
and should apply serious pressure on Sinn Fein about decommissioning by

mobilising public opinion. The Secretary of State said we could achieve these ends

through the proposed talks. David Trimble disagreed. The only basis on which the

proposed talks might appeal to him was if the SDLP threatened to support an
exclusion measure against Sinn Fein, or if the SDLP made clear in advance that
they would come out of the talks making positive moves. His current assessment
was that Sinn Fein and the SDLP saw the talks as a means of saddling the UUP

with the blame for the current impasse.

10. David Lavery suggested that there might be a case for a preliminary

discussion between the UUP and the SDLP to test the SDLP’s position and whether
they had a genuine concern about the stability of the devolved institutions which

was a factor in their refusal to join the Policing Board. David Trimble said he would

be prepared to meet with Hume and Mallon to test their proposal and assess

whether they would be prepared to make positive moves. The Secretary of State

said the Prime Minister had tried to obtain a guarantee from the SDLP about the

outcome of any talks. All he could achieve was an undertaking that Sinn Fein

would not have a veto and that the SDLP would be prepared in the right
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circumstances to break with Sinn Fein. David Trimble said he was sceptical

because time and again he had seen the SDLP come up with an initiative in these
circumstances in order to rescue Sinn Fein. He believed HMG was “clutching at

straws” but was prepared to meet with the SDLP. The Secretary of State said he

would speak with Hume and Mallon and encourage them to meet the UUP.

11. David Trimble asked what Ministers were proposing to do about

appointments to the Human Rights Commission. He hoped the Government would
be prepared to appoint two unionists to the Commission. We were obliged by the
GFA to ensure that the Commission was representative — but it had no unionists at
all and at least 4/5 “Provies”. We should also change the appointment criteria to
avoid excluding good candidates as we had done on the last occasion - including

Brian Garrett. The Secretary of State said he would seek advice on the composition

of the Commission and on how it was proposed to fill the current vacancies.
[Advice please: Ms Bharucha]. Mr Fittall said it would be helpful if David Trimble
could ensure that good candidates from the unionist tradition came forward for

appointment.

12. Summing up the discussion, the Secretary of State said he wanted to be clear

about David Trimble’s position. His understanding was that:

» The UUP were highly sceptical of the reasons why the SDLP had made

their proposal and about the potential outcome of such talks.

David Trimble would find it useful to have an early discussion with Mallon

and Hume about their proposal.

If the two Governments decided to go ahead, David Trimble was not

refusing to participate but wanted any process to be short and sharp.

David Trimble wanted the risks of failure of such a venture to be taken

into account. He could be left with no choice but to toughen his position.
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» If the talks went ahead, David Trimble wanted an assurance that there
was a prospect of movement by the SDLP, without any commitment that
the UUP would lift their sanction on the participation of Sinn Fein
Ministers at the NSMC or that he would be satisfied on the issue of

decommssioning.

13. David Trimble confirmed that this was a fair summary of his position.

14. After the meeting, the Secretary of State spoke separately with John Hume

and Seamus Mallon to encourage them to meet with David Trimble to discuss their

proposal and provide him with reassurance about their intentions.

Signed

P G PRIESTLY
PS/Secretary of State
& (B) 28110

(L) 6462

PS/Secretary of State (B&L) — O
PS/Mr Ingram (B&L) - O
PS/Mr Howarth (B&L) - O
PS/Mr Pilling (B&L) - O

Mr Watkins — O

Mr Alston - O

Mr Fittall - O

Mr Kelly - O

Mr Maccabe - O

Ms Bharucha - O

Mr Waterworth — O

Sir Ivor Roberts, HMA Dublin — O
Mr Powell, No.10 - E
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From the Private Secretary 24 February 2001

I

PRIME MINISTER'S TALKS WITH PRESIDENT BUSH,
CAMP DAVID, 23 FEBRUARY

NORTHERN IRELAND

In their talks at Camp David, President Bush asked for the Prime
Minister's views on the Northern Ireland peace process. He knew that Clinton
had been heavily involved and that his role had been useful. What would the

Prime Minister like him to do?

The Prime Minister said that what the US could most usefully do was to be
there if he asked. At certain points the US could help - particularly with
Nationalists but also with Unionists — by telling the parties that the US would
bless a certain deal if agreed. If he needed help, he would phone.

The Prime Minister briefed President Bush on implementation of the Good
Friday Agreement, the risks HMG had taken to secure it, and the changes for the
better since then. The next few weeks would be very important.  President
Bush asked how large the IRA was. The Prime Minister said there were maybe
500-600 active members, but that was more than enough for planting bombs.

The Prime Minister asked President Bush to help Trimble, for instance by
seeing him when he was in town. President Bush said he wanted to avoid St
Patrick's Day turning into an Irish summit, but if people were passing by he
might see them. He was already seeing the Taoiseach. (Rice and Hadley looked
a bit glum at hearing this.)

President Bush asked about RIRA. Colin Powell said that they had
received our paper on designation. Condi Rice added that the US had to go
through several legal hoops before agreeing to designation but the process was on
track. The Prime Minister said this would help prevent RIRA fundraising in the
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US. President Bush said he was surprised that Americans were giving money for

terrorism. Did they know that or were they just naive. Jonathan Powell said it
was a bit of each.

Comment
A useful exchange, and as a result of it we included a short passage in the
joint statement. The Embassy will need to follow up on the St Patrick's Day

arrangements.

I am copying this letter to Paul Priestly (Northern Ireland Office), Richard
Abel (Cabinet Office) and Christopher Meyer (Washington).

JOHN SAWERS

Sherard Cowper-Coles
FCO




. B v
23/82/2001 17:41 NO1@ DUTY CLERKS » PMS COMMS-MOBILE

10 DOWNING STREET
LONDON SW1A 2AA

THE PRIME MINISTER

Thank you for your letter of 10 January concerning the murder of Francisco

Notarantonio and also the copy which you addressed to Peter Mandelson.

I am aware that there have been allegations of collusion made in this case, and in
particular that the Force Research Unit was in some way involved. I take these
allegations extremely seriously. They must be fully and fairly investigated and all

necessary steps must be taken to bring those responsible to justice.

Sir John Stevens is currently conducting an inquiry into the circumstances
surrounding the murder of Patrick Finucane. The terms of reference of this inquiry
also cover the allegations of collusion in other murders, such as that of

Mr Notarantonio.

Sir John is one of the most experienced police officers in the country and he and
his team have my full support in seeking to get to the bottom of these disturbing and
complex events. It would be wrong to do anything which risked jeopardising the
prospect of this investigation getting at the truth and bringing those responsible for the
Finucane and Notarantonio murders to justice. Reaching a decision now 1o establish a

public inquiry would undoubtedly do so.

Mr Gerry Adams MP MLA
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Gerry Adams MP
Sinn Féin President

January 1ot

Hon. Tony Blair
Prime Minister
10 Downing St.
London

P8
A Chara (M

On October 9" 1987 65 year old Francisco Notarantonio was shot dead by a loyalist
death squad as he lay in bed in his home in Whitecliff Parade, in the Ballymurphy
area of West Belfast.

It was widely accepted at the time by his family and community that his killers had
operated in collusion with elements of the British Forces.

In recent months reports have emerged in the media linking the British Army’s Force
Research Unit (FRU) with the loyalist gang which carried out his murder.

’

" This is not the first time that the FRU have been linked to killings in the north of
Ireland.

_Tbelieve a full public independent inquiry into Francisco Notarantonio’s death is
essential if this family are to know the truth of their father’s murder and the identities
of those who planned, facilitated, and carried out his killing.

The Notarantonio case also raises again the role of the FRU. Allegations, accusations
and speculation abound about this organisation. Iis role in the Pat Finucane case, its
suspected role in many other killings, and its running of agents, spies and death
squads are common currency.

There is also a need for a full independent internationally based inquiry into the role
of the FRU.

T would ask that you give this your urgent and serious consideration.

I look forward to your reply.
W_m?“-“__
. . PHIME MIN
Is mse lc . - T HEP'D‘)NDE:‘,'?:EE.E".Sﬁﬂﬁ
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Gerry Adams MP,
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53 Béttar - bhiit Bintiewete: Bimy- BT 12 4PD
Web:http://www.sinnfein.ie

Sinn Féin,
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Mr Kelly

Mr Muceabe

Ms Bharueke
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Sir [vor Robdests, Dui s

NEXT STEPS

In MV note this moiming, [ mentioned thar ] was putting togCthey. ford  cussicn with

/
tne Irish, a sliovt rote on the elements of & possible way forvward, draw iz ey

QisTUsSION Yesterday evening with Daithi Q'Ceall: This is dtrache.:.

I'have assumed that we should be bidding {or agreamer ot mu dities an
cecommissioning before the Llection, since this is the nds - bay: thing "o
e biy deal. It may not be cssertial for Trimble, My sarae tron Laverny
15 hiy reater need is for early and encouraging de Ghasteiimn re ¢ 1ts
ahout the ongoing discussions with the IRA represeniotive. The wors
outeorne for Trimble would be re-engagement followicd b s 2 slence,
which would deprive him of his teugh stance with Siaz Tein s our
vutting anything much in its place. I have put “bv Besder™ 1o sguisie
hrackets, because the date would be a marter for negotiationg - = iler
avords mentioning the Election but did not go dowr wel niih & p ¥on

when we were discussing the big deal:

s
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I'have used the phrase “confidence building measwe” in 1he secend Ll
POINL fo Mlag up the fac) that we would do something o resognie the H
move. Fike the Secretary of State, T think it would probabiy hg the

demolition of the Newtownhamilion SUPETSAN2Ar plus zars pr 2oess

individual OTR cases (but not an open-ended Public coramitiman. 1 Gusal .

with thers all); but thar would be 2 mauer for the negoliations .

Likewise, in the fourth byl] point, I have included » refare gy I incL.ries
in terms which leave open for the moment what we would seivr ly sy,
wad are sufficicntly general w cover inquirics of the Bind “rimse is
seeking from the Irish.

On handling:

As a tirst step, I propose o send the text to O’Crallaiay for1hg insh o
refleci on, and discuss with us if they wish, over the wezkend, | wouid

2{s0 put 10 him the handling suggestions which follow.

The text has been drafied in such a way that it could, @ mins, A hown 1y
the leaders of the three main parties without causing ar inured -ia
cxplosion. on the basis that i is a skeleton, no mare, but that §i"y | 1heee
are wifling to do so on a withowt prejudice basis, we woakd masve on o Y
to put flesh on the boges, (Thisisa technique that Sens-ar biredizll nzes

10 some effect, although the resulting deal eventualis broke Ju V2,

thigeould be done in fivecornered meetjn g - perhaps as carlr as
Tuesday -- with the two (jovernments, the UL, ihe 8D p 2l S an Réiq,
which for the sake of appearances might need to Iye precededd by o more
formal session involving the small parties as well. If the fiye-c oy E0d
TieeTing gor (o the point of agreement on the skeleton, or. 4 iho o

prejudice basis, it would have schievad somcthing,

”
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= discussions would have to he conducted without ayowing the “withont pi-ejudice” < ffars
already made 1o Sinn Féin. This will nevitably involve some amifivialiyy Mos

importantiy. it will rake time to start again from several steps back:

qoite elaborate rules of Procedure (running 1o some 44 paragraphs) hac. 1 be ag:-red in July

1996 betore the pre-Good Friday Agreement negotiations could get zader wey. We heve no
lime [or wivthing somparable now. Yet agreeing the rales of envagerment (1 least beasin £
in mind the potencial seasitivitics over the role of the {rish Governmeas) is Llikeky o sappen

on the nod:

there is an inginsic awkwardness abour a process in which the British Ganvemment holds
rmany of the cards but it is also expected to convene or co-convene twtalks  Experience
1rom 19582 and 1996-8 illustrates the advantage of an independent cl.uir. IFirdzeg a siicabie

person wha could be available within days looks like a very tall ader, how,ver;

earlicr all purv talks were about getting the devalved instinglions in pluce  Thes: -aiks woulcl
be going on in parallel with a functioning Executive and Assembly. Ffthet car. 52 kep: rief.
as Mallon cnvisages. this may be no more of 2 problem than it has bee: Ziiirg pravicus
intensive bursts of proximity discussions. Bul anything more profong cd weald risk creating
a treeping paralysis for the devolved institutions, with conseovenc:s fur snod
Govemmenl in Northemn [reland. This would be exacerbated by the likelili:cel thag fr
logistical reasons, Parliament Buildings itsel € would have 1o be used a1 the taks tthere sno
decant space now from Castle Buildings and Hillsborough is not well o4 artad 1o ths sert of

auercisel.

4. Underlying all of this is the more fundarental issue of how inclusive talks car: elp zchieve
movement on issues where: (a) the key cards are in the hands of a small numnher of e paicizants;

(b) the wrade-offs arc not obvious; and (c) the player with the cards on the single rmo. sens”ive issue ~
weapons - will greatly dislike the forum and will say that, in any evenr, i i: a matie- e the IRA nor

for them.

5 o
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Irish advice. If their view is that exposing the fact that pzrt of 0ur pizn
was for the SDLP (o sign up on policing would drive Sian Féng sy, we
wisuld ieed 1o proceed more circumspectly, perhaps by Srapping ihe
SDLP clement off the list for the moment, and then. as it wise, #.ling it

_ back on at the end. The Irish themselves seem io be deeply sebrzaphrenic
ahcut this. My sense is thar Cowen and O'Cealluigh bave j.ast 2ot
persuaded theraselves that breaking the pan-nationalist soasansi: 1
pulicing is a lesser evil than losing everything. but [ ams nnn sure L aal it
s necassarily Gallagher’s (or even the Taoiseach’s) posiiic 1. Ciras thie:2
we could do to help is 1o emphasise, in 8ll our contacts wit:: the 1rish and
il:e SDLP. that we would not exploit an SDLP/Sinn Féin st poiitizalle,
and would present it as Sinn Féin not yet being as pereuades us 1 ¢ wen
them 10 be, but free to join in as soon as they are ready. (Samwv.ex down
the wrack. if' we are lucky, this may incidenvally ge1 us iato e e awae, of
amending the Police Act to make it possible for the proces:, for ricking
politicul nominations to the Board to be re-run betore e rext A semb:y

elections.)

5. Forihe moment. is the Secretary of State content for me to send ihe test t)
)" Ceallaigh on the basis [ have described? (To save time, [ am conviry this ts

Jonathan Poweil it Washingfon, in case he has any views.)

BILI. JEFFREY
"1 Millbank & 6447
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. HOW WOULD WE MANAGE A NEW INCLUSIVE TALKS PROCESS

. The SDLP have proposed that all the pro-Agreement parties should be brc aght -opether by tie
%0 Governments & break the political impasse and renew the Agreement by pursuir g
comprehensive agreement on decommissioning, policing, demilitarisation and guzranteaing 1k e

inclusivity of the instirutions. Mailon has said publicly that a conclusion should bz reached “within a

2. TreSDLPs nropasal is clearly designed to divert the immediate PYEssure or. i to ryase i
decision on joining the Policing Board. An optimistic reading would be that they sre ganw resy Irding
1o Credle u new context which would give thera cover for an otherwise highly risky mave. More - kely
they exdeulate that Sinn Féiy obduracy and the imminence of elections mean the 1 th.: ik s wi']

founder. absolving them of the need 1o make a hard choice.

+ 3. Expericnce of wl party talks in the long run up to the 1998 Agrecment has cieaiad folk
nmRmOnes, expectations and — in the case of the SDLP and the smaller parties — zos sia for thie sort

of process. Bur there are some major pitfalls which waould need to be avoidad:

particuiarly in a pre-clectoral period, Trimble would be very expasec! it he zgreed 1o 2
process which visibly had the Irish Government discussing infernat herthyern Ireland
business. such as the details of policing legislation and secority insiallstion:. Op: reasen for
the ¢claborate three stranded nature of the earlier negotiztions was Io et vrionis.
sensitivities over the role of Dublin. The SDILP proposal that the two Cove nmar:s shevld
jointly “initiate and dircet” this new pracess will be very problematic ivr 1'r mble whe bas. in
any cvent, already responded publicly by observing that the idea sits ill vl t1e Troisearn's

recent statement that “the time for hard decisions had come'™

it is one thing for the Goverament, privately and unavewedly, to discus, morinzhsation
and legislation on OTRs and policing with Sinn Féin, quite another tp open up such
sensitive areas to wider and much more leale-prone discussion. Tr.spassng o jssnzy
bearing on the Chief Constable’s (and GOC ’s) operational responsibility 1t asiessing Lxe
threat and determining the necessary scewrity response would be upaec cptat @y this wicer
forum;

2l

CONFIDENT1AL
aPD1.333




A

FEB.23.20013,11:22PM . PMS COMMS OTTAKATY CLERKS > PMS CoMMs-MOBILE  NO.8

STEEE=AREL O imi L= W1 NIU LUNDUN T

(6) What should HMG’s realistie objective be? There is no reason 10 buliey ¢ WAt this posesy
will ualock che wider deal. Should we be aiming for re-engagemen: with ce Caasielain plus

SDLP nominatien 1o the Policing Board or is that (@) unachievable ave (b v.erse ban no

deal for THmblc? Or should we justaim to sign up the SOL.P on polic.ng? )rshonld this

simply be scen as a way of ryang 1o engineer a soft landing, keeping tha :ns tutions v Plact
in the absence of a deal until after the election? If the Jast of these vonld = 1alks zed ta

bridge at some point into a formal review of the Agreement?

7
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Llements of u way forwsrd before the Election

[RA 10 enguge Positively with the {JCD for the parpose of agreeing how vican:ns
will be put beyond use in accordance with the earljer commityient 1T 1o b= ip
a posiuon o répaort early in Mareh that construciive discussions arc L2270 SR and

{hy Zaster] that agreement on modalities has been reachad.

Confidence building measurc by the British Governmen in recognision :f the

significance of the IRA move.

Irimble to 1ifi ban on nominating Sinn Féin Ministars to NSMC,

British Government to announce review of policing Iegislation sfie= 12 merhs
experience of the new arangements in practice, and (o publish rav: sad P oten
implemzn(tion plan taking account of concerns raised by the partiis. Gpztement

on murder cases in which there have been calls for independent ‘rguiris

SDLP 1 nominae political members of the Policing Board, with th> supert ol

the Irizh Government,

BJ MR-T18a(1)-23.2.2001
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. BILL JEFFREY /ﬁ/‘/
Political Director Jo C=

- 23 February 200}
BI/MR/716(L g
(L) \J i 4
PS/SFCRETARY OF STATE(L&RB) PS/Mr Ingram(L &R}
PS/Mr Howwth L& 1=
Mr Pilling
Mr Watkans
Mr Alston
Mr Fittal)
Mr Kelly
Mr Maceaobe
Ms Bharuchi
Mr Powell No. 10-FAN cC
Sir Ivor Roberts FINM.ATD)

DEVELOPMENTS OVERNIGHT
Summary
* Insh ready 10 agree to a short, focussed round-table discussion. but wou d preer 2

tew davs 10 prepare the ground.,

Irish officials sketch out mini deal, which seems on right lines but s proiabiv

over-ambiusus about our contribution.
Cowen abroad until Thursday morning.

Discussions continue. Further advice coming on next steps later teday,

Detail

2. Daithi O"Ccallaigh gave me a read-out yesterday evening an th inest nzs Irish
Ministers had had with the SDLP, Sinn Féin and the UUP afier ous session w th: Brian
Cowen yesterday mormning. I had the impression that the Taciseazs was involvec i1

oll three of them, and certainly in those with Sinn Féin and the UL P,

CONFIDENTIAL and PERSONAL
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3. The SDLP had made their case for a round-table meetin g, waich might mke

place over quiie a shont period. In O’Ceallaigh’s view, they had n idea whis they
would take-into such meeting or hope to emerge with. Hume secined 1 think thar e
could force the other parties to agree something. They had 1aken an evan tcugher lice

on policing than O’Ceallaigh had expected.

4. With Sinn Féin, Cowen had taken a very strong line. to the effect thar, [[1aev
did not do something, they would have nothing to come back to ajier the Fieclion.
But it there had been any doubt about whether the big deal was or.. Adams h.l
dispelled it.

5. Trimble had spent most of the time antacking the SDI.P. He had isked
persistently whether the Irish thought the intransigent Sinn Féin positior wis “time
limited”. Were they just playing games and delaying things. or were ey never going
to move? The Irish response had been to the effect that they thought ihat 1ze Sinn
Féin leadership was serious about making progress both on weapons srd on colicing,
but faced serious internal difficulties. The Irish had taken the sersc from (ne
cdhscussion that Trimble’s bottom line requirement was for the IR A 1o aagsye wWith

de Chastelain in a process which led rapidly to the agreement of madalities. =ath
positive statements from de Chastelain abour the quality of the engsgeraeni - wnal we
have intended 10 describe among ourselves as “re-engagement with atliude™ (I
checked with David Lavery this moming that this is, in fact, a faic accoun: of

Trimble’s position.)

6. (’Ceallaigh seid that, after the three meetings, there had beea wasl-up
discussions with the Taoiseach and Cowen and among officials themnss’ves. “hey
Wwere not opposed to a round-table, but would like it to be relativel v shor: - pirtigps ao
longer thap a dav - and focussed, with a reascnable chance of success. On ke bas’s
of what Trimbie had said, he and Gallagher now thought there miglt be the zossibi by
of & little deal. which could rake us through from here until afier the Election. zuul
might g1ve Sinn F&in time “to do what they should do”. The ingredients ol wich a
deal might be IRA re-engagement with de Chastelain, the withdrawal o Trin:5le’s
North/South sanction, and sufficient movement from us (by implication on :nguirics)

0 get the SDLP on board for policing. If the SDLP did come or: boerd, the i1 ¢l

- z -
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Government would back them publicly (“we would da whatever the SDLp d:d™) and
there would then be a reasonable chance of persuading the Catholic C huren. i{ nol
perhaps the GAA. He thought it would take abour n week 10 put sonwethicy on these

lines together, after which there could be a round-table,

7. Tsaid that our Ministers were hoping to move more quickly than that. Tirme was
running our, and Trimble was already suspicious that the SDLP proposal wis just 4
delaying 1actic. Both the Prime Minister and the Secretary of Staic had Que «tions :n
the Commons on Wednesday, We had been thinking of a round-wuble meeting led by
the Secretary of State and Cowen on Tuesday, with things coming w a head and
Prime Ministerial involvement later i in the week. O'Ceallaigh said that he 44 not rule
cut moving as quickly as that, but the Irish would prefer to use a round-table rieeting
to bless a deal which had already been largely pre-cooked privately. He alse thought
it would take a few days to bring the SDLP round. ARhough it was not a decisive
factor, another problemn was that Cowen was out of the country from Moncla

moming until carly T hursday. on EU business and then on Securily Council “Lsiness

in Washicgron. Cowen was hoping to meet Adams on Saturday.

8. I asked ('Ceallaigh whether there was any chance of Sinn I*éin siyn g oy Lo
“re-engagement with animde”, and in particular having the IRA follow throust 1o tke
poim of agrecing modalities before the Election. O’Ceallaigh said rhat Adarms had
not yuled this out, although he had seemed a ljtile taken aback when thes haci
mentioned i1. In a further conversation with O’Ceallaigh this morning, | asked him
how. on the model he had described. Irish officials saw Sinn Féin reacting on
Folicing. O’Ceallaigh said he did not really know. They would cortainly rof 126 e
lor the Policing Board, and probably attack the SDLP mercilfessly. bt it was rossible
that they could be persuaded 1o take a more neutral approach. There weje dengers in

creaung a division between the nationalist parties.

9. Treported all this to the Secretary of State and Jonathar Powe)] vesierday
evening. The Secretarv of State bad had more evidence of Trimb] €S SU¥DICion3 thal
we were all justirving to delay things. We agree that this argued for moving quicklv,
and ~ at the very Jeast — carefy! handling of Trimble. He has spoken briefly o

Trimble earlier in the evening, and had 1o0ld hin: that our discussions with the Jr:sh hact
ﬂ
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assumed that any round-table would be brought to a head before t5¢ end cf next week:,
More generally, the Secretary of State’s reaction was that the Irish were ob, idusiy
intent on pursuing their own agenda, as well as the SDLP s, on policing and irquiries.
We should be clear with them that they could not expect the kind 2f promisc the
SDLP were looking for on inquiries. (I made this point firmly t¢ O"Ceatlai 2 this
mormning.) There might be an effort to get us 10 affer to the SOI.2 what vee hind
promised Sinn Féin, but we should be careful 1o stick to the areas tnar had ¢ Teady
been discussed with the SDLP. We might offer a review of the [egislatior, but stop
short of any promise to legislate. As regards Sinn Féin, our contributicn should be
proportionaie to their offer. Jonathan Powell's reaction was that. proyided we did oot
wasle toa much time, there was something to be said for trying Lo pul tog2er i mini
deal before getdng all the parties together. The Prime Minister would provatly Fed i

easier 10 make time available at the beginning of the week than at the 2nd.

10.  Tam planning to talk to O’Ceallaigh again this afternoon. 1 agrezd wizh him that
it might be sensible to try to write down the elements of a deal on the iines we had
discussed, 10 ensure that we were both talking about the same thin 2. and thick o b
further about process. I am dictating this note now to getitinto the systemn s quicklv
as possible. and will follow up with more considered advice on =0 sieps leier ir. (1€

day.

BILL JEFEREY
11 Millbank & 6447
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MEETING WITH BRIAN COWEN, 22 FEBRUARY

Summary

Cowen non-committal on SDLP proposal for roundtable negotiations.

Irish emphasise that any talks process must not focus solely on isolating Sinn
Fein and bringing the SDLP on board on policing. This approach would not

work.

Irish would seek a high price even for a mini deal. Trimble must lift NSMC
sanction, guarantee stability of the devolved institutions and accept nationalist

demands on policing.
Detail

2. The Secretary of State met with Brian Cowen and Liz O’Donnell in Dublin on
22 February to discuss the political situation in Northern Ireland. Irish Ministers
were supported by Daithi O’Ceallaigh, Declan Kelly, Gary Ansbro and Ray Bassett.
Sir Ivor Roberts, Bill Jeffrey, Tom Kelly and I were also present. The meeting was

good-humoured and business-like throughout.

O The Secretary of State provided the Irish with a read out from the Prime

Minister’s meetings with David Trimble and the SDLP on 21 February.

David Trimble was in a precarious position. The unionist community was drifting

away from the GFA. The key issue for the UUP was progress on decommissioning.

Trimble was suspicious that concessions were being made to the SDLP and Sinn

Fein on policing issues. He was tempted to toughen the UUP’s position and had a

1
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range of options open to him - from UUP Ministers refusing to attend the NSMC,

through to collapsing the devolved institutions.

4. The Secretary of State said the meeting with the SDLP showed that the Party

recognised that we had met their concerns on policing issues. There was still a gap

on inquiries — but we continued to look for a form of words to meet their concerns.

On decommissioning, the SDLP recognised that Sinn Fein were being intransigent

and that this created significant difficulties for the UUP. They were concerned
about the risk that David Trimble would collapse the devolved institutions. This
made them reluctant to join the Policing Board. But at the same time, they were
looking over their shoulders at Sinn Fein. They were also concerned about being a
minority of 3 out of 19 members on the Board. The SDLP therefore wanted all the
outstanding issues to be dealt with comprehensively in a process of roundtable
negotiations involving all of the pro-Agreement parties. HMG believed this was a
constructive suggestion. David Trimble was sceptical about such an approach,
believing it would let Sinn Fein off the hook and provide an excuse for the SDLP not

to move on policing.

S. The Secretary of State said Sinn Fein were not offering any movement on

decommissioning. HMG had gone a long way to meet their concerns on policing,
but they had simply increased their demands. We did not underestimate the
magnitude of the step Sinn Fein were being asked to take, but they had baulked
and were holding up progress for all of the other parties. We therefore looked
favourably on the SDLP’s proposal, but only on condition that such talks would be
time limited. We hoped it would be possible for the two Governments to reach
agreement and initiate such a process early in the following week. It would be a

genuine effort to put pressure on all of the parties to deliver.

6. Brian Cowen said the Irish were disappointed that the two Governments’

efforts to reach a big deal had failed. We needed now to create a basis for
maintaining the devolved institutions. Any attempt to isolate the policing issue and
pressure the SDLP into coming on board would not work politically. As the SDLP
had proposed, we needed to deal with the four outstanding issues —
decommissioning, normalisation, policing and the stability of the institutions.

2
CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL




CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL

i Brian Cowen said that any viable deal would have to cover a number of issues

- including:

Ensuring that the SDLP did not become hostage to past RUC abuses.

Delivering on SDLP demands on inquiries would therefore be very

important.

The SDLP would need assurances about David Trimble’s position on the

NSMC and also about the future stability of the devolved institutions.

We would need to examine whether we could achieve IRA re-engagement
with de Chastelain as the basis for the UUP lifting their sanction on Sinn
Fein Ministers attending the NSMC. We would also need some measure of

normalisation as a means of achieving IRA re-engagement.

If we wanted the SDLP to come on board on policing, we would need to
give them compliance on their outstanding concerns on policing issues
and on inquires. We would also need to provide assurances about

independent appointments to the Policing Board.

If the SDLP came on board, we would need to ensure that the UUP did not
claim it as a victory for them. This would be tantamount to the SDLP

committing “political suicide”.

Sinn Fein would need to be got into a “wait and see” position on policing.
This might be achieved by promising a review after the General Election.
We might also be able to use a review to get Sinn Fein onto the Policing

Board in due course.
On this basis, David Trimble would achieve IRA re-engagement with

de Chastelain and the prospect of the SDLP coming on board on policing.

3
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Brian Cowen said this was probably the best deal we could get in current

circumstances. He had also heard the suggestion that the devolved institutions

could be suspended while we conducted a review of the GFA. He claimed that the

Prime Minister and the Taoiseach had agreed that there would be no question of

suspending the institutions without the agreement of both Governments. We
should not even consider suspension at this stage. We needed to focus on finding a

way forward.

In response, the Secretary of State made the following points:-

» The UUP did not regard the SDLP coming on board on policing as a
significant prize. They were also worried that the SDLP might boast about
the concessions they had achieved on policing issues, which would have a
negative impact on the UUP grassroots. As a result, this did not constitute
a significant lever to get the UUP to move on the NSMC or the stability of

the institutions.

On inquiries, David Trimble had made clear that he wanted to see
inquiries initiated into a number of issues including the murders of
Superintendents Breen and Buchanan and Ambassador Ewart-Biggs.

Brian Cowen commented that the Irish would have “no problem” with this.

It was not our intention to use any roundtable talks to isolate the SDLP or
Sinn Fein. The process would be a genuine attempt to deal with all of the

outstanding issues.

IRA re-engagement with de Chastelain would not be enough for David
Trimble. He was demanding a clear timescale for actual decommissioning.
HMG believed that re-engagement would be a worthwhile goal, but we
would only be prepared to pay a proportionate price for it. Otherwise we
would be accused of paying again for something which had already been

promised.

4
CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL




CONFIDENTIAL & PERSONAL

» HMG supported the SDLP’s proposal on its merits. There was much to be
said for bringing all the parties together and forcing them to address the
outstanding issues. The process would create a new dynamic and allow

pressure to be applied to all of the parties.

8. Brian Cowen said that if David Trimble was wedded to a timescale for actual

decommissioning, he would inevitably seek an exit strategy from the political

institutions. If that happened, there would be no prospect of a compromise from
the SDLP or Sinn Fein. It would be a “crazy scenario” to tell Seamus Mallon that
SDLP participation on the Policing Board meant nothing to the UUP. This would
mean that, if the UUP did not get progress on decommissioning, they would
collapse the institutions. The two Governments needed both sides to fight to

maintain the institutions.

9. Brian Cowen said the Irish would take stock after their meetings later in the day
with Sinn Fein, the SDLP and the UUP. They would listen to the SDLP and assess

their proposal. He would come back to the Secretary of State about whether they
were prepared to proceed with roundtable talks. He reiterated that the two
Governments would face fundamental difficulties if we could not get the UUP to

maintain the political institutions. The Secretary of State said he did not disagree.

He saw three potential outcomes to the proposed roundtable talks: there might be
agreement on the big deal — however, this was unlikely; agreement on a mini deal —
involving, at minimum, movement on policing by the SDLP, no toughening of the
UUP’s position, IRA re-engagement with de Chastelain and a proportionate response
on normalisation by HMG; and thirdly, no deal — in which case we would need to
aim for a soft landing for the process, which would probably involve a review of the

GFA. Brian Cowen did not demur. He reiterated that the Irish side would consider

the SDLP’s proposal and come back to us.

10. Brian Cowen also took the opportunity to raise a number of other issues:

On loyalist pipe bomb attacks, he acknowledged that there had been
progress in Larne. But we still needed to ensure that fuller information
was provided by the police to those who were the subject of threats.

5
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Moreover, we needed to provide practical support to help families to
remain in their homes. The SPED Scheme provided assistance for
victims to move home. We should also provide help for them to stay in
their homes. We should consider providing a grant to allow
homeowners to take practical steps to protect their homes. We needed
a well resourced, speedy and flexible scheme which would provide help.

This would send out a positive political message to the nationalist

community. In response, the Secretary of State acknowledged that

there had been a huge increase in effort by the RUC which was now
paying dividends. It was no part of our policy to encourage people to

move out of their homes. The Secretary of State said he had sought

advice on a scheme to provide practical support to those under threat
or those who had been victimised. He was not sure how much
difference a small scale scheme would make in terms of providing
protection. However, he accepted that there was a political dimension
to the issue. He had therefore asked for further advice on a scheme
which could be made available and which would be affordable. Brian
Cowen said he appreciated the effort which the Secretary of State was

making.

Brian Cowen said the Irish attached considerable importance to close

consultation on the implementation of the Criminal Justice Review —
and especially on the detail of the legislation. The Irish did not want to
face the same problems that had arisen over Patten. There were great
expectations about the Criminal Justice Review in the nationalist
community. He hoped that close co-ordination and liaison on the
preparation and drafting of the legislation would help to resolve
difficulties before they became political issues and ended up in
win/loss arguments and entrenched positions. He emphasised that the
proposed Judicial Appointments Commission, independent Public
Prosecution Service and Northern Ireland-based Attorney General were
all issues of great importance which the Irish Government wanted to
see taken forward in line with the recommendations in the Review. The
Secretary of State said he could not share our instructions to Counsel

6
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on the draft legislation, but would fully consult the Irish on the draft
Bill prior to publication. His instinct was to keep as close to the report
of the Criminal Justice Review as possible. He believed this was the

strongest ground from which we could defend our approach.

Brian Cowen raised the issue of patrolling by the Parachute Regiment

in Co Fermanagh in almost apologetic terms. Their aggressive

approach was causing problems and he had received representations

from Tommy Gallagher. There was a need for greater sensitivity. He

asked HMG to come back to him on the issue in due course.

12. The Secretary of State said he hoped the Irish understood our need to move

forward with the police recruitment campaign. We could not risk undermining the
operational effectiveness of the police. We hoped the Irish would be understanding
in public. We wanted nationalists to join the new police service and had been

encouraged by the helpful Irish response to date. Finally, it was clear that the next

NSMC was not going to happen and we should find a way of postponing it.

Signed

P G PRIESTLY
PS/Secretary of State
@ (B) 28110

(L) 6462

PS/Secretary of State (B&L) — O
PS/Mr Ingram (B&L) - O
PS/Mr Howarth (B&L) - O

Mr Watkins — O

Mr Alston - O

Mr Fittall - O

Mr Kelly - O

Mr Leach - O

Mr Maccabe — O

Ms Bharucha - O

Mr Waterworth — O

Sir Ivor Roberts, HMA Dublin - O
Mr Powell, No.10 - E
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NORTHERN IRELAND: GENERAL AND DISTRICT COUNCIL ELECTIONS

22 February 2001

I took a phone call from Ken Maginnis this afternoon asking where we had got to on the possibility of :
combining the District Council elections with the General Election asswming one were called this
spring. He stressed that it was crucial for the survival pro-Agreement unionism.

I said that his leader had already registered the thought with the Prime Minister and the Secretary of
~ State. As a result of that we had done an assessment of what would be required and what the risks
“Nwere. But the change would require legislation and, given its sensitivity, was very much for the Prime
» Minister’s judgement. I said that we had been half expecting his leader to raise the issue again with
the Prime Minister yesterday. Maginnis, who was in robust good spirits, said that he was just off to
Dublin with David Trimble and would rebuke him suitably.

Maginnis also asked me whether combining the elections would be possible if the General Election
were held in April rather than May. [ said that there was not an insuperable technical obstacle. But
there had to be time to get the necessary legislation through Parliament. And bringing the District
Council elections forward by several weeks from 16 May would be far more contentious with the
Northern Ireland parties than changing from one May date to another.

Maginnis’ parting shot was to ask me to pass this on to the Prime Minister’s office and to “see that he
gets his finger out!”.

(,( Bl | '
% i

\.

. "N WILLIAM FITTALL

*  Associate Political Director

PS/Secretary of State (L&B)
Mr Pilling (L&B)

Mr Jeffrey

Miss Bharucha
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Ms Bharucha
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PRIME MINSITER’S MEETING WITH DAVID TRIMBLE, 21 FEBRUARY
Summary

e Trimble probes for details of what has been offered to Sinn Féin and the SDLP.
Emphasises that he needs to see the fine details of any deal.
SDLP need to be put under pressure on policing. Giving them concessions will
cause problems for the UUP.
HMG needs to do more to help the UUP if there is no movement on
decommissioning.
Trimble agrees to meet the Taoiseach and make his position clear.

Detail

™~
1. The Prime Minister met with David Trimble on 21 February to discuss the current
situation in Northern Ireland. David Trimble was accompanied by David Lavery and David
Campbell. The Secretary of State, Jonathan Powell, Bill Jeffrey and | were also present.

2. The Prime Minister explained the current position in the political negotiations. Sinn
Féin had baulked. We did not know whether this was their final position. We were
therefore trying to ensure that the SDLP moved forward on policing. David Trimble said
he needed to know more about what HMG was offering to the SDLP on policing.
Movement on inquiries would create problems for the UUP. Similarly, a review of policing
using Tom Constantine was a bad idea. He understood that the SDLP had been given
assurances on appointments to the Policing Board. The Prime Minister and the Secretary
of State refuted this. David Trimble said it was important for the UUP that the
Chairmanship of the Policing Board went to a Protestant — since the Police Ombudsman

CONFIDENTIAL AND PERSONAL
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b \‘ andthe Oversight Commissioner posts had gone to Catholics, as had the Chairmanship of
. the Parades Commission.

3. The Secretary of State said the SDLP's position was that they could not join the
Policing Board without Sinn Féin also coming on board. They were also concerned that
the UUP would collapse the political institutions, which would inevitably cause the collapse
of the Policing Board.

4. The Prime Minister said he had discussed the situation with the Taoiseach, who had

agreed that Sinn Féin should not be given an effective veto over progress. Moreover, the
Taoiseach had said he was content with the position we had now reached on policing

issues and would support the SDLP if they came on board. The Prime Minister said his
assessment was that we had a better chance of getting Sinn Féin to come on board if the
SDLP were to come on board first. This would enable us to apply pressure to Sinn Féin to
move. They would not do so if they were confident of having the nationalist consensus
behind their position.

5. David Trimble said that he had heard from media sources that middle ranking PIRA
members wanted Sinn Féin to face the elections with the political institutions having
collapsed. The Prime Minister said this made it all the more important to persuade Sinn
Féin that they would pay a price by being isolated on the policing issue. If the SDLP
came on board with support from the Irish, Sinn Féin would be left in a difficult position.
His judgement was that Sinn Féin would be more forthcoming in these circumstances.
David Trimble countered that the SDLP joining the Policing Board would be a mixed
blessing if they trumpeted the concessions they had received for doing so. SDLP
participation on the Policing Board was not seen as a significant prize by the UUP. His

supporters would be more concerned about poor police morale and the loss of senior
officers through the severance arrangements. The big prize was decommissioning. The
Prime Minister reiterated that it was in the UUP’s interest for the SDLP to join the Board.
David Trimble agreed and said we needed to apply pressure to the SDLP, not give them
more concessions. An approach which was “all carrot and no stick” simply created
difficulties for him.

6. Changing tack, David Trimble said that if HMG was pressing forward with the
implementation of Patten (“butchering of the RUC") in circumstances where there was no
progress on decommissioning, the UUP would need counter balancing measures to
support its position. HMG also needed to ensure that the efficiency and effectiveness of
the police service was maintained and that “proper” appointments were made to the
Policing Board. On symbolic issues, the process of “hollowing out" the Britishness of
Northern Ireland must stop.

7. The Prime Minister said David Trimble should arrange to see the Taoiseach and have
a frank discussion with him. David Trimble said he was about to have a row with the
Taoiseach about the NSMC. He was also fed up with Seamus Mallon blocking measures
and creating obstacles within the devolved administration. When the UUP had agreed to
support the GFA they had made the fundamental assumption that any devolved
administration would be based on a partnership between the UUP and the SDLP. But, in
practice, the SDLP had moved closer to Sinn Féin than the UUP. Seamus Mallon tended
to regard every issue as a contest with the UUP. His whole approach was a type of
guerilla warfare with the UUP. It was now obvious to the media and the public that his

CONFIDENTIAL AND PERSONAL
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.relationship with Seamus Mallon was poor. To add to the difficulties, the SDLP had no
decent party organisation. Sinn Féin were much more effective at grass roots level and
were exploiting weaknesses in the electoral system. There was now a huge problem of
electoral fraud. He had been complaining about this for years and had been promised
legislation but HMG had not delivered on the commitment. There had been much talking
about the problem, but little action. Part of the problem was that the NIO did not want to
upset Sinn Féin. The Prime Minister asked whether legislation could be pushed through
before the General Election. You said this was unlikely to be possible, but a number of
administrative steps could be taken to tighten electoral procedures.

8. The Prime Minister said he was confident the Taoiseach would agree to a concerted
approach to moving things forward, which would isolate Sinn Féin. But the UUP needed
to avoid taking any steps which might give the moral high ground to Sinn Féin. We also
needed to give the SDLP reassurance that if they joined the Policing Board they would be
supported by the Catholic Church and the Irish Government, and would not run the risk of
the political institutions being collapsed. David Trimble said he needed to see details of
the concessions which had been offered to the SDLP. The Prime Minister assured him
that he would be taken through these issues before any agreement was reached. He was
content for the Secretary of State to take the UUP through the detail of the policing issues
which had been agreed with the SDLP. David Trimble said the Chief Constable also
needed to take Ken Maginnis through these issues. He alleged that the Police
Federation had claimed that as part of any deal all police officers would have to take the
new oath. The Prime Minister and the Secretary of State refuted this.

.

9. David Trimble then rehearsed a number of issues of concern to the UUP. He said that
if HMG conceded any inquiries to the SDLP, the UUP would want to see inquiries into a
number of issues about which they had concerns. He wanted to see more being done to
keep Sinn Féin under pressure. We also needed to take action against the Republican
dissidents. The UUP were also concerned about the continuing threat from the
Provisionals, whom he understood were continuing to maintain their capability. The
Drumcree issue also needed to be resolved. Brian Currin was "useless” and had
“alienated all concerned” on the Orange side. He had been promised by the Parades
Commission that certain (unspecified) steps would be taken, but the Commission had not
delivered. The Prime Minister asked the Secretary of State for a note on Drumcree
(advice please: Mr Watkins).

10. Drawing the meeting to a close, the Prime Minister asked David Trimble to arrange to
meet the Taoiseach in order to set out his position. He needed to make clear that it was
not justifiable for Sinn Féin and the SDLP to be given a veto over progress. Moreover, he
should make clear that he would consider it a breach of faith if the Irish Government were
not prepared to take concerted action to achieve progress.

~

P G Priestly
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There is increasing evidence of criticism and cynicism of the Saville
Inquiry by relatives of those killed by the British Army on Bloody
Sunday in January 1972.

This was articulated by spokesperson for the families at the Bloody
Sunday commemorations which I attended in Derry last month.

As you may recall I raised some of the points with you during a recent

meeting. Since then I requested a brief which I have summarised
below.

I believe it explains the reasons why and justifies the growing concern
at the way in which the Saville Inquiry is being subverted by those
within the British military and political establishment who appear
intent on preventing the Inquiry from getting to the whole truth.

This is being achieved in a number of ways.

Considerable questions are being asked regarding the extent and
importance of the material which the British MoD has not provided to
the Inquiry, the explanations which are being offered as to why this
material was not retained at the time, and has subsequently been
destroyed or cannot be traced.

Relatives, and lawyers acting for them, do not accept this given that
contemporaneous material that is of benefit to the soldiers’ case has
become available.

Sinn [émn 51 - 55 Bochar na bh[al, Béal Ferste, Eire BTI2 4PO
51 - 55 Falls Road, Belfast, Ireland BT12 4PD
Website: http:/ /www.sinnfein.ie




The main outstanding military material concerns army photographs
and the identity of the photographers, the contemporaneous film
footage from army helicopter, destruction of the rifles fired, relevant
contemporary documents such as the armoury register, and internal
reports.

The taking of photographs and the assignment of photographers was
an important part of the operational orders on Bloody Sunday. Yet
despite their importance to the British Army in the presentation of
their case at the Widgery Tribunal, and their consequent historical
importance, almost none of the vast number of photographs have
been made available.

Colonel Overbury, who was a member of the Army Legal Services and
who prepared for the Widgery Tribunal, has confirmed that military
photographs were taken on the day from ground level and he believes
also from the air. He confirms also that further photographs were
taken later to prepare a plan of the soldiers’ shots. He states that all
photographs were provided to Widgery tribunal staff, and is of the
view that the number would be around 1000 photographs. The
explanation which continues to be provided by the British MoD for
their non-disclosure is similar to that offered regarding other material,
i.e. that in 1972 the British MoD did not have a centralised catalogue
or archive system, and therefore if the material is still in existence it is

very difficult to trace where it is now or alternatively it was destroyed.

The position regarding photographs and film appears even worse than
military documents as the British MoD state (extraordinarily) that
photographs and film were not accorded the same significance as
official documents.

There was a team from British MoD headquarters in the north of
Ireland, responsible for taking heli-tele film, and whose task was to
provide maximum photographic coverage of the march and associated
incidents. The lawyers believe the film should last several hours. The
information they have is that the original film was taken to London for
security processing, where 2 copies were printed, one of which was
required urgently by the British MoD at the start of February 1972.

The Widgery Tribunal had possession of a film, although it is not
thought that this was the original. The Lawyers acting for the families
do not know whether the Widgery Tribunal received either a full copy
or the very short (just over 3 minutes) and edited version that we now
have. What is clear to the lawyers is that whatever was provided to the
Widgery Tribunal, by May 1972 the original was being stored in the
Home Office in London, and a copy was held in ‘Headquarters NI’.




The lawyers do not know the total numbers of copies made. Yet the
British MOD states they have no further film to the very short one
that they have received. No statement is yet available from the person
who took the film.

29 rifles were identified as belonging to the Parachute Regiment at the
Widgery Tribunal as being responsible for all shootings, all of which
were accounted for by 29th September 1999. There is an ongoing
British MoD police investigation into the disposal of all rifles, namely
those that have been sold and those which have been destroyed.

The families concern centres around those rifles that have been
destroyed or otherwise disposed of after this Inquiry was announced,
and after the MoD had provided an assurance that everything of
relevance had been provided to this Inquiry. Only 3 out of these rifles
remain. The explanation provided regarding those destroyed after this
inquiry began, is that the British MOD had not been provided with the
full serial numbers which would have highlighted those rifles as
Bloody Sunday rifles.

The lawyers acting for the families have also sought relevant
documentary material. Much attention was paid to documents for the
relevant forensic evidence concerning the rifles, their examination and
testing, armoury registers to ascertain which rifles were assigned to
whom, ammunition registers to detail how much was in possession of
whom. The lawyers also sought intelligence reports, signal
instructions, training documents, standing orders records,
disciplinary procedures, etc and none of this has been made available.
The same explanations offered in relation to photographs and film has
been given for this.

Finally, all Government bodies are subject to the document
management procedures and rules. The Public Records Office gives
guidance on this obviously as material, which is to be preserved, will
eventually be deposited with them. As a result all information and
material must go through processes of review to determine whether
they are preserved as material of public importance or destroyed.

The lawyers believe that most of the material they seek would have
been considered of such importance as to be preserved, in view of the
fact that the Widgery Tribunal was the first occasion in which the
British Army’s actions were being examined by a public inquiry under
the 1921 Act. If the material was destroyed, there must be a motive or
reason for this and in those circumstances; those persons who gave
authorisation for destruction must provide an explanation.

At a minimum, the families require evidence that the material has in
fact been destroyed, i.e. the destruction records etc, and these still
have not been provided.




Moreover the lawyers and relatives do not accept that all the material
they seek has been destroyed.

For example, regarding photographs, when it suited the British MOD
to help obtain screening, contemporaneous photographs have come to
light for soldiers 042, and H, with no explanation of how these came
to light.

Also regarding documents, when the families sought source
documents relating to intelligence reports, they were told they would
not be preserved, yet when the British government wanted to produce
evidence of alleged IRA activity, they were able to produce source
documents, statements by the parties involved and a tape recording
purporting to be an actual debriefing of an informer.

Clearly, there are those within the British system who are intent on
frustrating the truth about Bloody Sunday.

This is unacceptable.

I am therefore asking you to use your authority to ensure that these
obstacles to the truth are removed and that the British MoD and other
relevant British agencies co-operate fully with the Saville Inquiry and
with the lawyers acting for the relatives.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Is mise le meas
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Gerry Adams MP




10 DOWNING STREET

LONDON SW1A 2AA

From the Private Secretary 26 February 2001

Dear Sarah

BLOODY SUNDAY/INQUIRY
I enclose a letter from Geryy Adams/to the Prime Minister about the
Saville Inquiry. I would be gratefyl for a/draft reply by 2 March. If for any

reason it is impossible to meet this Jeadline please could you let me know?

I am copying

ANNA WECHSBERG

Sarah Todd
NIO
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There is increasing evidence of criticism and cynicism of the Saville
Inquiry by relatives of those killed by the British Army on Bloody
Sunday in January 1972.

This was articulated by spokesperson for the families at the Bloody
Sunday commemorations which I attended in Derry last month,

As you may recall I raised some-of the points with you during a recent
meeting, Since then I requested a brief which I have summarised

below.

I believe it explains the reasons why and justifies the growing concern
at the way in which the Saville Inquiry is being subverted by those
within the British military and political establishment who appear
intent on preventing the Inquiry from getting to the whole truth.

This is being achieved in a number of ways.

Considerable questions are being asked regarding the extent and
importance of the material which the British MoD has not provided to
the Inquiry, the explanations which are being offered as to why this
material was not retained at the time, and has subsequently been
destroyed or cannot be traced.

Relatives, and lawyers acting for them, do not accept this given that
contemporaneous- material that is of benefit to the soldiers’ case has
become available.

Sinn [iéin 51 - 55 Béchar na bhlal, Beal Feirere, Eire BLI2 4PO
51 - 55 Falls Road, Belfast, [roland BT12 4PD
Website: hrp:/ /wwwisinnfein.ie
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The main outstanding military material concerns army photographs
and the identity of the photographers, the contemporaneous film
footage from army helicopter, destruction of the rifles fired, relevant
contemporary documents such as the armoury register, and internal
reports.

The taking of photographs and the assignment of photographers was
an important part of the operational orders on Bloody Sunday. Yet
despite their importance to the British Army in the presentation of
their case at the Widgery Tribunal, and their consequent historical
importance, almost none of the vast number of photographs have
been made available.

Colonel Overbury, who was a member of the Army Legal Services and
who prepared for the Widgery Tribunal, has confirmed that military
photographs were taken on the day from ground level and he believes
also from the air. He confirms also that further photographs were
taken later to prepare a plan of the soldiers’ shots. He states that all
photographs were provided to Widgery tribunal staff, and is of the
view that the number would be around 1000 photographs. The
explanation which continues to be provided by the British MoD for
their non-disclosure is similar to that offered regarding other material,
i.e. that in 1972 the British MoD did not have a centralised catalogue
or archive system, and therefore if the material is still in existence it is
very difficult to trace where it is now or alternatively it was destroyed.

The position regarding photographs and film appears even worse than
military documents as the British MoD state (extraordinarily) that
photographs and film were not accorded the same significance as
official documents.

There was a team from British MoD headquarters in the north of
Ireland, responsible for taking heli-tele film, and whose task was to
provide maximum photographic coverage of the march and associated
incidents. The lawyers believe the film should last several hours. The
information they have is that the original film was taken to London for
security processing, where 2 copies were printed, one of which was
required urgently by the British MoD at the start of February 1972.

The Widgery Tribunal had possession of a film, although it is not
thought that this was the original. The Lawyers acting for the families
do not know whether the Widgery Tribunal received either a full copy
or the very short (just over 3 minutes) and edited version that we now
have. What is clear to the lawyers is that whatever was provided to the
Widgery Tribunal, by May 1972 the original was being stored in the
Home Office in London, and a copy was held in ‘Headquarters NI".
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The lawyers do not know the total numbers of copies made. Yet the
British MOD states they have no further film to the very short one
that they have received. No statement is yet available from the person
who took the film.

29 rifles were identified as belonging to the Parachute Regiment at the
Widgery Tribunal as being responsible for all shootings, all of which
were accounted for by 29® September 1999. There is an ongoing
British MoD police investigation into the disposal of all rifles, namely
those that have been sold and those which have been destroyed.

The families concern centres around those rifles that have been
destroyed or otherwise disposed of after this Inquiry was announced,
and after the MoD had provided an assurance that everything of
relevance had been provided to this Inquiry. Only 3 out of these rifles
remain. The explanation provided regarding those destroyed after this
inquiry began, is that the British MOD had not been provided with the
full serial numbers which would have highlighted those rifles as
Bloody Sunday rifles.

The lawyers acting for the families have also sought relevant
documentary material. Much attention was paid to documents for the
relevant forensic evidence concerning the rifles, their examination and
testing, armoury registers to ascertain which rifles were assigned to
whom, ammunition registers to detail how much was in possession of
whom. The lawyers also sought intelligence reports, signal
instructions, training documents, standing orders records,
disciplinary procedures, etc and none of this has been made available.
The same explanations offered in relation to photographs and film has
been given for this.

Finally, all Government bodies are subject to the document
management procedures and rules. The Public Records Office gives
guidance on this obviously as material, which is to be preserved, will
eventually be deposited with them. As a result all information and
material must go through processes of review to determine whether
they are preserved as material of public importance or destroyed.

The lawyers believe that most of the material they seek would have
been considered of such importance as to be preserved, in view of the
fact that the Widgery Tribunal was the first occasion in which the
British Army’s actions were being examined by a public inquiry under
the 1921 Act. If the material was destroyed, there must be a motive or
reason for thisand in those circumstances; those persons who gave
authorisation for destruction must provide an explanation.

At a minimum, the families require evidence that the material has in
fact been destroved, i.e. the destruction records etc, and these still
have not been provided.
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Moreover the lawyers and relatives do not accept that all the material
they seek has been destroyed.

For example, regarding photographs, when it suited the British MOD
to help obtain screening, contemporaneous photographs have come to
light for soldiers 042, and H, with no explanation of how these came
to light.

Also regarding documents, when the families sought source
documents relating to intelligence reports, they were told they would
not be preserved, yet when the British government wanted to produce
evidence of alleged IRA activity, they were able to produce source
documents, statements by the parties involved and a tape recording
purporting to be an actual debriefing of an informer.

Clearly, there are those within the British system who are intent on
frustrating the truth about Bloody Sunday.

This is unacceptable.

I am therefore asking you to use your authority to ensure that these
obstacles to the truth are removed and that the British MoD and other
relevant British agencies co-operate fully with the Saville Inquiry and
with the lawyers acting for the relatives.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Is mise le meas
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RILLY ARMSTRONG mLA Room 378
ULSTER UNIONIST PARTY Parliament Buildings
ASSEMBLY MEMBER for MID-ULSTER Belfast BT4 3XX
Northern Ireland Tel :028 90 5 20305
Assembly Fax:028 90 5 20302

Wednesday, February 21, 2001

Rt.Hon. Tony Blair MP
Prime Minister

10 Downing Street
London

SW12 2AA

Dear Tony,

I write to you because of my concerns of the way we in the Ulster Unionist
Party have been lead Westminster and other concerned parties.

We have supporied you and niave iried io make the Beifast Agreement work and
we have agreed to ideas and suggestions of yours and your advisers.

I believe as a lot of my fellow assembly members do, we have went to far, we
are selling ourselves out to a republicans agenda, and our creditably as leaders
of the Unionist people has gone.

The way things have been shaping in the past three years might be good in the
eyes of the world, and is sure bringing us closer to an united Ireland where we as
Unionist don’t want to be!

The SF/IRA, Gerry and Martin has really given nothing, they have achieved all
their prisoners out of jail, the whole structure of security in our province has
changed to suit them, I could go on and on.

What are you trying to do to David Trimble and the Unionist Party?

Do you believe Sinn Fein deserve to be in Government when they have not

B e o R e L PO R =y 1 33 SN e A
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Would you not think Nationals and Republicans parties should be more tolerant
to the culture of Unionists? We all have to live together?

Would you not say that security can’t be relaxed until the threat of terrorists is
totally demised

David Trimble can’t come back after speaking to you saying that we have to
take another chance, because SF/IRA won’t move unless we do this, that, or the
other.

MID-ULSTER ULSTER UNIONIST CONSTITUENCY OFFICE
PROSPECT HOUSE, COAGH ROAD, STEWARTSTOWN, DUNGANNON, CO.TYRONE. BT71 5JH.
TEL: 028 87 738641, FAX: 028 87 738844, MOBILE: 07801 738641

WEB SITE: http://www.billyarmstrong.co.uk E-MAIL: mla@billyarmstrong.co.uk




I hope you will reply yourself, and consider my fears, so that we both can keep
face, and work towards stable government in these islands of ours without the
threat of terrorist.

Yours sincerely,

ptly—

Biily Armstrong
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John Rankin
HME Dublin

HMA
21 February 2001

PS/Secretary of State (L&B)
PS/Mr Ingram
PS/Mr Howarth
PS/PUS

Mr Jeffrey

Mr Maccabe
Mr Fittall

Mr Watkins

Mr Kelly

Ms Bharucha
Mr Waterworth
Mr Brett

Mr Sawers

TAOISEACH’S COMMENTS ON PEACE PROCESS

1. At your dinner for the Secretary of State on 20 February, Martin Mansergh and other
senior Irish officials laid considerable stress on the Taoiseach’'s comments on Northern
Ireland eariier in the day at Dail questions, saying these had been “highly significant”.
Ashley Ray has already reported the gist of what Ahern said, but we now have the full
transcript. The significant points in Ahern's remarks seem to be the following:

e “We have not crossed every ‘t' and dotted every ‘', but there has been more
than 90% progress.

“In the end the Parties, collectively, but especially individually, have to decide
what is satisfactory. The Governments are working together and bilaterally with
them to get everyone across the line in this phase. This has to be done in the
next week or so”.

“| accept that | have a role, as do the churches and others, in trying to persuade
the Parties if there is a deal which, although not perfect, can enable progress.
We ourselves have not come to a conclusion yet but will decide soon”.

“...the matter cannot drift on endlessly. People somewhere will have to make a
call soon”.

RESTRICTED
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[In response to a question from Austin Currie (who is very close to the SDLP) on
policing and possible legislation] Ahern “My view is that an understanding can
be reached on these issues. Ultimately they will require legislation, but they do
not need legislation now. Currie Ultimately? Ahern Yes Currie Not within
the next week or too? Ahern No. An understanding can be reached now that
would allow movement to take place. Ultimately, legislation will be required.
Currie Is that the answer to Sinn Féin? Could the Taoiseach say “yes” rather
than nod? Ahern Yes.

COMMENT

2. As ever, the precise intended import of the Taoiseach's remarks is open to some
interpretation. But the line from Irish officials was that Ahern’s remarks should be seen as
helpful from a UK perspective,

3. Presumably the message was intended to be that it was time for PIRA (“People
somewhere") to come on board. The comment that legislation on policing was not
required immediately was also presumably intended to be helpful. But it is clear from
discussions over the past couple of days that Ahern's further remark that legislation on
policing would ultimately be required may not be viewed so positively by the SDLP (to say
nothing of Trimble’s position).

John Rankin

RESTRICTED
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NORTHERN IRELAND OFFICE

11 Millbank, London, SW1P 4PN

Tel 020 7210 6469 Fax 020 7210 6479
email: william.fittall@nio.x.gsi.gov.uk

Jonathan Powell
10 Downing Street

ONDON s
SWIA 2AA N 4

21 February 2001

D ot /Y- ot
NORTHERN IRELAND: PM’S MEETINGS THIS MORNING

In case you have not spotted the transcripts, yesterday’s public comments about the launch of police

recruitment make for interesting reading. Trimble said: “There is no doubt about the need.” Perhaps
more interestingly Mallon, while noting that the new Policing Board was not in place and that things
had to be taken a step at a time, said that: “I wish well anybody who chooses to respond to that

advert.”

By contrast Gerry Adams said: “At this point its recruitment to the RUC, and no democrat, never
mind a republican or nationalist, would advise anyone to join the RUC.” On the contrary Sinn

Féin will be advising people not to join or support this recruitment drive to what is an old force.”

Sl dalness)

2/ WILLIAM FITTALL
Associate Political Director

PS/Secretary of State (L&B)
PS/Mr Pilling (1.&B)

Mr Jefirey

Mr Watkins

APDL/329
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OVERNIGHT THOUGHTS FROM DUBLIN

1. My beEst guess is that
the SDLP’S line when you see them this morning will be:

to complain that we have been readier to make concessions on policing o Sinn Fein in
private than to the SOLP in Partament;

10 say that they can't safely sign up for the Folicing Board until other outstanding matters
. 3 3 s o

have been sored out - they will look fools if they nominate and within weeks the collzpse of
the institutions invalidates their nominations: |
|

to propose discussions involving the parties collectively 1o chart a way througn.
Z. 1Ng [ast point retiects aiscussion in Uubin tast night. Irish officials are wary| beCause thiey knuw
Sinn Fein won tlike it, and still hold out some hope that a big deal can be done. They have

encouraged Malion (0 talk to you about it, but not to emerge from the meetings - as he was planning to
do — with a public call for round table giscussions.

3. Asithappens, Trimble’s position may be not dissimilar

- he too will compiain about how extended we have got with Sinn Féin, and haw this plays pubticly.

- he has been oying publicly with the (0ea of a review, without making it clear whether he expects (hy
institutions to collapse or continue while the review takes place.

- he probably doesn't know himsell, ang would certainty need to continue 1o hang tough on
North/Sputh,

4. My advice would be. for the moment, 10 be non-committal both on the idea aL:a review angd on
Mallon's call (if he makes 1t) for collective discussions. but to work to the followt g pian:

|
2iM 10 bring the present round of AISCUSsIons 10 3 head soon after ygur return, and in effect
present Sinn Fein with an ultimatum - you and Bertie ¢ould do this in a day’s Qiscuss'ons at
Hillsborough;

In these discussions, put the question on policing, but also explore 1o the limit the possiviliy
of parking policing if it is just too difficult for the SDLP and Sinn Féin 1o move on It before
the Election, and instead doing a limited deal on weapons/military instaliations/OTRs. (It s
fack of progress on weapons thal is hurting Trimble most); '}

: : : : . |
If that fails, set up. with Bertie, a review to stragdie the Eiection period, 10 D8 launchec py a
round table discussion involving ali the parties.

John Reid
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William Fittall
Associate Political Director(L)
20 February 2001

Jonathan Powell

PM’S MEETINGS WITH TRIMBLE AND HUME/MALLON

Before leaving for Dublin the Secretary of State suggested that the PM m aht like a
single page of bull points for each of tomorrow morning’s meetings to supplement the

minute which he sent earlier this afternoon. These are attached,

(Signed)

William Fittall
11 Millbank @& 6469 (Castle Buildings @ Ext.22885)
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Bull points to use with David Trimble

Adams and McGuinness told me last Thursday that they couldn’t do the big deal
now. Serious disappointment to the Irish and us after all the effort Bertie and I
have put in. The gap is said to be on policing but this may be a pretext for theiwr

difficulties on decommissioning.

Didn’t want the news to break while you were away. And in any event there are
advantages in avoiding a sudden sense of crisis. Talks continue. But realistic
assessment now is that chance of big breakthrough over next few weeks is slir,
Sinn Fein may come back and offer limited deal — perhaps reengagement with de
Chastelain without assurances on timescales thereafter. Provided the price to us is
low would this buy you a few weeks breathing space, or o¢ mare trouble than it's

waorth?

Still trying to get SDLP to nominate to Policing Board. Hard sell, given the
politics. Not confident of success. If we pull it off how much will i help you'?
John’s made it clear to them that the recruitment advertising is going ahead

anyway this week.

[ow do we keep institutions going over the comuing w ecks? What 15 your
thinking on the nature and timing of a review to tide us over? Will this be enough

for your party colleagues?

Will the Irish agree not to provoke a crisis by insisting 0n a North/South Council

on 2 March? Worth you talking to Bertie.
[Trimble likely to raise synchronisation of electicns (see John Reid minute of 13

February). PM might without commitment probe how much this matiers to

Trimble both in substance and for party management.]
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me/ /Mallon meeting

John’s told me about his long meeting with you on ! Monday evening. We're all

fed up with the way Sinn Fein have behaved. There were the markings of a deal

which would have enabled all nationalists to claim victory. The question now/ is

where do we go from here?

Tough call for you but real opportunity 10 give a lead and show vou’ve got your
own agenda, independent from Sinn Fein’s. And it would put pressure ¢n them.

Do you think Dublin and Catholic Church will be prepared ¢ back you?

Don’t believe Trimble wants to collapse the institutions. But even if we do get
back to suspension we’ll still need a Policing Board with nationelist po liticians on
it. If you come on the Board now we’re absolutely committed to keeping you

on.

Prepared to help on any outstanding implementation plan points but gap now
pretty small. Please don’t demand the impossible on inquiries. What you asked
John for on Monday goes far beyond Patten. We’ve not given Sinn k ein anything

beyond Patten.

[f you're clear you can’t join the Board till after the election tell us and we’' 1L have
to plan accordingly. Recruitment campaign this week has to 20 ak ad anyway.

And we need to decide what to do about the Police Authority.
I accept that we’ve not always got the balance right between ¢c llective and

bilateral negotiations. But really don’t think we’d have made faster progress on

decommissioning and policing if we’d got everyone 1ato the room togathes
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Prime Minister

NORTHERN IRELAND: THE NEXT FEW DAYS

Summary

Predictable line from Adams. No sign of movement or fishing for a mini deal.
SDLP very bitter and negative. All but rule out joining Policing Board in
present situation though imply they might reconsider if we give unequivocal
commitments to public inquiries, with international judge, in Finucane,
Nelson and Hamill cases. Trimble now under increasing pressure to get tough,
Qur priorities for the rest of this week should be to keep up the pressure on
the SDLP and to win the PR battle here and in Dublin over the launch of the
police recruitment campaign, which Sinn Fein will strongly criticise. We also
need urgently to prepare the ground for the two issues likely to cominate next
week: the run up to the North South Ministerial Council plenary on Friday 2
March, which Trimble will come under increasing pressure to hoycott; and our
need to decide whether to invite the Police Authority to remain in existence

beyond 31 March or announce the creation of a new interim Commnission.

What happened vesterday

Adams got wind of my wish to see Mallon and demanded a meeting, largely for
public consumption. His line remains that Sinn Fein would in principle like =0 join

the Policing Board but cannot do so until we reduce the wide gap that remair.s. He
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wants to bring McGuinness to see me for a further talk over the weekend anc.
agreed with me that we needed to find a way of preventing the process from falling

apart over the next few weeks. There was no talk of a possible miri deal.

< I took Adams - and subsequently the SDLP — through the reasons why we had
to launch the police recruitment campaign this week. The SDLP appeared to
understand but would not be drawn on what line they would take publicly. Adams
said that Sinn Fein would be sharply critical. I shall need to use my media
opportunities in Dublin on Thursday and perhaps seek such opportunities in
Northern Ireland on Friday to get our story across vigorously. I also threw in the

necessity of me addressing the Police Authority issue.

3. The SDLP were full of reproaches. They were sore about Peter anc the
handling of the Police Act. They were particularly sore that you had ruled out fresh
legislation for them at Hillsborough a month ago and now conceded it to Sinn Fein
“because they have guns”. They didn’t see how they could put three Assembly
members on the Board when they would be in a total minority. [ ponted out thatl
could redress this with the balance of the appointed members of the Police Board.
However, they also agreed that they would be isolated because, in “he absence of a
deal on weapons, Trimble would probably collapse the Assernbly and Executive

within weeks.

4. They agreed to meet me again in a couple of days time but made it clear that
the only possible basis for movement would be if we had “closed” negotiating with
Sinn Fein and also conceded unequivocal commitments to public nquiries for

Finucane, Hamill and Nelson. I interpret this as a spoiling tactic.
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o I have not seen Trimble, but our lower level contacts with UUP people and his
own letter to you yesterday suggest the screw is tightening. He may want to get
through the Election by maintaining his tough stance on North /South and through
a formal review of some kind. But in the absence of movement there must be a real
risk that the “anti” people in his party will seize the opportunity to get UUP
Ministers out of the Executive without attacking Trimble personally. His period of
maximum vulnerability is the next few weeks. As things stand, he will have no
choice but to boycott the North/South meeting on 2 March, thus ratcheting things -

up.

Our objectives now

In my view, our short-term objectives should be:

To keep working on the SDLP. They are probably not going to sign up
for the Policing Board before the Election. They may be being
restrained by Irish officials behind the scenes and are certainly aot
being put under much pressure. But you should use our meeting with
Hume and Mallon tomorrow te appeal to them, ang give them a sense
of the political downside of being so obviously in hock t¢ Sinn Féin.

Any Police Board could be balanced by appointments. [ attach a note
on the detailed outstanding SDLP points on policing/incuiries in case
the discussion goes in that direction. If the SDLP did nominate to the

Police Board, it would add to the pressure on Sinn Fein to do likewise.

y
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To keep our minds open to a deal with Sinn Féin, including cne
short of our ideal requirements, but without. putting anything new
on the table and, within this, with only a proportionate response
to whatever they offer. There is some intelligence to suggest Sinn
Féin interest in a small deal, in which the IRA would enter discussions
with de Chastelain without any guarantees about where they would
lead or on what timescale, and we would do some of what we have bee
offering. In my view we should be willing to entertain this, but not ge
looking for it or consider paying much of a price for it. The fact is that
Sinn Féin probably need minimal IRA re-engagement before the
Election for their own protection. It would ke a bit of & poisonec chalice
for Trimble, because he would be expected to bacl off on North/South
in return for something which might have made a difference a couple of
months ago but will now be dismissed by unionists as just another

ploy.

To re-engage Trimble in a tactical discussion of how to hold things
together over the Election period. It is his own fault for being sut of
the country, but he clearly feels neglected, and has a point whern he
says that we have spent weeks wooing Sinn Féin and the SDLP. 'When
you see him tomorrow, you could ask him, in particular, whether a
small deal would be a help or a hindrance; how he sees a review
working; and whether he thinks that a well-timed review would enable

him to get through the Election with the institutions intact. You could

also encourage him to work on the Taoiseach himself (and perhaps
Mallon) if he agrees with us that Irish Government/S DLP/Catholic

Church support on policing would at least improve the atmesphere.
)
wd
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To launch the police recruitment campaign on Friday and handle
the media in such a way as to pre-empt and rebut Sinn Féin claims
that we, rather than they, have scuppered the chances of a deal hy

moving ahead on recruitment.

To prepare the ground for interim arrangements for police
accountability after 31 March, assuming neither the SDLP nor Sinn
Féin sign up. I incline towards interim Comraissioners, as an evidently
temporary measure until the Policing Board can be established, rather
than keeping the existing Police Authority on indefinitely, but arn stil]

working on the details.

To work up the review option, which would benefit from being

played in relatively early, if it too is not to be discounted.

JOHN REID
20 FEBRUARY 2001
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ADNEX

SDLP — POSSIBLE POINTS FOR PM MEETING

l. Need for collective management of
peace process.

Agree, and accept that we haven’t aiways
got this right (eg Hillsborough May
2000). But collective process neecs

underpinning with bilaterals.

2. Have HMG finished negotiating with
Sinn Fein?

We’ve made it clear we’ve already gone
beneath our bottom line en policing
Nothing more to offer. Until we have full
implementation of GFA, however -
including on weapons - we carnot stop
talking to anyone.

3. Will HMG commit unequivocally to
Finucane/Hamill/Nelson inquiries?

No, because it’s simply impossible "o
know what will come out anyway s a
result of the continuing, independent
investigations. And retrospzctive
inquiries would be conirary to what
Patten recommended — the touchstone for
our negotiations with Sinn Fein as well as
the SDLP. We have already said that we
recognise our ‘responsibility to take such
further steps as may ... be required to
meet continuing public concern’ onge the
investigations are over.

}.__
4. Will HMG firm up words in
implementation plan on Gough, full time
reserve etc?

John Reid happy to look further at eny
detailed points if it would really make
the difference, but the gaps now ar2
about fine tuning of timings.

; 5. How can 3 SDLP nominees avoid
' being swamped on Board of 19?

John Reid has said that we’d be prepared
to invite further applications for
independent membership of the Beard
and to balance up the unionist dominance
of the political nominees.

ey
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i
| 6. What about a review of the Act and a
1 commitment to legislate?

i

|

Happy to give a commitment to a review
after 12 months and a willingness to
legislate [but, in the absence of a big deal,
not a commitment to details of new
legislation. |

7. What’s the point of putting Assembly
| members on the Board when the

Assembly’s about to be suspended
anyway?

Don’t accept that’s inevitable. Ifit did
collapse John Reid would have to appoirt
a replacement Board and would
obviously want to have members
acceptable to the SDLP, proviced they
had already committed themselves to the
new service. He has power to reappoint
the suspended Assembly members (0 the
Board.

s
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Prime Minister

NORTHERN IRELAND: THE NEXT FEW DAYS

Summary

Predictable line from Adams. No sign of movement or fishing for a mini deal.

SDLP very bitter and negative. All but rule out joining Policing Board in
present situation though imply they might reconsider if we give unequivocal
commitments to public inquiries, with international judge, in Finucane,
Nelson and Hamill cases. Trimble now under increasing pressure to get tough.
Our priorities for the rest of this week should be to keep up the pressure on
the SDLP and to win the PR battle here and in Dublin over the launch of the
police recruitment campaign, which Sinn Fein will strongly criticise. We also
need urgently to prepare the ground for the two issues likely to dominate next
week: the run up to the North Scuth Ministerial Council plenary on Friday 2
March, which Trimble will come under increasing pressure to boycott; and our
need to decide whether to invite the Police Authority to remain in existence

beyond 31 March or announce the creation of a new interim Commission.

What happened vesterday

Adams got wind of my wish to see Mallon and demanded a meeting, largely for
public consumption. His line remains that Sinn Fein would in principle like to join

the Policing Board but cannot do so until we reduce the wide gap that remains. He
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wants to bring McGuinness to see me for a further talk over the weekend and
agreed with me that we needed to find a way of preventing the process from falling

apart over the next few weeks. There was no talk of a possible mini deal.

2 I took Adams - and subsequently the SDLP - through the reasons why we had
to launch the police recruitment campaign this week. The SDLP appeared to
understand but would not be drawn on what line they would take publicly. Adams
said that Sinn Fein would be sharply critical. I shall need to use my media
opportunities in Dublin on Thursday and perhaps seek such opportunities in
Northern Ireland on Friday to get our story across vigorously. I also threw in the

necessity of me addressing the Police Authority issue.

3. The SDLP were full of reproaches. They were sore about Peter and the
handling of the Police Act. They were particularly sore that you had ruled out fresh
legislation for them at Hillsborough a month ago and now conceded it to Sinn Fein

“because they have guns”. They didn’t see how they could put three Assembly

members on the Board when they would be in a total minority. I pointed out that I

could redress this with the balance of the appointed members of the Police Board.
However, they also agreed that they would be isolated because, in the absence of a
deal on weapons, Trimble would probably collapse the Assembly and Executive

within weeks.

4. They agreed to meet me again in a couple of days time but made it clear that
the only possible basis for movement would be if we had “closed” negotiating with
Sinn Fein and also conceded unequivocal commitments to public inquiries for

Finucane, Hamill and Nelson. I interpret this as a spoiling tactic.
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5 I have not seen Trimble, but our lower level contacts with UUP people and his
own letter to you yesterday suggest the screw is tightening. He may want to get
through the Election by maintaining his tough stance on North/South and through
a formal review of some kind. But in the absence of movement there must be a real
risk that the “anti” people in his party will seize the opportunity to get UUP
Ministers out of the Executive without attacking Trimble personally. His period of
maximum vulnerability is the next few weeks. As things stand, he will have no

choice but to boycott the North/South meeting on 2 March, thus ratcheting things
up.

Our objectives now

In my view, our short-term objectives should be:

To keep working on the SDLP. They are probably not going to sign up

for the Policing Board before the Election. They may be being

restrained by Irish officials behind the scenes and are certainly not
being put under much pressure. But you should use our meeting with
Hume and Mallon tomorrow to appeal to them, and give them a sense
of the political downside of being so obviously in hock to Sinn Féin.
Any Police Board could be balanced by appointments. I attach a note
on the detailed outstanding SDLP points on policing/inquiries in case
the discussion goes in that direction. If the SDLP did nominate to the

Police Board, it would add to the pressure on Sinn Fein to do likewise.
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To keep our minds open to a deal with Sinn Féin, including one
short of our ideal requirements, but without putting anything new
on the table and, within this, with only a proportionate response
to whatever they offer. There is some intelligence to suggest Sinn
Féin interest in a small deal, in which the IRA would enter discussions
with de Chastelain without any guarantees about where they would
lead or on what timescale, and we would do some of what we have been
offering. In my view we should be willing to entertain this, but not go
looking for it or consider paying much of a price for it. The fact is that
Sinn Féin probably need minimal IRA re-engagement before the
Election for their own protection. It would be a bit of a poisoned chalice
for Trimble, because he would be expected to back off on North/South
in return for something which might have made a difference a couple of

months ago but will now be dismissed by unionists as just another

ploy.

To re-engage Trimble in a tactical discussion of how to hold things
together over the Election period. It is his own fault for being out of
the country, but he clearly feels neglected, and has a point when he

says that we have spent weeks wooing Sinn Féin and the SDLP. When

you see him tomorrow, you could ask him, in particular, whether a

small deal would be a help or a hindrance; how he sees a review
working; and whether he thinks that a well-timed review would enable

him to get through the Election with the institutions intact. You could

also encourage him to work on the Taoiseach himself (and perhaps
Mallon) if he agrees with us that Irish Government/SDLP/Catholic

Church support on policing would at least improve the atmosphere.

£y
'
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To launch the police recruitment campaign on Friday and handle
the media in such a way as to pre-empt and rebut Sinn Féin claims
that we, rather than they, have scuppered the chances of a deal by

moving ahead on recruitment.

To prepare the ground for interim arrangements for police
accountability after 31 March, assuming neither the SDLP nor Sinn
Féin sign up. I incline towards interim Commissioners, as an evidently
temporary measure until the Policing Board can be established, rather

than keeping the existing Police Authority on indefinitely, but am still

working on the details.

To work up the review option, which would benefit from being

played in relatively early, if it too is not to be discounted.

JO REID
20 FEBRUARY 2001
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SDLP — POSSIBLE POINTS FOR PM MEETING

1. Need for collective management of
peace process.

Agree, and accept that we haven’t always
got this right (eg Hillsborough May
2000). But collective process needs
underpinning with bilaterals.

2. Have HMG finished negotiating with
Sinn Fein?

We’ve made it clear we’ve already gone
beneath our bottom line on policing.
Nothing more to offer. Until we have full
implementation of GFA, however -
including on weapons - we cannot stop
talking to anyone.

3. Will HMG commit unequivocally to
Finucane/Hamill/Nelson inquiries?

No, because it’s simply impossible to
know what will come out anyway as a
result of the continuing, independent
investigations. And retrospective
inquiries would be contrary to what
Patten recommended — the touchstone for
our negotiations with Sinn Fein as well as
the SDLP. We have already said that we
recognise our ‘responsibility to take such
further steps as may ... be required to
meet continuing public concern’ once the
investigations are over.

4. Will HMG firm up words in
implementation plan on Gough, full time
reserve etc?

John Reid happy to look further at any
detailed points if it would really make
the difference, but the gaps now are
about fine tuning of timings.

5. How can 3 SDLP nominees avoid
being swamped on Board of 197

John Reid has said that we’d be prepared
to invite further applications for
independent membership of the Board
and to balance up the unionist dominance
of the political nominees.

e
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6. What about a review of the Act and a
commitment to legislate?

Happy to give a commitment to a review
after 12 months and a willingness to
legislate [but, in the absence of a big deal,
not a commitment to details of new
legislation. ]

7. What’s the point of putting Assembly
members on the Board when the

Assembly’s about to be suspended
anyway?

Don’t accept that’s inevitable. If it did
collapse John Reid would have to appoint
a replacement Board and would
obviously want to have members
acceptable to the SDLP, provided they
had already committed themselves to the
new service. He has power to reappoint
the suspended Assembly members to the
Board.

el T
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PS/SECRETARY OF STATE(L&B) PS/Mr Ingram(l.&B)

PS/Mr Howarth{(L&E)
Mr Pilling
Mr Watkins
Mr Fittall
Mr Kelly
Mr Maccabe
Mr Masefield

gl Powell No.10-FAX

" Sir Ivor Roberts HMA(D)

CONVERSATION WITH DAITHI O’CEALLAIGH

I had a conversation with Daithi O’Ceallaigh this morning which illustrated the

hopelessness of the position into which the Irish Government have got themselves on

policing and the SDLP.

2. O’Ceallaigh said that he had met the SDLP twice yesterday, before and after the
Secretary of State’s meeting with them at Parliament Buildings. They had been “very
depressed”, particularly Mallon, and annoyed that we and the Irish had been willing to
concede so much to Sinn Féin. O’Ceallaigh’s “solid impression™ was that they could
not do policing without Sinn Féin. This was more to do with anxiceties about policing
than about the politics of the situation. Sean Farren had made the point that. if Sirm
Féin were opposed to recruitment, then in very many places the effort to recruit
nationalists would fail. O’Ceallaigh thought it significant that someone as rezsonable

as Farren was saying this.

3. I asked rather pointedly whether, in discussions such as the ones he had had
yesterday. the Irish Government were telling the SDLP they thought they should sign
up and would be ready to line up with them publicly if they did. O"Ceallaigh,
sounding rather uncomfortable, said that they were not specifically saving thar they
should sign up. but that they would certainly like them to. The fact was that they
clearly believed that they could not do it. I said that I had hoped, following the Prime
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Minister's conversations with the Taoiseach. that Irish officials w ould be willing to

put more pressure on the SDLP. O’Ceallaigh changed the subject.

4. O’Ceallaigh asked me how we now saw Trimble’s position. I said that it
seemed to me pretty bleak. There was a strong risk that during the next week or so
his opponents would try 1o get the withdrawal of UUP Ministers from the Executive
before the Election. It was hard to tell whether they would succeed, but at the very
least Trimble was likely to feel he had no option but to increase the pressure on
North/South. Part of the problem was that — for the best of motives — althouzh he had
been shown no papers, Trimble had been told about the outcomes we were yng ic
secure in negotiations with Sinn Féin. His expectations had been raised, and anything
less would now be easily discounted. In an effort to do the big deal, we had also
given Mallon some grounds for complaint, which he was now exploiting to the full.

O’Ceallaigh said that he could not disagree on either count.

BILL JEFFREY
11 Millbank & 6447
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From the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff 20 February 2001

( :Jv a‘u‘)

PRIME MINISTER’S PHONE CONVERSATION WITH THE
TAOISEACH

The Prime Minister rang the Taoiseach this afternoon.

The Prime Minister said he was seeing Trimble tomorrow before leaving
for the US. He was very worried that Trimble would tell him that he was going
to withdraw from the Executive. If that happened the Executive would go down;
and he couldn’t see how we would put the pieces back together again after that.
We urgently needed to go forward somehow. But Seamus Mallon had told John
Reid last night that the SDLP would not move on policing without Sinn Fein; and
Sinn Fein were showing no sign of shifting their position.

The Prime Minister said we had to break through this. He understood that
the SDLP would not want to go out on a limb on policing. But if everyone else -
the Irish Government, the Church, the GAA - were to support them, and if Sinn
Fein agreed not to attack them, he thought the SDLP should be able to move.
Indeed it made no sense for the SDLP themselves to allow Sinn Fein an effective
veto over any decision by them on policing.

The Taoiseach said he had met the SDLP last weekend, and was about to
see them again. He would explore the scope for getting them to move. There
had been some supportive articles in the Northern Ireland press, which should
have helped.

The Prime Minister said that if the SDLP were prepared to move now, we
had a better chance of getting Sinn Fein on board afterwards. That was the
pattern in agreeing the Good Friday Agreement. But the SDLP would need the
Taoiseach’s support. The Taoiseach said both he and Brian Cowen were satisfied
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that they could support the current policing proposals. He agreed that the
immediate focus should be on getting the SDLP to move. The Prime Minister
said that it might be possible to move on to a mini-deal with Sinn Fein whereby
they re-engaged with de Chastelain in return for David Trimble dropping his
sanctions on North/South bodies.

The Prime Minister said we would let the Taoiseach have a readout from
tomorrow’s meeting with Trimble. He stressed again the urgency of the situation
as he saw it. He and the Taoiseach agreed they should speak again after the US
trip.

Yo o
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JONATHAN POWELL

Paul Priestly
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DISCUSSION WITH BRIAN COWEN, 19 FEBRUARY

The Secretary of State had a telephone conversation with Brian Cowen earlier this

afternoon about the current political situation in Northern Ireland.

=4 The Secretary of State explained that he had arranged to meet Seamus Mallon

and a delegation from the SDLP later this evening. Since arranging this meeting, Sinn
Fein had also asked for a meeting. He intended to go through the SDLP’s difficulties on
policing with Seamus Mallon to see whether the party was prepared to come on board.
The SDLP’s demand for inquiries into Finucane, Hamill and Nelson was the main
remaining difficulty — but we hoped it would be possible to find a way through this

issue. If the SDLP were not prepared to come on board, then we would take the

opportunity to explain why we needed to proceed with 50/50 recruitment and the

disbandment of PANI. For police operational reasons we could no longer delay the

recruitment campaign.

3. Brian Cowen expressed disappointment about the attitude of Adams and

McGuinness. They had given a less than satisfactory response to the package worked
out by the two Governments. The Irish had taken a hard line with Sinn Fein and
insisted that they should reconsider their position. They had left Adams to sweat over
the weekend. They would continue to argue that real progress was available if Sinn

Fein were prepared to sign up for the deal.

4. Brian Cowen agreed that we should test whether the SDLP were prepared to

come on board and keep the show on the road. If they were not prepared to do so, the

two Governments would have to aim for a soft landing.
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S. The Secretary of State said HMG had gone beyond its bottom line in the

negotiations. A number of elements in the proposed deal would involve considerable
pain — in particular, OTRs was a ‘nightmare scenario’. We had therefore shown

considerable flexibility. Brian Cowen said the Irish Government accepted this. The

Secretary of State questioned whether Sinn Fein had decided to wait until after the

General Election before considering any movement. This would risk a further loss of
unionist support for the GFA and could encourage loyalist gunmen. Republicans might
feel forced to retaliate for any loyalist attacks and we would be into a downward spiral.

Brian Cowen agreed that this would be a high-risk strategy on Sinn Fein’s part.

0. The Secretary of State said he would try to ascertain from Sinn Fein whether any

deal was possible and, if so, what type of deal. They were likely to ask for the earth in
return for mere re-engagement with de Chastelain. We would also need to explain to
both Sinn Fein and the SDLP that - irrespective of whether we were able to achieve a

wider political deal — we needed to proceed on policing issues.

7. Brian Cowen said we needed to avoid another round of interminable discussions

with Sinn Fein. Our message should be that ‘decision time has arrived’. Sinn Fein
needed to understand that they were unlikely to find a similarly benign set of political
circumstances for reaching a deal. He hoped that Adams and McGuinness would start
to see that they needed to move. He reiterated that Sinn Fein should not be
encouraged to believe that they could re-open negotiations. If Sinn Fein were unable to
do the deal, the two Governments would need to manage the situation and bring the

process to a soft landing.

8. The Secretary of State said he would explore the possibility of meeting Brian

Cowen in Dublin on Thursday morning.

Paul Priestly

P G PRIESTLY
PS/Secretary of State
@ (B) 28110

(L) 6462
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Prime Minigter

NORTHERN IRELAND: NEXT STEPS

SUMMARY

I would go for a push on policing on Tuesday on two conditions: (1) provided
we have the Taoiseach on side, and (2) provided we don’t build up
expectations so much that failure to make progress on decommissioning
crashes the whole process. Our first task is to get policing on a sensible
footing, including launching the recruitment campaign. We can then turn our
attention to helping Trimble, either by persuading Sinn Féin to change their
minds on weapons, or by giving him enough cover - perhaps through a formal

review — to keep him in the Executive over the Election period.

Where we are now

Sinn Féin’s rejection of the deal yesterday could be both tactical and substantive.
My own sense is that it is not purely tactical, and that Adams and McGuinness
have hit some kind of barrier internally. As you said to the Taoiseach yesterday, it

is quite possible that decommissioning — even disguised in the concreting of dumps

— is beyond them, and that they have been using policing as an excuse and have

been surprised at how far we’ve been willing to go.

e d
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QOur short-term objectives

In my view, our objectives (in descending order of preference) now should be:

Ideally, to change Sinn Féin’s mind, but without running after them to
offer more, which would be a mistake. We should try to put pressure on
Sinn Féin, of the kind that stands the best chance of getting them to shift their
position. This does not mean excoriating them in public, but it does mean
exposing them to the consequences of their intransigence, and getting across

publicly the extent to which we have already moved in their direction.

If that proves impossible, to salvage what we can on policing by
persuading the SDLP to sign up for the Policing Board. The chances of
getting the SDLP on board for policing depend almost entirely on the attitude
of the Irish. I would be surprised if Bertie has not already been talked out of
his willingness last night to consider splitting the SDLP from Sinn Féin, or if
Seamus Mallon was willing to jump without Sinn Féin. But with Irish
support, I agree that it would be worth your coming to Northern Ireland, with
Bertie, on Tuesday. It would be important not to raise expectations,
particularly on decommissioning. Trimble would almost certainly feel bound

to react to a public crash against the buffers on decommissioning.

I will get you a separate note on what could be offered to persuade the SDLP to

join the Policing Board. I don’t think you should go as far as you did with

Sinn Féin. Some of their points — allowing ex-terrorists on DPPs, the Belfast

sub groups, OTRs - are of little interest to the SDLP, and would just infuriate

Y
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everyone else. You might not even offer a formal review of the legislation. It

will be more important to show some movement on inquiries, and I will reflect

on that over the weekend.

2.3 If that fails, to advance police reform as rapidly as we can without a new-
style Policing Board, and in particular to launch the necessary
recruitment campaign. If we can’t get the SDLP to join the Policing Board, we
will have no option but to go ahead with the policing reforms, but without the
Patten structures of accountability. We would either keep the existing Police
Authority on until either or both of the nationalist parties were willing to
nominate, or appoint interim Commissioners who might be viewed by
nationalists with less suspicion than the existing authority. I am looking

urgently at the options.

Whatever happens, we should not hold up the launch of recruitment
advertising at the end of next week. I attach a note explaining why we can’t
delay recruitment any longer. Ultimately it comes down to manpower. If we
don’t move now, we would lose a couple of months over the holiday period, and
by early next year police strength would have fallen below the minimum
envisaged by Patten, and well below what Ronnie Flanagan regards as
necessary. That would not be an acceptable outcome. Our first responsibility
is to provide an effective police force. Ronnie has spoken out publicly this
week, and if we deferred again his position would become impossible. The Irish
will not like the idea of our expecting potential nationalist recruits to apply
before the badge and the flag have been settled, but they are not at the

moment in a strong position to complain.
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2.4 Whatever the short term outcome, to keep the decommissioning issue in

play, and if possible keep the Executive in being until after the Election.

A soft landing on weapons and the institutions will be even more difficult to
achieve, if Sinn Féin stand firm. You were right to warn Bertie that Trimble
will now be under pressure to pull things down. But it is just possible that he
could successfully resist such pressure. Such is the negativism of Northern
Ireland politics, that he is, for the moment, reasonably comfortable in his
position of defiance, preventing the North/South institutions from working
properly and being seen to stand up to Sinn Féin. It was clear when I briefed
him on the emerging deal last week that he did not regard it as unmitigated
good news, and was concerned that there was too much in it for Sinn Féin, too
early, and against too uncertain a pay-off. A weak deal in which we were
perceived to have given away too much but Trimble was still expected to lift

his North/South sanction would be worse for Trimble than no deal at all.

My conclusion is that, if Sinn Féin won’t budge on weapons, we should try to
play the issue long, rather than bringing it to a head. But we should bear in
mind that as his March AGM approaches, Trimble is likely at the very least to
intensify the North/South sanction, which could provoke a reaction on the

other side.

J REID
, C1 February 2001

/
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.OQCE RECRUITMENT — WHY THE HURRY?

1.  Proceeding with police recruitment in the absence of a deal will be controversial. This note

explains why it is, nevertheless, so important.

What Patten said

2. In September 1999 the Patten report noted that there were 8,500 regulars and 2,900 in the full
time reserve, making a total of 11,400 full time officers (plus 1,300 in the part time reserve). His
recommendation was that the full time strength of 11,400 should be reduced over three years to 7,116,
after which it would build up again slightly to a stable level of 7,500 “provided the peace process does
not collapse and the security situation does not deteriorate significantly from the situation pertaining at
present”. Patten envisaged that the full time reserve would be “phased out over three years, after a
reasonable notice period, as officers’ contracts expired”. His calculations assume, therefore, that by

the end of year 3 the only reserve officers would be part timers.

3.  Patten’s proposal was for the part time strength of 1,300 to be increased to “up to 2,500
officers”. With Catholics constituting only 5% of the PTR (as opposed to 7% of the FTR and 8% of
the Regulars) Patten recommended that the new PTR officers should be recruited from
Catholic/nationalist areas. Patten goes on to say that “if these new reservists were recruited within,
say, four years, this would mean that regular and part time Catholic police officers combined would be
over 22%, nearly treble the present percentage, and the figure after 10 years would be 40%”. Catholic
recruitment to the PTR is central to the overall figures for Catholic police officers: Patten’s projection
was that the number of regular Catholic officers would be just under 17% after four years and 29%

after 10 years.

4.  Between the publication of Patten and now, the number of full time officers has declined by
nearly 600 to 8,353 regulars and 2,540 FTRs. A further 500 regulars are leaving under the severance
scheme by the end of March. Then, in the following 12 months there are expected to be a further 700
or so departures under phase 2 of the severance scheme. Even assuming natural wastage (medical
retirements etc) of only around 100 regulars, what this means is that, without further recruits, the
number of regulars would go below the lowest figure set by Patten (7,116), in the first quarter of

2002. The police estimate is that what they actually require is 8,179 regulars in the current
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.ecurity situation (plus 2,154 FTR). This is why the Chief Constable is so anxious: (a) not to box

himself in prematurely on the phasing out of the full time reserve and (b) to avoid further slippage in
recruitment, since officers who join in September will not be out on the streets until February/March

2002.

5.  Delaying recruitment would also trigger a greater requirement for Army support and a delay to

the start of the run-down of the FTR. Both would be nationalist unfriendly.

The critical path

6. Granted the general analysis, what is the specific penalty from a short delay in the recruitment
campaign? The police and Deloitte & Touche, the independent recruitment agency, assert that losing
even one more week now (the advertising has already been delayed by one week) would lose two

months down the track. Why? The key considerations are:

officers cannot be selected and brought in in batches because of the “merit pool”
arrangement which is needed to regulate the 50/50 recruitment process, the whole process

has to be completed before any of the 240 or so successful candidates are accepted;

the assessment centre process needs to be pretty well completed by the end of June to avoid
disruption (both for interviewers and candidates) over both the holiday and the peak of the

marching season;

there are seven stages to the recruitment process which, for equality proofing reasons, has to

be highly structured and formalised. There is no scope for short cuts;

the police themselves and an outside consortium led by Deloitte & Touche are managing the
recruitment process on the basis recommended by Patten, not the NIO and are not susceptible
to Ministerial instructions to concertina any of the stages (even if equality proofing did not

preclude this anyway);

CONFIDENTIAL
APDL/322




CONFIDENTIAL

. — this is already a risky and complex and ambitious process. It used to take the RUC 12

months to recruit an officer from scratch. In line with Patten, the contract stipulates 6

months.

Conclusion

7. At the end of the day there is no scientific means of demonstrating that there is an absolutely
irreducible minimum below which police manpower numbers must not fall at any point. But the Chief
Constable — who has demonstrated a remarkable flexibility on many other points - has now, publicly,
given his professional judgement that he can wait no longer. The high level of sectarian attacks, the
continued RIRA campaign and the shadow of Drumcree vividly illustrate the pressures he faces.
The present timetable is already extremely tight and, even now, the 240 recruits due to arrive in
September will not have completed their training before February/March 2002. Slippage now would
mean that they would not start operational duty before May 2002. Even assuming no increase in

present threat levels, to wait longer would be unacceptably risky.
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I thought I should write to you today following my return from Washington. I am doing
so in order to let you know that I am becoming increasingly concerned as to the manner
in which the negotiations with Sinn Fein and the SDLP have been carried out over the
past number of weeks.

The Rt Hon Tony Blair MP
i

The current round of meetings, which effectively began with President Clinton’s visit to
Northern Ireland on 13 December, have largely been conducted through intensive
bilateral contacts with Sinn Fein and the SDLP. Although you have met me on a number
of occasions to discuss progress, and Jonathan Powell has been in regular contact with
my officials, the degree of substantive and detailed contact with me has in reality been
extremely limited.

This contrasts strongly with the frequency and intensity of the discussions which have
taken place between the Governments and both Sinn Fein and the SDLP. The public
impression this has created is unhelpful. It has been reinforced by recent press reports of
ciandestine meetings between your Chief of Staff and representatives of SF/IRA, and
also by the public comments of the RUC Chief Constable and the Irish Government
giving the impression that they have been engaging in detailed negotiations with the
SDLP on the future shape of policing in Northern Ireland. I cannot emphasise to you too
strongly the damaging impression these reports create.

While I have at all times been mindful of the personal efforts you have made to try to
find a way through our current difficulties, I believe we are now coming to the point
where we may be forced to conclude that it may not be possible to make progress at this
time. In this context, I am mindful of the remark you made when I met you some weeks
ago when you indicated your determination that Sinn Fein/IRA would pay a ‘heavy
price’ if they were not prepared to honour their commitments under the Agreement. I
would find it helpful to know whether it remains your determination that the refusal of
Sinn Fein/IRA to honour the Agreement will not be without cost.




eo®
As you will know, I wrote to Seamus Mallon last week outlining my concerns for the
Agreement. I reminded him of the division of opinion within the majority community
regarding the Agreement, and of our expectation that his public commitment to make a
stand against any Party which dishonoured the Agreement was something upon which

we could depend - and not just so much rhetoric. I have yet to receive a reply to my
letter.

I believe that it is becoming increasingly obvious to everyone in Northern Ireland that
Sinn Fein/IRA are indeed behaving exactly as the Deputy First Minister sought to assure
us they would not. Rather than honour the commitments they made under the
Agreement, and the public assurances of good faith they have offered subsequently, Sinn
Fein/IRA have concentrated on pocketing for themselves the maximum sectoral
advantage available to them under the new political dispensation. At the same tiine, they
have shamelessly and immorally disregarded the burden of expectation placed upon them
to demonstrate their putative transition from violence to democracy. The effect of this,
taken together with the SDLP’s brazen attempt to push the policing reforms far beyond
what Parliament sanctioned, has had a most harmful effect upon the confidence of the
pro-Agreement Unionist community. My community sees in all of this a calculated
effort to hollow out from the Agreement all remaining manifestations of Britishness and
a flagrant disregard for Northern Ireland’s place within the United Kingdom. The result
is a leaching of support from the Agreement on an almost daily basis.

I hope you will accept that I have at all times endeavoured to honour the Agreement
notwithstanding the reservations I had regarding aspects of it. My colleagues and I have
applied ourselves to operating the institutions of the Agreement to the point where the
Irish Government publicly commended us for the co-operative spirit with which we have
operated the North-South dimension in particular.

My purpose in writing to you at this time is to suggest that we should now pause and take
stock. I believe it would be better to do this now rather than to embark upon some
further hasty initiative. The danger is that any further efforts to secure SDLP or Sinn
Fein movement could only be achieved at a price which would not be in the public
interest and which would be entirely unacceptable to my Party.

I would find it helpful if we could meet soon to discuss my concerns.

RT HON DAVID TRIMBLE MP MLA
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I thought I should write to you today following my return from Washington. I am doing
so0 in order to let you know that I am becoming increasingly concerned as to the manner
in which the negotiations with Sinn Fein and the SDLP have been carried out over the
past.number of weeks.

The current round of meetings, which effectively began with President Clinton’s visit to
Northern Ireland on 13 December, have largely been conducted through intensive
bilateral contacts with Sinn Fein and the SDLP. Although you have met me on a number
of occasions to discuss progress, and Jonathan Powell has been in regular contact with
my officials, the degree of substantive and detailed contact with me has 1n reality been
extremely limited.

This contrasts strongly with the frcquency and intensity of the discussions which have
taken place between the Governments and both Sinn Fein and the SDLP. The public
impression this has created is unhelpful. It has been reinforced by recent press reports of
clandestine meetings between your Chief of Staff and representatives of SF/IRA, and
also by the public comments of the RUC Chief Constable and the Irish Government
giving the impression that they have been engaging in detailed negotiations with the
SDLP on the future shape of policing in Northern Ireland. I cannot emphasise to you too
strongly the damaging impression these reports create.

While I have at all times been mindful of the personal efforts you have made to try to
find a way through our current difficulties, I believe we are now coming to the point
where we may be forced to conclude that it may not be possible to make progress at this
time. In this context, I am mindful of the remark you made when I met you some weeks
ago when you indicated your determination that Sinn Fein/[RA would pay a ‘heavy
pricc’ if they were not prepared to honour their commitments under the Agreement. [
would find it helpful to know whether it remains your determination that the refusal of
Sinn Fein/IRA to honour the Agreement will not be without cost.
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As you will know, I wrote to Seamus Mallon last week outlining my concemns for the
Agreement. I reminded him of the division of opinion within the majority community
regarding the Agreement, and of our expectation that his public commitment to make a
stand against any Party which dishonoured the Agreement was something upon which
we could depend - and not just so much rhetoric. I have yet to receive a reply to my
letter. '

I believe that it 1s becoming increasingly obvious to everyone in Northern Ireland that
Sinn Fein/IRA are indeed behaving exactly as the Deputy First Minister sought to assure
us they would not. Rather than honour the commitments they made under the
Agreement, and the public assurances of good faith they have offered subsequently, Sinn
Fein/IRA have concentrated on pocketing for themselves the maximum sectoral
advantage available to them under the new political dispensation. At the same time, they
have shamelessly and immorally disregarded the burden of expectation placed upon them
to demonstrate their putative transition from violence to democracy. The effect of this,
taken together with the SDLP’s brazen attempt to push the policing reforms far beyond
whar Parliament sanctioned, has had a most harmful effect upon the confidence of the
pro-Agreement Unionist community. My community sees in all of this a calculated
effort to hollow out from the Agreement all remaining manifestations of Britishness and
a flagrant disregard for Northern Ireland’s place within the United Kingdom. The result
is a leaching of support from the Agreement on an almost daily basis.

I hope you will accept that I have at all imes endeavoured to honour the Agreement
notwithstanding the reservations I had regarding aspects of it. My colleagues and I have
applied ourselves to operating the institutions of the Agreement to the point where the
Irish Government publicly commended us for the co-operative spirit with which we have
operated the North-South dimension in particular.

My purpose in writing to you at this time is to suggest that we should now pause and take
stock. I believe it would be better to do this now rather than to embark upon some
further hasty initiative. The danger is that any further efforts to secure SDLP or Sinn
Fein movement could only be achievced at a price which would not be in the public
interest and which would be entirely unacceptable to my Party.

I would find it helpful if we could meet soon to discuss my concerns.

s 1
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PS/Secretary of State (B&L)

TODAY’S 6.00PM MEETING WITH SDLP

You already have a copy of the more forward text on Inquirics, whic* vour office
sent, with No 10’s agreement, to Mallon’s office at lunchtime. Robin Misefield hes
also sent you scparately extracts of the revised draft implemeniaticn pllan whi:k

could be handed to the SDLP team.

<. I'have set out below a possible line to take with Mallon. Ther: are Ao
significant points which I should flag up - on inviting farther s pplications vg the
Policing Board and a possible review of the legislation. We nidicied (- Sinn Fein
that we were prepared to iavite further applications for indepenceat e bars 1.

the Board if Sinn Fein and the SDLP signed up. There is an even sucnge: cas

doing this if the SDLP are prepared to go it alone. So [ zssume 12¢ Secret

would be prepared to concede the point as part of a deal. This cces. 10w ¢
potential timing problem in that if an election were called for Vlay we cowd net be
cenfident of completing the process and announcing appointments before the pre-

¢lection purda came into operation,

3. Similarly I have assumed that the Secretary of State would ¢onceds a 12 1oth

review of the legislation to Seamus Mallon if he wanted one (theugh “without

commitment as to cutcome). It seems better to give Mallon the <redit for a rev ey,
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also'prqvide a wayiout for Sinn Fein in due covrse, tharn ©

aneg about :.
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extracted frém us as a goncession at spme later date. Trimbls is also re

y

review so long as the téims of referenge are not prejudicial.
2ast &

If the

\

Secretary of State agrees, the approach to Mallon might be .

: Thanks for seeing me at short notice. When we had our seyi

disqussibns a couple of weeks back I thought tha: vwe voult
matters to a head by now. Our aim all along has been to 1y
breakthrough on all the big political issues, including “olic
de commissfoning, in order to rebuild confidence zod stabili
p

an
v
hard on this.

litical institutions. Those efforts continue, bu: the prosy:
d comprehensive breakthrough have recedad o/er the pas

ery frustrating for us and for the Irish Gevernmznt who he

Mzanwhile time marches on. The Chief Constab ¢ is in des
additional policing manpower. No recruitinent czrapargn

Numbers set to tumble fast over the next 12 montrs, Can -

further. Unless the campaign starts this Fr day we shall loss

of a couple of months if not more. That means insiead of ¢:

in in September they would not start training before Noven

no: be available for operational duty until April ¢1r May next

too slow for the operational needs in the real world A4 it

securing the change in the composition of the policz fosce tg

all committed.

I'he ideal solution would be to launch the recruitiment carns g

back of a decision by your party and Sinn Fein to ¢in { 1 Po

Thes % < . i :
'hey have now said that they can’t sign up now d« spite oury

20 a long way towards addressing the concerns the

adve re

that creates a very difficult situation for you. Butin our sazli
discussions we went a long way to close the caps o the d

plementation and timing issues. [ am prepared t
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more we can do on your other points of concern. And the Prime

Minister would be willing to come over here at shorl notice fonorrow

agy 6 SV OT

if there is a chance that you can sign up. [f you cannot 3ee 8 way

: (.Qm‘ing on the Policing Board this side of a general election then we i2ed
{4 find\a way of,léeeping all the issues in play until then. In the imeantite
{he recruitment campaign will have to proceed. By far the betier coutse
would be to proceed with SDLP support. What are 12 obstacics?

Historic opportunity etc....

[Seek initial reaction. Subject to that hand round revised implementation
nlan extract] Are there any points here which require fiu-ther i seussion?
With the Chief Constable we have stretched as far ac ‘we can cn the
(ough holding centre and special branch. Recogruse there ai¢ one cl
two other areas (full-time reserve, symbolic issues) where yor would
srefer absolute certainty now but I genuinely cannot ;o iy further, nor
~ill 1 be able to in a few weeks time. We have met e substarce of your

-oncerns. [Invite discussion].

I'hat leaves three other important areas. Orne concers ij poiiimenl
independent members to the Policing Board. The selestior process
with independent members was all but completed belore Choisioas I

has been on ice since then. There is an argument that s0r7e sl alle
\ationalists may have been deterred from applying by the rescrvators tha.
vour party and Sinn Fein had. So, if it would make 2 difference
sarticularly in a situation where you but not Sinn Fein wore o2 the board -
[ would be willing to reopen the application process [ 01¢et f: gave
Surselves a wider choice. I would need a positive d seision to nominate

political members to the Board first;

Secondly, there is the question of reviewing the legislation. "~ rimble tas
said publicly that the operation of the legislation should be reviewsd afier
2 while. Sinn Fein have wanted something much more s secilic witk

commitments over what the legislation would inchude. Teao | ATEEG 3
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blank cheque, but if it helped you, I would be prepared to give a

commitraent to a review of the legislation after 12 ronil:;

Thirdly on inquiries sorry if there was a mix up over who wan gomg 1o
produce another form of words. You now have a new version (eleared by

No 10). The key new words are that when the investigations “and any

subsequent proceedings are concluded, th: Governmeaat recognises it

cesponsibility to take such further steps as may then e roguired to
meet continuing public concern”. That goss furtber than mere

willingness to consider.

T have thought hard about whether we could go even further thax that and
sive a conditional promise of an inquiry, say in the Hamill case. The
srotlem is simply, as I explainsd before, that none 2f us can snow vaat
will come out of the ongoing investigations. Nuala O Loan’s
involvement in the Hamill case has undoubtedly shaken thing: up. s
still entirely possible that prosecutions and or disciplinary proceecings
will result. Even if a commitment to an inquiry now “was not or apadasal
t0 any such proceedings, it is hard to see that it woL 14 really make sease
[t’s ‘ust too soon to know whether an inquiry is neeied end i’ s¢ what sort
of inquiry. The key thing that we are preparc (0 gve¢ now, for the first
time, is an explicit recognition of our responsibility to tace s.h Auther
steps as may be required to meet continuing public concerr o1

proceedings or the prospect of proceedings.are over.

'If asked about Police Authority: If cannot get the Polic ng Boare vz and
running by 1 April, as now looks likely, I shall need to consider whethe
10 invite PANI to remain in place for a while longer or vi nether Lo rusdes

some other short term interim arrangement. |

(Signed)

William Fittall
11 Millbank B 6469 (Castle Buildings ® Ext.22885)
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The Rt Hon Dr John Reid MP '19 FEB 2001
Northern Ireland Office

11 Millbank

London SW1

(
“ON THE RUNS” : PRE-CONVICTION PARDONS

I was grateful for sight of the correspondence that has arisen from a suggestion by the Irish
Auorney General that the Royal Prerogatxve of Mercy could be used to grant pardons in the
outstanding “On the Runs” cases.

Whilst it is the case that the Crown does have the right to pardon before conviction, this practice
has fallen into disuse - I understand that the last time that the Royal Prerogative was used in this
way was in 1891. I share the belief of Gareth Williams and Peter Mandelson that to revive this
practice for “On the Runs” would be highly contentious and would run the risk of challenge in
the courts with the added potential issue of courts requiring the disclosure of related
Government papers.

As you will be aware from our recent correspondence about the issue of whether to drop
extradition proceedings in these cases, I am inclined to the view that these cases should be dealt
with by means of either a legislative amnesty or alternatively by an administrative scheme.

I am copying this letter to the Prime W and to Gareth Williams.

i
Rk

JACK STRAW
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PRIVATE TEXT

LEGISLATIVE PROPOSALS

Sections 24 and 27

Long-term policing objectives and
codes of practice

Section 25(2)

Board’s medium-term objectives

Section 59(3)(d)

Section 60(3)(d)

Schedule 3 paragraph 8(2)

Independent membership of DPPs

Sections 20 to 23

Public meetings of Board and DPPs

fa-eaps\legislative

Amend to bring out that in each
case the Secretary of State is to
consult the Board and others with a
view to reaching agreement.

Board to “take account of” long-
term objectives in drawing up
policing objectives

Delete

Delete

Disqualification to be removed

Government publicly committed
to Patten approach.
Recommendation on DPP public
meetings will be covered in Board
code of practice. Public meetings
of Board already covered in
Schedule 1




Section 21(2)

Belfast DPP sub-groups

Section 1

Name

fa-eaps\legislative

fa-eaps\legislative

Expand functions, for example to
include the function set out in

Section 16(1)(c).

Clarification of the name if
required.




The position on the specific points which Sinn Fein have raised is as follows:

New Oath

The Act sets out the need for all serving and new police officers to carry out their
duties in accordance with the terms of the new Oath thus putting all officers on
the same footing. It is the intention that a record will be made in each case
confirming that the new oath has been drawn to the officer’s attention and that
he/she understands the need to act in accordance with it. The oath is declaratory:
sanctions apply to non-observance of the code of ethics. The code will be
binding on all officers and will be reflected in regulations relating to conduct and
discipline. In preparing the new code the Chief Constable and Board are
required to have regard to the terms of the new Oath.

Badges, Flags and Emblems

On badges and flags, the Secretary of State will consult the Board and others, as
required in the legislation, before reaching a decision. The aim is to secure
consensus in the Board. If this is not achieved the Government will not propose
a solution which would deter recruits or be objectionable to a substantial part of
the community: the Government’s bottom line will be the same as Patten’s.

Oversight Commissioner

The Oversight Commissioner will be responsible for overseeing the
implementation of changes in policing arrangements and structures recommended
in the Patten Report. The Oversight Commissioner has already circulated a full
report setting out the methodology by which he and his team will carry out their
task. The Government has accepted the report. The Oversight Commissioner
will monitor progress with implementation; will report at least three times a year,
and will be able to draw attention to shortcomings in implementation and make
recommendations. This could include recommendations for changes in the
legislation if the Commissioner concluded that aspects of the Act were inhibiting
the new beginning to policing as envisaged in the Good Friday Agreement.

Time-Limit for Complaints and References to Ombudsman

Under the Police Act 2000 the powers of the Ombudsman have been extended
and the Government is ensuring that the office will be adequately staffed and
resourced. The Ombudsman has unprecedented powers which will enable her to

fa-eaps\points raised by Sinn Fein




initiate investigations into individual complaints, and arising from them, draw
attention to police practices and policies which raise difficulties. She may carry
out research for this purpose. She will also have powers of retrospection. The
Government will make regulations under the Police Act extending the
circumstances under which the Ombudsman may deal with complaints dating
back more than two years, to cover cases which she considers grave or
exceptional and which involve new evidence. In a case which has already been
the subject of a complaint, the Ombudsman will be able to consider whether
evidence about the adequacy of any earlier investigation constitutes new
evidence.

In this context, the Ombudsman will be supplied by the Chief Constable and the
Policing Board with such information and documents as she may require.

We referred previously to the substance of the draft Police Complaints
Regulations, to be made under the 1998 Act as amended. Copies of the
Regulations were made available during the passage of legislation. The
regulations have yet to be finalised and are subject to further consideration with
interested parties. A copy of the latest draft has already been provided.

Demilitarisation of buildings, vehicles etc

Patten made a series of recommendations on normalisation. These include
making the appearance of police stations and of police vehicles less forbidding, a
reduced role for the Army, closure of interrogation centres, the creation of a
routinely unarmed police service, and the early phasing out of reliance on
emergency legislation. Implementation of these recommendations has begun and
will be advanced as quickly as conditions allow. We confirm that
implementation of these recommendations will be subject to the scrutiny of the
Oversight Commissioner.

Police Reserve

The Government is fully committed to phasing out the Full Time Reserve, as
recommended by Patten, as soon as possible, taking account of the overall
manpower situation in the light of the security situation. The process has, in
effect, begun and numbers are decreasing. The strength of the Full Time
Reserve has been reduced by over 600 and there has been no recruitment for
three years. It is projected to fall by a further 700 over the next two years,
producing an overall reduction of over 40 per cent. This takes no account of the

fa-eaps\points raised by Sinn Fein




non-renewal of contracts, which will be a further step. We want this process to
start, if possible, once the first new recruits start operational service in early
2002. The timescale is inevitably bound up with some difficult contractual issues
which require further discussion with the Police Federation. We also aim to
initiate the recruitment of an enlarged Part Time Reserve this year. The aim
would be to bring the service up to 2,500 within three years of start up.

Special Branch and its support units

The Government and the Chief Constable have accepted all of the Patten
recommendations in relation to Special Branch. The Chief Constable has
announced his intention to bring Special Branch and the Crime Department under
a single Assistant Chief Constable from 1 April. The Patten Report identifies
850 officers being attached to Special Branch. By March 2001 the Chief
Constable expects to reduce this figure to around 765, a reduction of some ten
per cent. The Chief Constable then aims, by September 2001, to amalgamate
into the wider police service those units commonly referred to as support units
(Patten recommendation 101). These units include support teams, including
training, technical and air support units. This would by that stage have reduced
Special Branch by over 40 per cent.

It is intended that the new tenure policy for the service will be finalised by
September 2001. This would include an objective of five to seven years, with a
maximum continuous period of the order of seven years for officers deployed in
Special Branch.

Public order equipment

The Government has accepted and is implementing all the Patten
recommendations in relation to Plastic Baton Rounds. The terms of reference of
a research programme have been published. The conclusions of the first phase of
the programme will also be published in the new few weeks. The next phase will
involve preparation of research proposals. The Government will urgently
advance the research programme recommended by Patten to find an acceptable
alternative to plastic baton rounds. In the meantime, the use of plastic baton
rounds will be avoided to the maximum extent. This area will be subject to
scrutiny by the Oversight Commissioner.
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Human rights offenders within the RUC

The Government agrees with the Patten Report (paragraph 5.19) that “bad
apples” need to be dealt with. The Ombudsman has unprecedentedly wide
powers to investigate complaints and individual cases and to provide an
appropriate remedy. She has powers to initiate an investigation even if no
specific complaint has been received, but where she believes that a criminal or
disciplinary offence may have been committed under section 55 of the Police Act
1998. The regulations will provide for her to investigate cases arising before her
office was established. There are just on 100 staff in her office. As already
noted, the Government is committed to ensuring that her office is adequately
resourced.

fa-eaps\points raised by Sinn Fein




BRITISH GOVERNMENT’S STATEMENT ON POLICING
ACCOMPANYING PUBLICATION OF UPDATED IMPLEMENTATION
PLAN

[This text reflects Sinn Fein and SDLP concerns. As the Prime Minister has
made clear, the final version will need to reflect concerns of other parties once
they have been brought into discussions.]

It is over two and a half years since the signing of the Good Friday Agreement
and some 15 months since the publication of the report by the Independent
Commission on Policing (the Patten Report) which had its origins in that
Agreement.

The Government fully accepts, as described in the Good Friday Agreement, that
it is

Essential that policing structures and arrangements are such that the
police service is professional, effective and efficient, fair and impartial,
free from partisan political control: accountable, both under the law for its

actions and to the community it serves; representative of the society it
polices, and operates within a coherent and co-operative criminal justice
system, which conforms with human rights norms.

That remains the Government’s steadfast goal.

The Government is fully committed to the vision of the new beginning in
policing. It wishes to see a police service that is supported by both traditions, is
effective and enjoys the confidence of all sections of the community in Northern
Ireland.

The Police Act 2000 and an updated Implementation Plan, that is being published
today, lay the ground work and establish a road map for the implementation of
the Patten recommendations. In its consultation with those directly involved in
implementation and others, the Government acknowledges that concerns have
been raised. The point has been made by many that in an unprecedentedly large
programme of this magnitude, greater certainty was required.

The Plan covers all 175 of the Patten Report recommendations. Significant
progress has already been made in many areas. For example, the Ombudsman’s
Office is now fully operational (and she will shortly be given further powers).




Two of the holding centres have been closed. An external agency has been
appointed to conduct recruitment to the police and the process for appointments
to the Policing Board has begun.

The Plan has been updated to take account of points raised by the parties and of
the substantial work which the Chief Constable and his colleagues have done to
prepare for the new service, against a tight timetable and in the face of continuing
policing pressures. Further steps will take place shortly. By April the
recruitment campaign will be launched to attract new regular trainees on a 50-50
basis. - They will begin training in September. District Policing Partnerships will
be set up by the end of 2001. They (and their sub-groups in Belfast) will
interface with the Police District Commands which will be established in April.
The objective is to bring about effective community policing and the DPPs will
play a crucial role in achieving this.

The Implementation Plan will provide clearer timetables for increasing the Part-
time Reserve and phasing out the Full-Time Reserve. Gough holding centre will
close in the next few months, once alternative accommodation is available. The
Special Branch and CID will be brought together under the management of one
Assistant Chief Constable in April. The aim is for the redeployment of support

units to take place this year and for a new tenure policy to be operational by
September. The Plan makes plain the commitment to establish a human rights-
based approach to policing, accountable against defined standards. The Plan also
sets out the Government’s position in relation to the important symbolic issues.

Underpinning the Plan is the Government’s determination to maintain law and
order through the development of a police service and which gains strength from
more widespread community support.

The Government is now taking steps to set up a Policing Board which will be
representative of the community in Northern Ireland. The Policing Board will,
alongside the Ombudsman, have powers that are without precedent in the United
Kingdom, in the Republic of Ireland, in Europe or America. It will determine
objectives for the policing of Northern Ireland and it will issue the policing plan.
It will be empowered to call for reports from the Chief Constable on matters
connected with policing, including performance against the policing plan, and to
initiate inquiries.




On the basis set out in this document and the implementation plan, the
Government welcomes the commitment given by the parties represented in the
Executive to nominate members to the Policing Board.

All these steps are the start of a process of change. The Government will want to
keep the effectiveness of the new arrangements under close and constant review.
The Oversight Commissioner will monitor progress on implementation and will
report at least three times a year.

In addition, after the first twelve months of operation, the Government will ask
the Oversight Commissioner to carry out a comprehensive review of
implementation thus far, in the course of which he will be able to identify any
shortcomings in the Police Act 2000 in bringing about the new beginning in
policing and in providing an effective Police Service, able to do its job, and
acceptable to all parts of the community. In conducting this review, the
Oversight Commissioner will consult closely with the Policing Board, the Chief
Constable, DPPS, political parties and other organisations in Northern Ireland.
The Policing Board will also be invited to express views direct to the
Government on the legislation after twelve months of operation. The British
Government is aware of the concerns that have been expressed that the
Government’s legislation does not fully implement the letter and spirit of the
Patten report and deliver the new police service we all want. These concerns
include, in particular, the tripartite arrangements for accountability and the
powers of the Policing Board, disqualification from independent membership of
DPPs, extension of the functions of the Belfast DPP subgroups and clarification
of the name if required. We make it clear that the Government will amend
legislation to remedy each of these and other concerns in keeping with Patten as
rapidly as possible after the conclusion of the review in [June 2002].

Now is the time for the whole community to demonstrate commitment to the new
beginning to policing. That calls for unequivocal support for and co-operation
with the new police service, and the encouragement of young people to join the
police. By participating in this way, the whole community can together help to
shape the future. For it is only through cross-community support, at local,
district and national level, that the vision can and will be delivered.
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DRAFT
STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF CONSTABLE

The Chief Constable today announced that he had conducted an assessment of the

overall security threat and had concluded, in consultation with the GOC, that,
notwithstanding a significant ongoing threat by the dissidents, today’s events

represent a real lowering of the overall threat. This, he said, assuming that all
the commitments given today are honoured, makes appropriate the following
steps which would be taken as soon as logistically possible:

demolition of the supersangar at Newtonhamilton Police Station adjacent to
the helicopter landing site;

demolition of Magherafelt army base;

demolition of the observation tower on Sturgan Mountain and one of the
observation towers on Camlough Mountain.

Fa-eaps/statement by cc




IMPLEMENTATION GROUP

Creation of an informal Implementation Group; to comprise senior officials from
Irish Government and British Government.

Remit:

To meet privately to liaise and exchange information on an ongoing basis, and
monitor the implementation of commitments made, including on policing,
security normalisation, OTRs and the issue of arms.

To report progress and identify outstanding commitments.

To agree, where possible, actions and remedies to meet outstanding commitments
and report differences to Ministers.

To meet fortnightly and more regularly as required.

To report to the British Prime Minister and An Taoiseach, not later that 72 hours
after each meeting.

Representatives of Sinn Fein to be involved in meetings.

A dedicated representative from the two Governments and Sinn Fein to liaise and
exchange information on an ongoing basis, between meetings.

cos\implementation group
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STEPS TO PUTTING WEAPONS BEYOND USE

Statement by IRA announcing re-engagement with IICD for the
purpose of agreeing how weapons will be put completely and
verifiably beyond use. IICD report that re-engagement has

taken place and that these discussions are under way.

IICD announces that agreement reached on how weapons to be

put beyond use.

IICD report that weapons put beyond use in the manner agreed

with the IICD.

Private undertaking to the Prime Minister on the timetable on
which all three steps will take place, with the first putting of

weapons beyond use by Easter.

cos\steps to putting weapons beyond use




Policing

Sinn Fein and SDLP to nominate political members to the
Policing Board by end January for the purpose of making

preparations for the assumption of its powers by the Policing

Board, including advising the Secretary of State on the new

service’s badge and flag-flying policy.

cos\policing
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From the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff 16 February 2001

Deaa - PMQ.,

NORTHERN IRELAND: CONVERSATION BETWEEN THE PRIME
MINISTER AND THE TAOISEACH

The Prime Minister spoke to Bertie Ahern on the telephore this evening.
The Taoiseach said he was fed up with Sinn Fein. We had wasied five wesks.
He believed that we could do no more and had instructed his people 1o take the
~eekend off, He understood that the Sinn Fein high commaend wer2 meeting al’
day today. He had also heard that Sinn Fein had warned Scamus Mallon’s
assistant that they should not do a deal on policing unless they wanied to set the
peace process back 50 years. He was prepared to try to get the SDLP. the GAx
and the Catholic Church to move on policing. He would spzak (o Mallon aver
the weekend.

The Prime Minister asked what the Taoiseach thought had happened. The
Taoiseach said he thought the IRA had simply said no to puti ing weapons beyond
use before Easter. As far as he was concerned we could not move on that ke
thought we should let Sirm Fein sweat it out over the weekeod. The Irish would
not be speaking to them. He had said today in Donegal that we could not wait
around for ever for people to clarify their position. He was not. certzin that the
SDLP would be brave cnough to move but we should try.

The Prime Minister said that if Sinn Fein thought tha: the SDLE were
about to move that might concentrate their minds. The Taoisesch said That we
might hear back from Sinn Fein next week. They would nct like beirg isol ated.
The Prime Minister said he would ask John Reid to speak to Searus Mal.on over
the weekend as well. If we made no progress David Trimble would bie & ‘gonst’
at the elections.

The Prime Minister said one possibility would be a mini deal wherzby the
IRA re-engaged with de Chastelain, the SDLP signed up to the Policing poarc.
and Sinn Fein remained necutral on policing. The Prime Minister thought it migh:
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be possible for Trimble to get through the election on that basis. The Tagiseach
agreed. It was quite possible that Sinn Fein would come back 1o us next weel to
ask for a mini deal. It might therefore be possible to get the SDILP to move on
policing. The Prime Minister said we ought to keep open the possibibry ef
himself and the Taoiseach going to Belfast on Tuesday to see if they could roaks
progress with the SDLP. The Taoiseach agreed and suggested they stould speak:
again on Monday .

[ am copying this letter to Bill Jeffrey (Northern Ireland Officz).

Youws ewer,

7Y JONATHAN POWELL

Paul Priestly
NIO
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Prime Minister

NORTHERN IRELAND: NEXT STEPS

SUMMARY

1 would go for a push on policing on Tuesday on two conclitions: {1) prowided
we have the Taoiseach on side, and (2} provided we cdowt build up
expectations so much that failure to make progress on decomrsistinning
crashes the whole process. Our first task is to get policing on a sensible
footing, including launching the recruitment campaign. W: ca: then turn our
attention to helping Trimble, either by persuading Sinn Fiin 1o clunge their
minds on weapous, or by giving him enough cover ~ perhap: torough a teraanl

review - to keep him in the Executive over the Election periadl.

Where we are now

Sinn Féin’s rejection of the deal yesterday could be both tactica. an: suhstiiie,
My own sense is that it is not purely tactical, and that Adap:s & wd Moduinness
have hit some kind of barrier internally. As you said to the lavise:zca yesterday, 1t
is quite possible that decommissioning — even disguised in he core eting of cumps
~ 1s beyond them, and that they have been using policing as an ¢xcuase ancd hava

been surprised at how far we've been willing to go.
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Qur short-term objectives

2. In my view, our objectives {in descending order of preference) rov, shoulc he:

2.1 Ideally, to change Sinn Féin’s mind, but without running after them to
offer more, which would be a mistake. We shoul¢ try to put pressare or.
Sinn Féin, of the kind that stands the best chance of gattirg th.on: te shi ther
position. This does not mean excoriating them in public Lut it coes mozarn
exposing them to the consequences of their intransigence, and g2uiing accoss

publicly the extent to which we have already moved in their dirzciior.

If that proves impossible, to salvage what we can on policing by
persuading the SDLP to sign up for the Policing Board. The charces of
getting the SDLP on beoard for policing depend almost zntie'v cn the a:t.nude
of the Irish. I would be surprised if Bertie has not aready zecon malced out of
his willingness last night to consider splitting the SDLP {-omx Sirn Eén, ot of
Seamus Mallon was willing to jump without Sinn Féir. I3at with [cdch
support, I agree that it would be worth your coming <o Nertha i reand, with
Bertie, on Tuesday. It would be important not to rais: expecations,
particularly on decommissioning. Trimble would almcst zertz.uly “2el 2o

to react to a public crash against the buffers on decommiss iy,

I will get you a separate note on what could be offered to persaics tae SIILP w0
join the Policing Board. 1 don’t think you should go zs far ¢35 you did with
Sinn Féin. Some of their points - allowing ex-terrorists on 1313Ps, the Belfs:s:
sub groups, OTRs -~ are of little interest to the SDLP, a-d vor.d jast indurias:
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everyone else. You might not even offer a formal revizw of the lepislaton. It

will be more important to show some movement on inqu:ries, anc. | will reflect

on that over the weekend.

2.3 If that fails, to advance police reform as rapidly as we cain without . new-
style Policing Board, and in particular to launch the ueccessary
recruitment campaign. If we can’t get the SDLP to join the ulicing Boacc, vie
will have no option but to go ahead with the policing reforms, buu witheuar e
Patten structures of accountability. We would either kced trz existing Palice
Authority on until either or both of the nationalist parties “wvere willing to
nominate, or appoint interim Commissioners who mught bs viewed by
nationalists with less suspicion than the existing autharitv. [ @n leoking

urgently at the options.

Whatever happens, we should not hold up the launch of rzeruitment
advertising at the end of next week. T attach a note exp aini:g why ae cant
delay recruitment any longer. Ultimately it comes down to rranpeaes. 17 e
don’t move now, we would lose a couple of months over the heliclay period, z.2.d
by early next year police strength would have fallen bzlovw e mirivow.on
envisaged by Patten, and well below what Ronnie Fan:pan regatds as
necessary. That would not be an acceptable outcome. Our {irs: “espons;ibi. Ly
is to provide an effective police force. Ronnie has spokzn cuar publicls this -
week, and if we deferred again his position would becomre tinpessible. The Lnsa
will not like the idea of our expecting potential nat:o:al st rocniits te apoy
before the badge and the flag have been settied, cul (hiey aze n:t st t-e
moment in a strong position to complain.
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2.4 Whatever the short term outcome, to keep the decominisisionin: issue i

play, and if possible keep the Executive in being until after the Election,

A soft landing on weapons and the institutions will be evarn nove difiicult to

achieve, if Sinn Féin stand firm. You were right to warn Eertic that Trirmis

will now be under pressure to pull things down. But it is juis: posaibie tlhar he

could successfully resist such pressure. Such is the nega:irsiz o Nerthesr
Ireland politics, that he is, for the moment, reasoncbly ccrafortabie i Fig
position of defiance, preventing the North/South instituiions frors wcvkang
properly and being seen to stand up to Sinn Féin. It was clear wher I oriefed
him on the emerging deal last week that he did not regacd 1t as aoaritigatad
good news, and was concerned that there was too much i it fcr Sian Féin, oo
early, and against too uncertain a pay-off. A wezk decl ir which w: were
perceived to have given away too much but Trimblz was still expected to il

his North/South sanction would be worse for Trimble tsar. rao leal at all.

My conclusion is that, if Sinn Féin won’t budge on weapor.s, we shoulé try 10
play the issue long, rather than bringing it to a head. Bu: we stin:ld bear in
mind that as his March AGM approaches, Trimble is lizelv at k2 verv lrast 10
intensify the North/South sanction, which could provoks a reactizn an toe

other side.

J REID
February 2001
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CONFIDENTIAL

OLICE RECRUITMENT - WHY THE HURRY?

1. Proceeding with police recruitment in the absence of a deal will be controvers . Twsnote

zxplains why it is, nevertheless, so important.
What Patten said

2. In September 1999 the Patten report noted that there were 8,500 regulars ard 900 irc tha £l
time reserve, making a total of 11,400 full time officers (plus 1,300 in the part tirae ec2rv2). s
recommendation was that the full time strength of 11,400 should be reduccd o2 tiree years 10 7,116,
after which it would build up again slightly to a stable level of 7,500 “provide:l the peuce process does
not collapse and the security situation does not deteriorate significantly frorn the sination pesta ring 3:
present”. Patten envisaged that the full time reserve would be “phased out over thr:ie vears, after a
reasonable notice period, as officers’ contracts expired”. His calculations assure. therefi -2, taal 5

the end of year 3 the only reserve officers would be part timers.

3. Patten’s proposal was for the part time strength of 1,300 to be increased io “up- ts 2,300
officers”. With Catholics constituting only 5% of the PTR (as opposed ¢ 7% of th:: FTR ard 8} of
the Regulars) Patten recommended that the new PTR officers should be recruited tron:
Catholic/nationalist areas. Patten goes on to say that “if these new reservists wers resruited wit s g,
say, four years, this would mean that regular and part time Catholic police oftizzrs conbmed woidd b

s

over 22%, nearly treble the present percentage, and the figure after 10 years woald Lz 5)% * Carhalic
recruitment to the PTR is central to the overall figures for Catholic police o Ticers Fanen’s projesticon
was that the number of regular Catholic officers would be just under 17% altet cur veass ard 2934

after 10 years.

4. Between the publication of Patten and now. the number of full time offic2-s hes declnzd by
nearly 600 to 8,353 regulars and 2,540 FTRs. A further 500 regulars arz jczving vrdei the szvernce
scheme by the end of March. Then, in the following 12 months there are expeced o e @ futther 704
or so departures under phase 2 of the severance scheme. Even assuming natural wisizge (nedical
retirements ¢tc¢) of only around 100 regulars, what this means is that, without further recruits, the
number of regulars would go below the lowest figure set by Paiten (7,116). m the first cuatar of
2002. The police estimate is that what they actually require is 8,179 regulius in the current
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-ecurity situation (plus 2,154 FTR). This is why the Chief Constable s so anxious ( not e bey
himself in prematurely on the phasing out of the full time reserve and (b) 1¢ avo d firther stippa e in
recruitment, since officers who join in September will not be out on the stevets tnti) el e~/ March

2002.

5. Delaying recruitment would also trigger a greater requirement for Army stp: act and adela =

the start of the run-down of the I'TR. Both would be nationalist urfrienciy.

The critical path

6.  Granted the general analysis, what is the specific penalty from a short delay iy the recruinnant
campaign? The police and Deloitte & Touche, the independent recruitmert agene:y . assa:t tat losiag
even one morc week now (the advertising has already been delayed by onc week) nonid ose iwo

months down the tfrack. Why? The key considerations are:

officers cannot be selected and brought in in batches because of the “mat . prol”
arrangement which is needed to regulate the 50/50 recruitment wrocess, th: whale process

has to be completed before any of the 240 or so successful cardidites are 1ceepsic,

the assessment centre process needs to be pretty well completed cy the el of une to 2void
disruption (both for interviewers and candidates) over both the asliclay an’ :h2 =enk o f the

marching scason;

there are seven stages to the recruitment process which, for equality yrociipg reasses., nas 10

be highly structured and formalised. There is no scope for shuit cut;

the police themselves and an outside consortium led by Delote & Touchs re = enagid 1 the
recruitment process on the basis recommended by Patten, not the NI 1. are not &% atit e
to Ministerial instructions to concertina any of the stages (even if equalcy procticg dic. not

preciude this anyway),

CONFIDENTIAL
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— this is alrcady 4 risky and complex and ambitious process. It usad ty take the FUC 12
months to recruit an officer from scratch. In line with Patten, the coifzas iy, l1.ey &

months.
Conclusion

7. Atthe end of the day there is no scientific means of demonstrating that iere isan absolviely
irreducible minimum below which police manpower numbers must not fall at any poit. But th: Cried”
Constable — who has demonstrated a remarkable flexibility on many other po nts - ae. movw, puk licly
given his professional judgement that he can wait no longer. The high level of secizrian sitacls, the
continued RIRA campaign and the shadow of Drumecree vividly illustrate the pressures he (aees,

The present timetable is already extremely tight and, even now, the 240 rceru »s du 1o ar e

September will not have completed their training before February/Marck 2002 Slippage nzve would

mean that they would not start operational duty beforc May 2002. Ever: assutaing 1¢ sicreas: i

present threat levels, to wait longer would be unacceptably risky.
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PRIME MINISTER

NORTHERN IRELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL ELECTIONS

I have seen John Reid’s letters to you concerning the date of the District Council
Elections in Northern Ireland. If you wish to have the option of changing the
date, there are two options for legislation. Either a short bill now followed by
regulations later, or a longer bill rushed through should you decide to call a
General Election. The business management case is finely balanced, but I prefer
the latter option. Full co-operation from the other parties would be essential for

either.

As John’s letter makes clear, there are two options for legislation should you want the
option of changing the council election date. We could introduce a very short bill
now, allowing general and council election polls to be combined, and then bring in
regulations to change the date of the council poll if needed once you had announced a
General Election date. Alternatively we could wait, and then rush through a bill
making all the arrangements if you did decide to call a General Election for May.

Either option would need the complete support of the other parties — Denis is clear
that without this neither Bill would have a chance of reaching the statute book.
Experience on Patten and Disqualifications last year shows we cannot necessarily rely
on the Tories living up to any promises. Also, either option would mean having to
rush something (either major regulations or a full bill) through if you decide to call an
early election. The Opposition would use this as a bargaining chip to win concessions
on the rest of the programme. We cannot tell at this stage what those might be.

My preference would be for delaying any legislation. That way we would retain
flexibility for as long as possible and aveid (unless absolutely necessary) committing
Parliamentary time that we need to deliver on other priorities like the big crime and
health bills. Of course the Opposition might extract a higher price for rushing through
a whole bill rather than regulations, although if you had already called an election it
would be hard for them to resist. And we could use the time saved by not doing a Bill
earlier to get other legislation in a better state for fast passage at the end of the session
if it were cut short.

I am copying this to John Reid, Jack Straw, the other Business Managers and Sir

Richard Wilson.
\-? MM

MB

|s /o2 /&%

CONFIDENTIAL




CONFIDENTIAL - PERSONAL : #

10 DOWNING STREET
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From the Prime Minister's Chief of Staff | 15 February 2001

b

Dermot Gallagher called me last night. He told me the meeting in
Dundalk had been very difficult. Sinn Fein had tabled the attached paper. They
had simply restated all their original positions. The Irish had refused to be drawn
into the discussion of the detail. They had simply gone.round and round on the
question of whether Sinn Fein could do the deal now.

NORTHERN IRELAND: SINN FEIN

He feared that Sinn Fein’s intention was to play for time. They said that
PIRA had lost their engineers and a section of good people in Derry and could
not afford to lose more. It was just too hard a deal to sell. By the end of the
meeting the Irish had been more encouraged, and Dermot called me again this
morning to say that they thought the briefing of the Irish Times was significant in
that it listed all the things we had already agreed to on policing as the demands
Sinn Fein needed to be met before they could sign up.

The Prime Minister will see Adams this afternoon to see if he can force
the issue with the aim of talks on Tuesday in Belfast. The Taoiseach apparently
has to be in Rome on Wednesday morning for the swearing in of the new Irish

Cardinal.
\Um S W

JONATHAN POWELL

Paul Priestly
NIO
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Disparpte Issues for Resolution

All of the issues which follow are to be addressed by the 2 Governments in public
statements. That is a joint statement by the 2 Governments and a British
Government statement on policing.

Subject

Positions/Proposals

Policing:

A number of issues are involved beyond
those addressed in the IG paper faxed 10 SF
on Tues. 13/2/01. Sinn Féin has raised
these issues with both Governments in both
written form and verbally, for resolution by
way of legislative amendment and/or other
non-legislative means. The right hand
column contains issues not addressed in the
1G’s 13/2/01 fax.

e Agreement needs to include agreed
- Water-tight guarantees
And
- Timeframes for implementation.

Reprentativeness: Quantify this in years
1, 2 and 3 and how it will be achieved
including through IN/OUT of full time
officers, Full Time Reserve, Part Time
Reserve and lateral entry. And, in
addition, the effect of the latter - lateral
entry — on representativeness at senior
levels and what other measures will be
put in place to effect representativeness
at this level.

Independent members of the palicing
board.

Recruiting materials to artract
applications from republicans,
nationalists and catholics.

Covert law enforcement.
Identification of Police Officers.
Special Branch and support units.
Recruitment Arrangements.
Registration of interests.

RUC - GC Foundation.

RUC memorials.
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Subject Positions/Proposals

S.F. position.
The issue needs to be resolved in a
definitive timeframe.

B.G. proposed: (19" Jan. 2001)

The Gaovernment recognises the difficulty
in respect of those people against whom
there are outstanding prosecutions for
offences committed before 10 April 1998.
At present, they face the possibility of
extradition or prosecution even though the
offences if proven were committed before
the key date for the early release scheme
under the GFA. The Government is
committed to dealing with this difficulty as
soon as possible, so that those who, if they
were convicted, would be eligible under the
early release scheme, are no longer
pursued.

This proposal is deficient in respect of a
defined timeframe.
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Subject

Positions/Proposals

Demilitarisation

S.F. position: 14™ Dec. 2000

A phased, timetabled programme of
demilitarisation of society is required.
Commencing with the substantive
demilitarisation of South Armagh and the
removal of the British Military installations
on Divis Tower and Springfield Road,
Girdwood in Belfast and at Fort George
and Rosemount in Derry City.
(Commitments given in May including Fort
George in Derry have not been kept.) The -
programme should set out the timetabled
steps which would see the programme
completed by June 2001,

Demilitarisation Measures in South

Armagh
Phased implementation, commencing 1 Jan

2001 and to be completed by 30 June 2001,
of the following, and in this order of
prioritisation:

1. Immediate closure of Crossmaglen base
and the return of private property at
Crossmaglen base to the owners.

. Removal of spy-posts at: Crievekieran,
Drumuckaval, Glassdrummond,
Clohogue and Faughil Mountain.

Followed by:

1. Removal of spy posts at Camlough
Mountain, Sturgan Mountain and
Forkhill Mountain.

. Closure of Newtownhamiliton and
Forkhill Bases.

. Ending of foot-patrols and helicopter
flights. '
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Subject

Positions/Proposals

Demilitarisation

BG proposals 19 Jan 2001 and 26 Jan
2001:

The essence of the very lengthy British
Government commitment which follows
is; The demolition of Newtownhamilton

sanger, Magherafelt Army Base. one of

two observation towers opn Camlough
Mountain and the abservation tower on

Sturgan Mountain.

-| The only timeframe given is as soon as

logistically possible.

19/1/01: Further steps in normalisation will
be taken:

- Demolition of the supersanger at
Newtownhamiliton police station
adjacent to helicopter landing site.

- Demolition of tower on Strurgen
Mountain.

The British Government repeats the
assurance on normalistation given on $
May. It is our intention to continue with
this process until complete normalistation
is restored in Northern Ireland. But it can
only be on the basis of a continuing
implementation of the Good Friday
Agreement and the assessment of threat
and danger to the community and people in
Northern Ireland. Provided this threat is
reduced, we will carry out a progressive
rolling programme reducing levels of
troops and installations in Northern Ireland.
Ultimately, the “normal” state of Northem
Ireland would mean the following:

The following locations would have been
vacated, returned or demolished:
(a) Army Bases, The Army would move
out of the following bases:
- Bessbrook
- Dungannon
- Rathffiland
- Clogher
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Clooney Base

Ebrington Bks

Magherafelt

Grosvenor Bks

Coleraine (Laurel Hill House)
Girdwoed Park

Moscow Camp and Airport Jetty
Military Hospital

Malone Road

Steeple Bks

The evacuation of some of these locations,
such as Ebrington Barracks, for practical
reasons, may take some time to complete.

(b) Surveillance Towers. All surveillance
towers would be demolished and
vacated.

(c) Joint Military/Police Lacations. No

further army presence in police stations.
All helicopter use would be for training.

There would be a number of overseas
deployments and training opportunities,
which would reduce the size of the garrison
in situ at certain times.

Most training within Northem Ireland
would be focused in Magilligan and
Ballykinler Training Areas.

Draft Statement by the Chief Constable
26/1/01: :

The Chief Constable today announced that
he had conducted an assessment of the
averall security threat and had concluded,
in consultation with the GOC, that,
notwithstanding a significant ongoing
threat by the dissidents, today’s events
represent a real lowering of the overall
threat. This, he said, assuming that all the
commitments given today are honoured,
makes appropriate the following steps
which would be taken as soon as
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logistically possible:

- Demalition of the supersanger at
Newtownhamiliton Police Station
adjacent to the helicopter landing site;

- Demolition of Magherafelt army
base,

- Demolition of the observation tower
on Sturgan Mountain and one of the
observation towers on Camlough
Mountain.
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Subject

Positions/Proposals

Putting Arms Beyond Use (PABU)

(6 May 2000: The IRA’s position is carried
in a public statement of this date. This, as
their part of a negotiated deal with the BG
which the latter did not/has not delivered
on.)

SF’s position is 1o explore a ‘real world’
position/agreement on the PABU issue.
This of course is substantially and
adversely affected by the above.

BG propasal: 19/1/01

Steps To Putting Weapons Beyond Use
Statement by IRA announcing re-
engageroent with IICD for the purpose of
agreeing how weapaons will be put
completely and verifiably beyond use.
IICD report that re-engagement has taken
place and that these discussion are under
way.

[ICD announces that agreement reached on
how weapons to be put beyond use.

IICD report that weapons put beyond use in
the manner agreed with the IICD.

Private undertaking to the Prime Minister
on the timetable on which all three steps
will take place, with the first putting of
weapons beyond use by Easter.
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Subject Positions/Proposals
BG and Unionist Guarantees BG’s suspension legislation is in breach
of the GFA and International Treaty.

Assurances/Guarantees from D. Trimble
and BG about permanence of the political The ‘N.I. Act’ should be amended to
institutions, remove powers of veto afforded 1o the
First and Deputy First Minister in
respect of nominations to the NS/MC.

David Trimble to publicly commit
himself and the UUP to the permanence
of the institutions.
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Subject

Positions/Proposals

Implementation of outstanding IG and BG
commitments.

Representation and democratic
participation in the political life of the
nation by Irish citizens living in the 6
counties.

Castlerea Prisoners.
Passport Office Belfast.

Facilities at Westminster for SF MPs.

Flying of flags — the union flag — at
government buildings.

The basic inequality must be addressed.
Unionists can go to Westminster.
Nationalists should be enabled to go 1o
the Déil.

1G needs to make its position public
now and timeframe implementation.

Measures should include voting rights
in Presidential elections.
Release under the terms of the GFA.

Announce it and publicly timeframe.

BG committed to this but have not
delivered.

This should be reversed.
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Subject

Positions/Proposals

Implementation Group

BG Proposal: 19/1/01:

Implementation Group

Creation of an informal Implementation
Group; to comprise senior officials from
Irish Government and British Goverament.

Remit: ‘

To meet privately to ligise and exchange
information on an ongoing basis, and
monitor the implementation of
commitments made, including on policing,
security normalisation, OTRs and the issue
of arms.

To report progress and identify outstanding
commitments,

To agree, where possible, actions and
remedies 10 meet outstanding commitments
and report differences to Ministers.

To meet fortnightly and more regularly as
required.

To report to the British Prime Minister and
An Taoiseach, not later than 72 hours after
each meeting.

Representatives of Sinn Féin to be involved
in meetings.

A dedicated representative from the two
Governments and Sinn Féin to liaise and
exchange information on an ongoing basis,
between meetings.
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From the Private Secretary 15 February 2001

TELEPHONE CONVERSATION WITH TAOISEACH

The Prime Minister spoke by telephone to the Taoiseach this evening to
debrief him on this afternoon’s meeting with Adams and McGuinness.

The Prime Minister said he had had a frustrating and unproductive session.
Adams and McGuinness were miles away from a reasonable position on policing.
Some of their demands were ridiculous and went well beyond Patten. Their main
argument - that they could not realistically present this as a satisfactory basis for
Catholic recruitment - did not stand up. Adams and McGuinness had also said
point blank that there was no way they could put weapons beyond use before
Easter and anything they could do would be dependent on additional steps on
demilitarisation.

The Prime Minister’s impression was that Adams and McGuinness had
been pulled back by people on their side. They were just not up for what was
required of them. It may be that the IRA had said a definitive no to putting
weapons beyond use within the required timescale and policing had been used as
a breaking exercise.

The situation was now very dangerous. Trimble would be under huge
pressure to bring things down. Even then, he would probably lose significant
ground in the elections if there was no progress on decommissioning and
policing. We could anyway not afford simply to park the policing issue. The
police would be unable to function properly amidst so much uncertainty and with
so many staff leaving. Things would move backwards.

The best approach was to try and move forward on policing with the SDLP
on the basis of what was on the table. We appreciated it was not a happy
situation for the nationalist community to be divided on policing. But it was time
Sinn Fein felt some pressure. If Sinn Fein thought the SDLP might scoop up the

CONFIDENTIAL - PERSONAL




CONFIDENTIAL - PERSONAL

-3

political credit for all the recent movement on policing, and that the Irish
Government and Catholic Church would be supportive of the SDLP, they would
be under real pressure to reengage (at least on the
decommissioning/demilitarisation aspects). SDLP participation now might also
ease the way for Sinn Fein engagement at a later date.

The Taoiseach echoed the Prime Minister’s frustration. The British
Government had moved “a hundred miles” on policing. He acknowledged that if
Sinn Fein were not prepared to move we would need to try another tactic. We
should assess the situation and consider how to take things forward with the
SDLP. He had had a good meeting with the SDLP on Tuesday but still doubted
they would be ready to move on policing without Sinn Fein. But they would be
tempted by the prize of taking credit for all the movement on policing (some of
which exceeded their own demands). The Taoiseach said he would take stock,
think about how to approach the SDLP and then get back to us.

Comment

The Taoiseach was clearly pretty fed up with Sinn Fein and he
acknowledged that we could not reasonably have moved any further. He did not
dissent from the Prime Minister’s strategy for putting pressure on Sinn Fein. We
shall see if this toughness survives subsequent meetings with his officials.

\/

Twvnary L~

MICHAEL TATHAM

Paul Priestly
NIO
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Sean O hUiginn/DFA have pulled off something of a coup in
getting agreement now for Brian Cowen to meet Colin Powell and Condy Rice (see the
attached /rish Independent story; it is correct; I have confirmed it) right after TB stays
with George W.

1t is important that DT see Powell or Rice or both or a drop-by
Powell or some such combination this week (or before he leaves on Monday).

I am worried that the lobby (O’Dowd/Mackey et al) will use the
current State Department offer of Asst. Sec. for Europe as a snub.

1 have told David Campbell, and DT, separately, just afew minutes
ago, NOT to tumn down their current meeting with the Asst. Sec. or be churlish with the
Yanks, but to work instcad on a higher-level encounter (preferably the one I am
suggesting) using your good offices and Chris Meyer. DT will try and call you from the
plane en route, he says.

The trouble with the rank below Powell is that it hasn’t been
officially filled yet, nor Under Sec confirmed, as far as I know.

Anyway, we don’t want the lobby here crowing about any kind of
“snub.” I am concerned too that the Irish and the lobby will use the inclusion of Rice as
an indication that NI is still a high priority at the new NSC, even if this Cowen-Powell-
Rice meeting is also Security Council related, because of Ireland’s membership.

Best regards,

Hki2)

P.S. 1 hope the alarming reports I am reading about fiddling with the police deal are
wrong; the pressure should be, rightly, on SF to live up to their May and earlier
obligations and robustly reengage with de Chastelain and start decomm.; DT’s credibility
with the party and also his ¢lectorate is stretched to breaking point
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Cowen in surprise meeting with US officials

FOREIGN Minister Brian Cowen is to meet with US
Secretary of State, Colin Powell, and other members of
the Bush administration in a surprise visit to Washington.

Mr Cowen will meet the high-ranking US officials just one
day after British Prime Minister Tony Blair finishes his
Washington visit at the end of this month, it was learned
last night,

In the build-up to St Patrick's Day, President Bush's team
will have its initial exposure to the Northem peace
process's competing factions.

Mr Blair arrives in Washington for an overnight visit with
President Bush at the presidential retreat Camp David on
February 23.

Mr Cowen will arrive for meetings with Colin Powell and
National Security Council advisor, Dr Condoleeza Rice,
starting on February 26. And as St Patrick's Day
approaches, plans are still unconfirmed for the activities
of the Irish delegation, which are expected to be much
scaled-down compared to the days of the Clinton
administration.

The traditional bow! of shamrock will be handed over by
Taoiseach Bertie Ahemn to President Bush on the Friday
before March 17, but it is unlikely to be an all-day event
at the White House.

Sinn Fein leader Gerry Adams will attend the annual
Speaker's Luncheon on March 15, along with the
Taoiseach. A spokesman in the office of Speaker of the
House, Dennis Haster, said there was no confirmation
yet whether President Bush would attend. "We're hoping
he comes," the spokesman said.
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The first of the visits begins this week with the arrival of  (Bmxaxina mrcarve @
UUP leader and head of the Northern Ireland Assembly, . Ruaby : Buccaneers
David Trimble, in Washington to make his case for coach Rigney quits 15:04

continued sanctions against Sinn Fein. » Soccar; Cunningham

back in squad to face
: : i Dgnmark 14:51

At a speech at the National Press Clyb and in meetings Soccer ; Tugay in trouble

on Capitol Hill, Trimble will explain his decision to re- after Old Firm Derby

impose the ban on Sinn Fein ministers attending 12:00

sessions of the ministerial council. Last Saturday Trimble Soccer  Trapefar

was rewarded with the UUP executive's support despite gﬁ;&%@%@m-m

ajudge's decision the ban was illegal. » Rugby : Higkie and

Q'Drigeoll Vace.hgl rd work,

The UUP leader, who in years past regularly made a stop mf:“m e

at the National Security Council's offices in the West > Moe>>

Wing, will meet with State Department officials this time

around.

The centerpiece of his visit will be his participation in the
New Atlantic Alliance (a conservative Republican think-
tank) panel discussion tomorrow.

With the Republicans in control of the presidency, the
House and the Senate, those with conservative leanings,
such as Mr Trimble, will be approached more warmly
than during the Clinton era.

Susan Garraty in Washington
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14" February 2001

Mr Tom McKane
Cabinet Office
70 Whitehall
London SW.

ANNOUNCEMENT IN NORTHERN IRELAND

| attach the final version of the statement, which we have now issued (at 1230).
Thales Air Systems resisted my plea to be more explicit about job numbers on the
grounds that not all the jobs will be filled by local recruits.
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VT1 manufacturce awarded to Thales Air Defence

Thales Air Defence Limited (formerly Shorts Missile Systems Limited)
today announced that it has won a multi-million pound contract for the
production of the VT1 missile. VTI is the high performance missile
integrated into the Crotale Short Range Air Defence system manufactured
by Thales - the new name for Thomson-CSF.

VTI is one of the fastest missiles in its class with a speed in excess of
mach 3.5 and a range of 11 kilometres, and is currently in service in
several countries around the world (including France, and Finland).
Originally designed and manufactured in the USA, this new contract will
cover development and production of a new batch of missiles. Work for
this contract will be carried out in Thales Air Defence facilities in both
Belfast and South Down.

Speaking from the headquarters in Belfast, Terry Stone, Chief Executive
Officer of Thales Air Defence Limited said, “I am pleased to announce
this contract today. We have world class development and production
capabilities here in Northern Ireland and I am delighted that this has been
confirmed through the award of this contract by the Thalcs Group.”

Thales Air Defence Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Thales, is the
UK Prime Contractor for Very Short Range Air Defence systems and
within the Thales group, is the centre of excellence for missile design,
development and production. Operating from the headquarters in Belfast,
with some 550 personnel, Thales Air Defence Limited activities are broad
ranging and serve to meet the requirements of customers seeking Design,
Manufacture, Assembly, test and support of complete products or
components.

For further information contact:
Denise Clarke

Marketing and PR Manager
Thales Air Defence Limited

Tel: +44 (0) 28 9046 5548
Fax: +44 (0) 28 9046 5791
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Prime Minister

TACTICS FOR TODAY

I have a feeling that how you react to whatever Gerry Adams comes back with later

today will prove to be an important decision.

2 If Adams says that, subject to some minor points, he can run with the deal,
the decision is straightforward. But he is more likely to say either that the gap is
still too wide and it would be a mistake to come to Belfast; or that his personal

judgement is that what we’ve offered isn’t enough, but it’s your call.

3. You will obviously want to take Bertie’s mind, and the chances are that, if
Adams is counselling against going to Belfast, Bertie will be reluctant to do so. But
my own view is that there is something to be said for bringing things to a head now.
Either Sinn Féin are in the market for a big deal or they aren’t. If they aren’t, they
will be playing things long in the hope that Trimble will make the first move and
they will have an excuse for doing nothing. Trimble has so far been restrained, but
that can’t last indefinitely. If they are up fo~ a big deal, they will carry on haggling
until they think they’ve reached our bottom line. You have said that you’re already
below your bottom line, but they won’t believe that until we call a halt to the private

discussions.

4. I also think that, if we don’t call a halt to the private discussions, we will be
implying that there is more to be had and will lose credibility. And if we don’t bring
Trimble into the picture soon, we run the risk of reaching an unbalanced deal

which he can’t live with.
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It follows that:

unless Bertie is unwilling, or Adams is so discouraging that he is in
effect promising failure, my advice would be to travel to Belfast later

today;

if Adams is promising failure, you should turn the argument away from
policing and back to weapons. Is he really saying that the IRA won’t
even re-engage with de Chastelain unless we meet every last demand

on policing? That would be a hard position to defend publicly;

I would resist sending Jonathan and Bill over for another round of

private discussions.
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